

Immune responses following vaccination of pigs and mice against *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*

Silvana Beutinger Marchioro

Thesis to obtain the academic degree of Doctor in Veterinary Sciences (PhD) Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Ghent University

> Promoters: Prof. dr. D. Maes Prof. dr. F. Haesebrouck Prof. dr. O. Dellagostin

Ghent University Faculty of Veterinary Medicine Department of Pathology, Bacteriology and Avian Diseases Federal University of Pelotas Technology Development Center

Ghent, 2013





The cover photo was designed by Diane Denys. All rights reserved.

This thesis was printed thanks to the kind support of Zoetis.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	5
GENERAL INTRODUCTION	7
1.1 Review of the Literature	9
1.1.1 Aetiology	
1.1.2 Pathogenesis	
1.1.3 Immune response	
1.1.4 Lesions	
1.1.5 Control measures	
1.1.6 Vaccines	
AIMS OF THE STUDY	51
EXPERIMENTAL STUDIES	
3.1 Local and systemic immune responses in pigs intramuscularly injection inactivated <i>Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae</i> vaccine	cted with an 57
3.2 Immune response induced by a recombinant chimeric protein cont Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae antigens fused to the B subunit of Escher labile enterotoxin LTB	aining richia coli heat 77
3.3 Production and characterization of recombinant transmembrane p <i>Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae</i>	proteins from 95
GENERAL DISCUSSION	
SUMMARY	
SAMENVATTING	
CURRICULUM VITAE	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

List of abbreviations

ANOVA	Analysis of variance
BAL	Bronchoalveolar lavage
BLN	Bronchial lymph nodes
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
СТ	Cholera toxin
DAB	3,3' Diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride
DPI	Days post inoculation
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EP	Enzootic pneumonia
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ELIspot	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot
GM1	Monosialotetrahexosylganglioside
H_2SO_4	Sulphuric acid
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
ICE	Integrative conjugal element
IF	Immunofluorescence
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IFN-y	Interferon gamma
IL	Interleukin
IM	Intramuscular
IN	Intranasal
IPTG	Isopropyl β-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside
kDa	kiloDalton
LB	Luria-Bertani
LTB	Subunit B of heat-labile enterotoxin of Escherichia coli
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
NrdF	Ribunocleotide reductase

OD	Optical density
ORF	Open reading frame
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PBMCs	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PI	Pre inoculation
PMSF	Phenylmethanesulfonylfluoride
PRDC	Porcine respiratory disease complex
PRSSV	Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus
qPCR	Quantitative PCR
rpm	Revolutions per minute
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute Medium
SEM	Standard error of means
S-IgA	Secretory IgA
SPF	Specific Pathogen Free
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
TGF	Transforming growth factor
Th	T helper cells
TLR	Toll-Like receptor
TMB	3,3',5,5'-Tetramethylbenzidine
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor

CHAPTER 1.

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 Review of the Literature

Respiratory diseases cause major problems for pig herds all over the world. Enzootic pneumonia (EP) is one of the most important respiratory diseases in pigs. It is highly prevalent and causes considerable economic losses for both pig producers and the entire industry. The losses are mainly due to decreased performance of the pigs and increased antimicrobial use (Maes et al., 2008).

Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae (M. hyopneumoniae) is the primary etiological agent of EP (Maes et al., 1999), and it is one of the main pathogens involved in the porcine respiratory disease complex (PRDC) (Thacker and Minion, 2010). Apart from infections with *M. hyopneumoniae*, PRDC results from infections with other bacterial (*Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae, Haemophilus parasuis, Pasteurella multocida, Streptococcus suis* and *Bordetella bronchiseptica*) and viral (porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus – PRRSV, porcine circovirus type 2, Aujeszky's disease virus, swine influenza virus – SIV and porcine respiratory coronavirus) pathogens. PRDC is clinically characterized by coughing, retarded growth rates, inefficient feed conversion, anorexia, fever and dyspnea (Thacker and Minion, 2010). Although animals of all ages are susceptible to *M. hyopneumoniae* infection, animals in the growing and finishing phase are mostly affected. However, in herds without immunity, clinical disease following *M. hyopneumoniae* infections can affect pigs from all age groups, including suckling pigs and breeding animals (Sibila et al., 2007).

Several methodologies are used to diagnose infections caused by *M. hyopneumoniae*. Clinical signs and pathological lesions are used for a presumptive diagnosis of EP, but further laboratory tests are required for a conclusive diagnosis. Although cultivation of *M. hyopneumoniae* is considered the gold standard for diagnosis, this method is not routinely used (Sibila et al., 2009). This is mainly because isolation of the pathogen in Friis medium is very difficult (Friis, 1975). In addition, the presence of other mycoplasma species may decrease the growth of *M. hyopneumoniae*, rendering their isolation even more difficult. Thus, failure to cultivate this organism from potentially infected animals cannot rule out the infection in the herd (Thacker, 2004). Immunofluorescence (IF) testing (Kobisch et al., 1978) is also frequently performed. Serologic tests are commonly used to monitor the health status of herds, but serology is not suited for diagnosis at the individual animal level (Sorensen et al., 1997). Currently, PCR testing is the most sensitive technique for detecting infections caused by *M. hyopneumoniae* (Calsamiglia et al., 1999).

The control of EP should focus on the optimization of management practices and housing conditions (Maes et al., 2008), the use of antimicrobial medication (Vicca et al., 2004) and vaccination. Several commercial vaccines, consisting of the inactivated adjuvanted whole cells of *M. hyopneumoniae* are available and worldwide used. These vaccines have been proven to be effective in reducing the clinical signs, but only partial protection against the development of lesions is obtained (Haesebrouck et al., 2004).

In this review, the characteristics of *M. hyopneumoniae* related to pathogenesis, immune response, lesions and control measures will be discussed. Furthermore, special emphasis will be placed on vaccination strategies, including the use of reverse vaccinology approaches.

1.1.1 Aetiology

Mycoplasmas belong to the Mollicutes class and differ phenotypically from other bacteria by their diminutive size and absence of cell wall (Razin et al., 1998). Despite fundamental differences between mycoplasmas and other bacteria, many aspects of mycoplasmal molecular biology are similar to those of gram-positive bacteria (Thacker and Minion, 2010). Mycoplasmas are the smallest free-living self-replicating microorganisms. They also have small genomes (580 -1350 kb) with a high A + T content (about 70%). The whole genome of four *M. hyopneumoniae* strains (J, 232, 7448 and 168) has been sequenced (Liu et al., 2011; Minion et al., 2004; Vasconcelos et al., 2005).

Because of their small genome, mycoplasmas undergo limited metabolism and have few biosynthetic pathways (Dybvig and Voelker, 1996). The lack of biosynthetic pathways implies that they need to obtain amino acids, purines and pyrimidines, and membrane components from their growth environment (Thacker and Minion, 2010). In addition, *in vitro* cultivation is quite fastidious, and most species have never been cultivated (Razin et al., 1998). *M. hyopneumoniae* can be cultivated *in vitro*, but it requires serum enriched media such as Friis medium (Friis, 1975). The cultivation and isolation of *M. hyopneumoniae* are laborious, time-consuming and often not successful, so isolation is not used for routine diagnosis. Moreover, there is frequent contamination with other mycoplasmas such as *M. hyorhinis* (present in the respiratory tract of pigs) and *M. flocculare* (a non-pathogenic species that has similarities with respect to morphology, growth and antigenicity of *M. hyopneumoniae*) (Thacker and Minion, 2010).

The fastidious nature of mycoplasmas and the lack of genetic systems to elucidate protein structures and functions have hampered understanding of their biology. In addition, studies suggest that mycoplasmas have complex systems of recombination that are able to create a high rate of antigenic diversity (Dybvig and Voelker, 1996). Indeed, *Mycoplasma* species have developed strategies to vary their surface topography to avoid detection and eradication by the host immune response (Browning et al., 2011). A previous study has indicated a complex transcriptional organization of the *M. hyopneumoniae* genome and suggested the likely existence of yet unknown mechanisms involved in transcriptional regulation (Siqueira et al., 2011). *M. hyopneumoniae* can produce adhesins, modulins, aggresins and impedins that allow adhesion and modulation of the host immune system (Asai et al., 1996; Henderson et al., 1996; Muneta et al., 2008). Besides this, studies revealed that surface antigens of *M. hyopneumoniae* are proteolytically processed upon translocation across

11

the membrane (Bogema et al., 2011; Burnett et al., 2006; Djordjevic et al., 2004; Wilton et al., 2009). The ability of *M. hyopneumoniae* to selectively cleave its secreted proteins provides this pathogen with a remarkable capacity to alter its surface architecture.

Molecular techniques demonstrated that *M. hyopneumoniae* shows a large diversity at genomic (Stakenborg et al., 2006; Strait et al., 2008) and proteomic level (Calus et al., 2007). Vicca et al. (2003) showed that there are also differences in virulence. These authors classified isolates as low, moderately and highly virulent, based on the outcome of experimental infections. Villarreal et al. (2011a) demonstrated that infection with low virulent *M. hyopneumoniae* isolates did not prevent infection and disease against a subsequent infection with a highly virulent isolate. However, further research is necessary to investigate the clinical importance of these differences between isolates.

1.1.2 Pathogenesis

M. hyopneumoniae is a host specific pathogen that only infects pigs. The pathogenesis and especially possible virulence factors of *M. hyopneumoniae* are not yet fully known.

M. hyopneumoniae may infect animals via the inhalation of muco-respiratory droplets expelled during bouts of coughing from *M. hyopneumoniae*-infected animals (Desrosiers, 2001). Upon inhalation, *M. hyopneumoniae* must overcome the mucociliary escalator and transverse layers of heavily glycosylated mucins. These are produced as decoys for bacterial adhesins that exploit surface glycoconjugates and extracellular matrix components during colonization. *M. hyopneumoniae* adheres to the ciliated respiratory epithelia where it initially causes ciliostasis, destruction of cilia and possibly epithelial cell death (Debey and Ross, 1994).

The ability to adhere tightly to respiratory cilia is a key strategy to overcome the mucociliary host defense (Figure 1) (Tajima and Yagihashi, 1982; Zhang et al., 1994).



Figure 1: Transmission electron microscopy images of lung tissue from a pig infected with *M. hyopneumoniae*. Mycoplasma organisms are seen in close association with cilia (Sarradell et al., 2003).

Adhesion of the organism to tracheal, bronchial and bronchialar epithelium, stimulation of a prolonged inflammatory reaction, suppression and modulation of the innate and adaptive immune responses are recognized as important steps in the pathogenesis of infections with this organism (Thacker and Minion, 2010). As a result, infected animals are more susceptible to infections with other respiratory pathogens (Sorensen et al., 1997).

The exact method of adherence of the organism to the cilia has not been fully elucidated. A number of proteins involved in adherence have been identified. *M. hyopneumoniae* multifunctional adhesins belonging to the P97/P102 families include Mhp182 (P102), Mhp183 (P97), Mhp 493 (P159), Mhp 494 (P216), Mhp 683 (P135), Mhp 271, Mhp 107 and Mhp 108 (P116). These adhesins are expressed during broth culture (Burnett et al., 2006; Djordjevic et al., 2004; Pinto et al., 2007a; Wilton et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 1995) and *in vivo* in experimentally infected pigs (Adams et al., 2005). Fragments of P97 (Zhang et al., 1995), P216 (Wilton et al., 2009), P102 (Seymour et al., 2012), Mhp271 (Deutscher et al., 2012), Mhp107 (Seymour et al., 2011) and Mhp683 (Bogema et al., 2011) have been shown to bind porcine cilia.

P97 is the first identified adhesin of *M. hyopneumoniae*. It recognizes receptors present on the cilia of respiratory epithelial cells and is considered a virulence factor (Zhang et al., 1995). The C-terminal portion of P97, identified as R1, is responsible for cilium binding. Eight R1 repeating units are required for this binding. Variation due to the addition or subtraction of repeated amino acids may result in alteration of the protein, which may interfere with the recognition by the immune system (Minion et al., 2000). However, other factors or additional proteins are also required for adherence (Hsu and Minion, 1998).

The P102 protein is part of the same operon as P97 and its expression also appears to be associated with binding of the pathogen to cilia. Studies also suggest its participation in virulence since it is expressed *in vivo* during infection (Adams et al., 2005). Apart from these findings, the role of P102 and its paralogs has not been previously elucidated. Seymour et al. (2010) examined the surface expression and proteolytic processing of the P102 paralog P116, an extensively processed protein in *M. hyopneumoniae* strain 232. The results suggest that this protein is a multifunctional virulence determinant involved in the *M. hyopneumoniae* disease process.

Indeed, P97/P102 paralog family members on the cell surface of *M. hyopneumoniae* are targets of endoproteolytic processing events that generate a substantial combinatorial repertoire of cleavage fragments (Bogema et al., 2011; Deutscher et al., 2012; Wilton et al., 2009), suggesting that these endoproteolytic fragments might influence how *M. hyopneumoniae* interacts with its host. Endoproteolytic processing is a well-known mechanism used by bacterial pathogens to convert immature pre-proteins into mature functioning molecules. However, in the *M. hyopneumoniae* P97/P102 adhesin families,

posttranslational cleavage is extensive and unorthodox. Most of the P97/P102 family members previously examined undergo at least one cleavage event and in some cases two or more cleavage events (Bogema et al., 2011; Burnett et al., 2006; Djordjevic et al., 2004; Pinto et al., 2007a; Pinto et al., 2009; Wilton et al., 2009). Recently, a protease has been identified in *M. hyopneumoniae* which is responsible for processing the P97 and P102 family of cilium adhesins. It recognizes a peptide motif with a sequence similar to TTKF \downarrow QE. This finding has facilitated the prediction of cleavage sites among members of these families (Bogema et al., 2011). However, the biological rationale for cleavage and the protease (s) responsible are not yet determined. Endoproteolytic processing significantly increases surface protein diversity by altering the presentation of functional domains on the cell surface and may be a mechanism used to regulate the adhesion to host tissues, potentiate host cell invasion, and avoid immune clearance (Bogema et al., 2012).

P102 and P97 are proteins with multifunctional binding abilities, which are also able to recruit plasminogen and fibronectin to the surface of *M. hyopneumoniae*. Binding of plasminogen and fibronectin to the surface of *M. hyopneumoniae* is dose dependent and saturable (Deutscher et al., 2012; Seymour et al., 2011; Seymour et al., 2012). Plasminogen is freely available in the bronchoalveolar fluid of the porcine lung, and *M. hyopneumoniae* displays surface receptors that bind plasminogen in a process that facilitates conversion to plasmin by mammalian plasminogen activators (Seymour et al., 2012). Consequently, *M. hyopneumoniae* colonizing the ciliated epithelia is likely to sequester plasminogen on its cell surface and facilitates its conversion to plasmin. This process is likely to have ramifications for tissue invasion and systemic infection (Bogema et al., 2012).

Although *M. hyopneumoniae* is primarily a respiratory pathogen, it has also been isolated from internal organs, suggesting that spread may occur via the lymphatic or blood circulation (Marois et al., 2007). The agent was re-isolated from the liver, spleen and kidneys of experimentally infected and contact pigs (Le Carrou et al., 2006; Marois et al., 2007) and *M. hyopneumoniae* DNA was detected in these same tissues (Woolley et al., 2012). However, this spread within the body appears to be transient and is likely not involved in the development of EP (Marois et al., 2007; Woolley et al., 2012).

It has been shown that *M. hyopneumoniae* has a modulating effect on the immune system, although the nature of this modulation is not well understood (Simecka, 2005). Alveolar macrophages and lymphocytes, stimulated by *M. hyopneumoniae*, produce pro-inflammatory cytokines that play a role in lung lesion development and lymphoid hyperplasia (Rodriguez et al., 2004). In general, mycoplasmas are capable of evading the host's natural

defenses. It is known that some pathogenic species use their genetic machinery to alter surface antigens, thus diverting the host immune response and allowing for chronic infection (Razin et al., 1998).

Data generated by sequencing and comparative analysis of three strains of *M*. *hyopneumoniae* allowed the identification of strain-specific regions that may be related to pathogenicity (Minion et al., 2004; Vasconcelos et al., 2005). The presence of an integrative conjugal element (ICE) was revealed in two strains that were pathogenic (7448 and 232) and is absent in the non-pathogenic J strain. This result suggests that the ICE, as a mobile DNA element, is probably involved in genetic recombination events, which can be related to the host adaptation and pathogenicity of the strain. Nevertheless, the transference of ICE between cells remains to be demonstrated experimentally (Pinto et al., 2007b).

1.1.3 Immune response

Immune responses in mycoplasma disease may be involved in pathogenesis. Although immunity is known to control and prevent infections, immune responses can also promote the inflammatory lesions associated with mycoplasma disease (Razin et al., 1998). The exact immune responses during infection of pigs with *M. hyopneumoniae* are not fully understood. Upon colonization of the respiratory epithelial cells with *M. hyopneumoniae*, there is an infiltration of mononuclear cells (macrophages and lymphocytes) in the perivascular, peribronchial and peribronchiolar areas and alveolar septa, as well as hyperplasia of the lymphoid follicles around the airways, resulting in a chronic and prolonged inflammatory response (Sarradell et al., 2003). Thus, the interactions between the host's immune system and the mycoplasma are complex and ultimately determine resistance to infection and severity of disease (Simecka, 2005).

Innate immune response

Shortly after infection, mycoplasmas interact with the cells of the innate immune system such as phagocytes, macrophages and polymorphonuclear (PMN) cells. These cells are attracted by the release of immunogenic proteins and mediators during mycoplasmal infection (Sarradell et al., 2003). Histological lesions in the acute stage of *M. hyopneumoniae* infection are characterized by loss of respiratory cilia, exfoliation of ciliated cells, and accumulation of neutrophils and macrophages in and around airways. In the chronic stages, there is lymphoid hyperplasia or cuffing and thickening of the inter-alveolar septa (Goodwin, 1965).

The presence of inflammatory cytokines, the products of activated macrophages, suggests that mononuclear phagocytes, possibly alveolar macrophages, have an important role in the initiation of an inflammatory response. This can be histologically visible as soon as 7 days after infection (Choi et al., 2006). *M. hyopneumoniae* can directly stimulate macrophages to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines or other factors that have potential to modulate phagocytic activity. Even though macrophages are a first line of defense in the innate immune system, they become less effective upon *M. hyopneumoniae* infection (Thacker and Minion, 2010). For example, alveolar macrophages collected from pigs infected with *M. hyopneumoniae* had significantly lower phagocytic capacity than macrophages from uninfected animals (Caruso and Ross, 1990). This decreased phagocytic capacity is likely

important in the reduced clearance of *M. hyopneumoniae* as well as other secondary bacterial pathogens (Thacker and Minion, 2010).

Cytokines are vital components of both humoral and cell-mediated immune responses, and they exert their biological effects by binding to specific receptors on target cell membranes. Based on their properties, some cytokines can be generally classified as proinflammatory cytokines (represented by IL-1, IL-6, interferon gamma (IFN- γ) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α)) or as anti-inflammatory cytokines (represented by IL-10 and transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β)). They are very important mediators in both lung defense and inflammation, but their overall positive or negative effect on the host tissue can be difficult to predict because of the complexity of both cellular and tissue environments (Yang et al., 2004).

The production of proinflammatory cytokines has been shown to be associated with the development of *M. hyopneumoniae* induced pneumonia. Increased levels of IL-1, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, IL-12, IL-18, IFN- γ and TNF- α have been reported in *M. hyopneumoniae*-infected pigs (Asai et al., 1993; Asai et al., 1994; Choi et al., 2006; Lorenzo et al., 2006; Muneta et al., 2006; Redondo et al., 2009; Rodriguez et al., 2007; Rodriguez et al., 2004; Thacker et al., 2000a; Thanawongnuwech et al., 2004). Indeed, it is increasingly recognized that for many bacteria, induction of cytokines is a major virulence mechanism (Henderson et al., 1996). However, some mycoplasmas colonize the respiratory tract with no apparent clinical symptoms due to their capacity to downregulate NF κ B or to induce anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10, IL-13, or TGF- β . This illustrates the complex network of synergistic and antagonistic influences induced by mycoplasmas on cells of the immune system (Rottem, 2003). Indeed, IL-10 levels are increased in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid 28 days after inoculation with *M. hyopneumoniae* (Thanawongnuwech and Thacker, 2003).

In addition, different *M. hyopneumoniae* strains may vary in their effect on the pig's immune system, resulting in variations in the inflammatory cell responses in the lungs. Meyns et al. (2007) showed that more leukocytes were found in the lung tissue and more IL-1 β and TNF- α were detected in BAL fluid after infection with a highly virulent (HV) strain compared to infection with a low virulent (LV) strain. It is possible that different strains of *M. hyopneumoniae* induce the production of cytokines to a different extent. The resulting inflammatory response will be determined by the intricate cross-talk of all cytokines involved, and this may lead to a different outcome for different strains (Razin et al., 1998).

Mycoplasma can stimulate different cell types through the interaction with toll-like receptors (TLR), which recognize pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). This

recognition leads to the activation or modulation of subsequent immune and inflammatory responses. The exact mechanisms are not fully understood, but porcine TLR2 and TLR6 will recognize lipoproteins from the mycoplasma and stimulate cells. There are indications that blocking TLR2 and TLR6, the overproduction of proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , may be regulated. In addition, that the vaccination may reduce the expression of TLR6 contributing to the prevention of mycoplasmal pneumonia in swine (Muneta et al., 2003; Regia Silva et al., 2011).

Adaptive immune response

T cells can be regarded as the key players of the adaptive immune system, serving as a link between the innate and adaptive immune system. Specific protective defense mechanisms consist of stimulation of cell-mediated immunity, opsonisation and phagocytosis of organisms and production of systemic as well as local anti-mycoplasmal antibodies. Antigen presenting cells (macrophages, dendritic cells, B cells) pick up the pathogens and subsequently process and present them to be recognized by pathogen-specific T cells. Once activated, T cells influence all arms of immunity. They are in charge of inducing and maintaining acquired immunity and generating memory lymphocyte populations (Jones and Simecka, 2003).

The role of the cell mediated immunity in animals with mycoplasmal pneumonia is ambiguous. Suppression of the T-cell response achieved by thymectomy or injection of antithymocyte serum before infection resulted in the development of less severe microscopic lesions of pneumonia compared to immunocompetent infected pigs. However, *M. hyopneumoniae* could spread systemically as it was re-isolated from the spleen of a thymectomized pig (Tajima et al., 1984). These results suggest that a T-cell-dependent mechanism may be important in the development of pneumoniae but it is also important in preventing the invasion and systemic spread of *M. hyopneumoniae* (Thacker and Minion, 2010). Alterations to the cellular immune response clearly play an important role in the induction of the disease and the ability of the organism to persist in infected pigs.

M. hyopneumoniae is able to persist for a long time within infected pigs, possibly by suppressing the efficacy of the immune response or by evading it. During the progression of the disease, *M. hyopneumoniae*-specific and non-specific IFN- γ and IL-10 cytokine responses become inhibited (Muneta et al., 2008). Inhibition of IFN- γ production may enhance secondary viral infections such as PRRSV and swine influenza virus (Thacker et al., 1999; Yazawa et al., 2004). Inhibition of IL-10 may lead to over activation of macrophages and tissue damage because of its important anti-macrophage activity (Muneta et al., 2008).

Indeed, induction of IL-10 secretion by vaccination resulted in a lower influx of macrophages in the bronchoalveolar lymphoid tissue in vaccinated pigs compared to non-vaccinated animals, after experimental infection with *M. hyopneumoniae* (Vranckx et al., 2012).

Helper T cells (Th) are an important component in the response to mycoplasma respiratory disease and are the most numerous subset in the lymphoid infiltration. Although less numerous, cytotoxic T-cells are also observed in lung lesions caused by *M. hyopneumoniae* (Sarradell et al., 2003). Th-1 cells are responsible for activating and increasing phagocytic and cytotoxic activities of macrophages (Asai et al., 1994; Messier et al., 1990). Therefore, the presence of T-cells and overproduction of certain cytokines such as IL-1 and IFN- γ exacerbate the host mediated tissue damage.

Specific lung sections of pigs inoculated with *M. hyopneumoniae* revealed that cells producing IgM, IgA and IgG were present (Messier et al., 1990). In addition, particular increase in the level of IgG and IgA is found in tracheobronchial secretions, lungs and serum of naturally or experimentally infected pigs (Messier et al., 1990; Redondo et al., 2009; Rodriguez et al., 2004; Suter et al., 1985). IgG participates in opsonization and phagocytosis by alveolar macrophages, whereas IgA seems important in local immunity (Sarradell et al., 2003).

The induction of an immune response by *M. hyopneumoniae* is slow, with seroconversion taking at least 3-6 weeks to develop in experimentally infected pigs (Thacker et al., 2000b). No direct correlation has been found between the induction of serum antibodies and protection against *M. hyopneumoniae* (Djordjevic et al., 1997).

It is suggested that an effective immunity against *M. hyopneumoniae* requires humoral and cell-mediated immune responses (Haesebrouck et al., 2004; Thacker et al., 2000a). Both immune responses are driven by activation of CD4+ Th cells. Differentiation of naive CD4+ Th cells into Th1 and Th2 cells determines whether humoral or cell-mediated immunity will be predominant (Stevens et al., 1988). CD4+ Th1 cells are involved in the cell-mediated immune response and activate B cells to produce opsonizing antibodies, such as IgG2a, whereas CD4+ Th2 cells favour humoral immunity and secretion of IgG1 and IgA (Okamba et al., 2007).

Mucosal Immunity

Mucosal surfaces cover the largest surface area in the body and almost 80% of total immune cells in the body are localized in the mucosa-associated lymphoid tissues (MALT) and at mucosal sites. Nasopharyngeal MALT contains the entire repertoire of immune cells

which are strategically located to orchestrate regional immune functions against airborne infections (Mann et al., 2009).

Mucosal immunity is central to immune homeostasis and protection against the vast majority of pathogens that invade via mucosal surfaces. The particular hallmark of mucosal immunity remains the production and presence at the luminal mucosal surfaces of secretory IgA (S-IgA). The production of S-IgA consists of IgA class switching of activated B cells in the germinal centres of mucosal tissues and lymph nodes, and their dissemination via efferent lymphatics through the blood stream to mucosal tissues (Meeusen, 2011). In general, S-IgA has multiple roles in mucosal defense (Lamm, 1997). It promotes the entrapment of antigens or microorganisms in the mucus, preventing direct contact of pathogens with the mucosal surface, a mechanism that is known as 'immune exclusion'. Alternatively, S-IgA of the appropriate specificity might block or sterically hinder the microbial surface molecules that mediate epithelial attachment (Hutchings et al., 2004).

The role of local IgA in *M. hyopneumoniae* infection is not totally clear, but some studies found that IgA responses are, next to cell-mediated immunity, important for protection (Sarradell et al., 2003; Thacker et al., 2000a). *M. hyopneumoniae* is primarily found on the mucosal surface of the trachea, bronchi, and bronchioles (Blanchard et al, 1992), and the primary defense of this tissue is the mucosal immune system by the production of S-IgA, which prevents the interaction of the pathogens with receptors on the mucosal cell surface. A study investigating the effect of vaccination found that vaccination induced secretion of *M. hyopneumoniae*-specific antibodies into BAL fluid, suggesting that these antibodies may be important in the prevention or resolution of mycoplasmal pneumonia (Thacker et al., 2000b). Because BAL fluid is in close contact with *M. hyopneumoniae* organisms attached to the cilia of the respiratory tract, antibodies in this compartment may be an important mechanism of defense against clinical disease (Thacker et al., 2000a).

However, systemic immunisation with the currently available vaccines is not able to generate a full protective immunity (Meyns et al., 2006; Villarreal et al., 2011b). This partial protection could be due to parenteral administration of bacterins. It has been demonstrated that systemic stimulation of the immune system mainly results in systemic protection with low mucosal immune responses. Conversely, optimal stimulation of the mucosal immune system generates both mucosal and systemic immunity (Czerkinsky et al., 1999). The ideal vaccine would be mucosally administered and able to stimulate a suitable mucosal immunity, including specific Th response and IgA, which can prevent the adherence of pathogens to mucosal cell surfaces (Neutra and Kozlowski, 2006).

1.1.4 Lesions

Gross lung lesions following *M. hyopneumoniae* infections consist of purple to grey consolidated areas that are mainly located in the apical and cardiac lobes and the cranial parts of diaphragmatic lobes (Thacker and Minion, 2010) (Figure 2). Lesions appear from 7 days after experimental infection onwards and reach a maximal size at about 4 weeks after infection (Kobisch et al., 1993). The affected lung parts are characterized by a meaty aspect, while a catarrhal exudate is often present in the airways. The bronchial and mediastinal lymph nodes are usually enlarged (Goodwin, 1965).



Figure 2: Lung of a *M. hyopneumoniae* infected pig.

Under field conditions, the clinical symptoms and lesions are often complicated by infections with other respiratory pathogens (Sibila et al., 2009). A larger portion of the lung may be affected, lesions can be more firm and heavy, and mucopurulent exudate can be expressed from the airways (Thacker and Minion, 2010). A correlation between the onset of clinical symptoms (coughing) and pneumonic lesions has been described (Kobisch et al., 1993). In the latter study, macroscopic lesions and coughing were seen 1 and 2 weeks post infection, respectively. Seven to nine weeks after infection, lesions were recovering and the coughing disappeared.

Although gross lesions are suggestive of EP, they are not pathognomonic for M. *hyopneumoniae*, as other organisms may produce similar lesions. In the presence of other respiratory pathogens, the lesions become more diffuse and they are sometimes difficult to

differentiate from those induced by other pathogens like swine influenza virus or the combination of *Pasteurella multocida* and Aujeszky's disease virus (Done, 1991; Fuentes and Pijoan, 1987). The lung consolidation areas regress by 2 to 4 months post-infection (Sorensen et al., 1997), but the organism can remain present in the lungs at least 6 months after infection (Fano et al., 2005).

Microscopically, pulmonary tissue modifications observed in pigs in the acute phase of infection consist of hyperplasia of the epithelial cells and an increased perivascular and peribronchiolar accumulation of mononuclear cells (Kobisch and Friis, 1996). In the early stages of the disease, there is a loss and exfoliation of cilia, and there are small accumulations of neutrophils in the lumina around the airways. Electron microscopy studies showed loss of cilia at 6-11 weeks post-infection (Blanchard et al., 1992) and the presence of mycoplasmas and leukocytes in affected tissue surface (Irigoyen et al., 1998). Lymphocytes and to a lesser extent also macrophages form cuffs around the airways. In more chronic lesions, lymphocytic cuffs are more prominent and may contain lymphoid nodules (Thacker and Minion, 2010). Lymphoid hyperplasia itself may be related to clinical signs, because pressure from aggregates of lymphoid tissue may obliterate the lumen of the soft-walled bronchioles and cause collapse of surrounding alveoli ("cuffing" pneumonia) (Baskerville, 1972).

1.1.5 Control measures

M. hyopneumoniae infections can be controlled by combining several factors such as the optimization of management practices, biosecurity measures and housing conditions, and the use of antibiotics and vaccination (Maes et al., 2008). The improvement of management practices is paramount to controlling the disease, and this is the first measure that should be taken once *M. hyopneumoniae* has been detected.

Antimicrobials such as tetracyclines and macrolides are often used to treat respiratory diseases such as EP (Vicca et al., 2004). Due to the localisation of the organism on the surface of the respiratory tract, only antimicrobials that are able to reach high concentrations in the mucus and the fluids of the respiratory tract are expected to be effective *in vivo*. Pigs treated with effective antibiotics have less clinical signs and lung lesions, and a lower number of secondary infections (Ciprian et al., 2012; Vicca et al., 2005). Despite the success of medication programmes in the control of *M. hyopneumoniae* infections, often only partial protection is achieved. The results may be inconsistent since outbreaks are possible when treatment is stopped (Thacker and Minion, 2010). Also, preventive or strategic medication of pigs with antimicrobials should be minimized as much as possible to avoid development of antimicrobial resistance.

Vaccination with inactivated, adjuvanted whole-cell bacterins (alone or in combination with antibiotics) is frequently used worldwide to control *M. hyopneumoniae* infections (Haesebrouck et al., 2004). The efficacy of vaccination has been demonstrated in many different studies. Although vaccination confers beneficial effects in infected pigs, these effects are variable between herds. The variability may result from different factors such as the infection level, the age of infection, complicating factors and the variability between different isolates of *M. hyopneumoniae* (Calus et al., 2007; Villarreal et al., 2011a). However, vaccination is still considered the most effective practice for controlling this infection (Mateusen et al., 2002). The major advantages of *M. hyopneumoniae* vaccination include improvement of the daily weight gain (2-8%) and the feed conversion ratio (2-5%), a shorter time to reach slaughter weight, reduced clinical signs, lung lesions and less treatment costs (Maes et al., 1998; Maes et al., 1999).

1.1.6 Vaccines

1.1.6.1 Commercial Vaccines

Vaccination with commercial bacterins has been an important tool to control infection by *M. hyopneumoniae* worldwide. Despite the beneficial effects, these bacterins provide only partial protection and do not prevent the colonization of *M. hyopneumoniae* on the epithelial cells (Thacker et al., 2000a). Some studies indicate that currently available commercial vaccines can reduce the number of organisms in the respiratory tract (Meyns et al., 2006; Vranckx et al., 2012), and consequently, the infection level in the animals, and by extension likely also in the herd (Sibila et al., 2007). Although vaccination significantly reduces clinical symptoms and lung lesions, only a limited reduction occurs in the transmission of *M. hyopneumoniae* (Meyns et al., 2006; Villarreal et al., 2011b). These findings reinforce the idea that vaccination alone is not sufficient to eliminate *M. hyopneumoniae* in infected pig herds. To achieve desirable results, vaccination should be practiced in combination with other management factors controlling the infection (Haesebrouck et al., 2004).

Despite the fact that vaccination against *M. hyopneumoniae* is widely practiced, many aspects about its effect on transmission of the pathogen, effect on different strains and on the immunological response remain unclear and need to be further investigated. Nevertheless, studies suggest that mucosal antibodies and systemic immune responses are important for the control of this disease (Thacker et al., 2000a). The commercial vaccines induce the production of specific antibodies in serum, although the antibody response may differ between the vaccines (Thacker et al., 1998), and the seroconversion rate among animals can range from 30% - 100% (Sibila et al., 2004). The correlation between the induction of specific antibodies in serum are not correlated with protection against *M. hyopneumoniae* (Djordjevic et al., 1997). Thus, the presence and concentration of antibodies in serum do not appear to be the best way to evaluate protective immunity.

Few studies have evaluated the effects of vaccination of the commercial bacterins on mucosal immune system and cell mediated immunity. Thacker et al. (2000a), evaluating BAL fluid and lymphocytes isolated from blood, indicated that a commercial vaccine induces a local mucosal and systemic cell mediated immune response detected by ELIspot and ELISA. However, the vaccination failed to induce nonspecific changes in the peripheral CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells, analyzed by flow cytometry. In contrast, differences between vaccinated and

27

control pigs in $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ cells were detected in a study performed by Kick et al. (2011). This indicates that there is considerable variation between published reports and that little is known about the exact mechanism of protection of the commercially available *M*. *hyopneumoniae* vaccines.

All commercially available *M. hyopneumoniae* vaccines are made from killed mycoplasma cultures (bacterins) but have different adjuvants. Some adjuvants are considered relatively mild, like aluminium salts, whereas the oil-based ones, usually in the form of emulsions, are more reactive and may take a longer time to be taken up, therefore giving a more prolonged release and stimulation (Yuki and Kiyono, 2003). The difference in adjuvant composition in commercial vaccines might also influence the type of induced immune response and the levels of protection.

Besides this, the current commercial vaccines used to control enzootic pneumonia are mostly based on the J-strain, which was originally isolated from a pig herd in the UK (Goodwin and Whittlestone, 1963). The variable results observed in the vaccine efficacy under field conditions may be due, among other factors, to antigenic differences between the strains circulating in pig herds and the vaccine strain.

The role of maternal immunity in protection of newborn piglets is not entirely clear and the potential interference with development of active immunity needs to be better understood. It has been demonstrated that lymphocytes that were passively transferred from vaccinated dams to their offspring in colostrum were able to proliferate and participate in a functional response to M. hyopneumoniae (Bandrick et al., 2008). Also, it has been shown that passive immunity induced by sow vaccination may be consistent with early vaccination to M. hyopneumoniae in piglets (Martelli et al., 2006). One study reported that a single dose of M. hyopneumoniae bacterin to pigs of approximately 1 week of age induced long-lasting protective immunity, with reduction in the extent of lung lesions after challenge with a virulent strain of *M. hyopneumoniae* (Reynolds et al., 2009). An early vaccination regimen should induce immunity around the time of weaning, when pigs from different litters are mixed together, and are likely to face their first infectious challenge, and when the risk of developing multi-factorial severe pneumonia is exacerbated (Martelli et al., 2006). Meyns et al. (2004) and Villarreal et al. (2011b) estimated under experimental and field conditions, respectively, that one infected animal will infect an average of one susceptible penmate during a nursery period of 6 weeks. These results emphasize the importance of the implementation of control strategies from an early age onwards.

Different strategies of vaccination have been adopted depending on the needs of a particular herd and variables such as the production system, type of herd, infection pattern and preferences of the pig producer. The decision to vaccinate or not depends on the economic feasibility in the farm and the profits that the vaccination will bring in relation to the economic losses caused by the disease (Maes et al., 2008).

In table 1, a description of some commercially available vaccines against M. hyopneumoniae licensed in Europe is given. Commercial names, antigen and adjuvant constitution are presented, as well as the indications of administration.

Vaccine	Strain	Adjuvant	Route of administration	Age of administration	Boosts needed
HYORESP (Merial)	NI*	Aluminium hydroxide	IM	>5 days	3-4 weeks
INGELVAC MYCOFLEX (Boehringer Ingelheim)	J strain isolate B-3745	Impran (water- in-oil adjuvant emulsion)	IM	>21 days	-
M+Pac (Intervet Int.)	NI*	Aluminium hydroxide	IM	>7 days	3-4 weeks
MYPRAVAC SUIS (Hipra Lab)	J strain	Levamisole and carbomer	IM	7-10 days	3 weeks
PORCILIS M. HYO (Intervet)	Strain 11	dl-α-tocopherol acetate	IM	7 days	3 weeks
STELLAMUNE MYCOPLASMA (Eli Lilly)	NL 1042	Mineral oil and lecithin	IM	7 days	2-4 weeks
STELLAMUNE ONCE (Eli Lilly)	NL 1042	Amphigen Base, and Drakeol 5 (mineral oil)	IM	7 days	-
SUVAXYN M.HYO (Pfizer A.H.)	P-5722-3	Carbopol	IM	7 days	2 weeks
SUVAXYN MH- ONE (Pfizer A.H.)	P-5722-3	Carbopol and squalane	IM	7 days	_
SUVAXYN M.HYO PARASUIS (Pfizer A.H.)	P-5722-3	Carbopol	IM	7 days	2 weeks

Table 1: Commercially available *M. hyopneumoniae* bacterins licensed in Europe (2013)

No information available

1.1.6.2 Development of new generation vaccines against M. hyopneumoniae

In recent years, there has been a remarkable expansion of new approaches to identify relevant antigenic components for use in vaccines, and these new techniques are beginning to be applied in the development of veterinary vaccines (Movahedi and Hampson, 2008). Progresses in microbiology, molecular biology, immunology and bioinformatics have led to a more rational approach in vaccine development (Haesebrouck et al., 2004). For many diseases, this new approach can be an alternative to replace the traditional method of vaccine preparation, which follows the principles established by Pasteur (Rappuoli, 2001).

With recombinant DNA technology, the "second generation" vaccines emerged based on the use of recombinant proteins. More recently, the availability of complete genome sequences have led to a new approach in vaccine development (Scarselli et al., 2005), called reverse vaccinology (Rappuoli, 2001). The reverse vaccinology approach starts from the genomic sequence and, by computer analysis, predicts those antigens that are most likely to be vaccine candidates. The approach can, therefore, be very simple, and poses the question of whether any of the potential antigen candidates can provide protective immunity (Rappuoli, 2001). This has led to a "third generation" of vaccines (Movahedi and Hampson, 2008).

The combination of in silico analysis of whole genome sequences and recombinant DNA technology has several advances in the development of third generation vaccines (Movahedi and Hampson, 2008). Through computational analysis, virtually all proteins that the pathogen can express both *in vivo* and *in vitro* can be selected, without prior knowledge of their abundance, immunogenicity or expression during infection (Movahedi and Hampson, 2008). After selecting a group of genes of the genome, the next steps include: cloning and expression of selected genes, purification of recombinant proteins to identify potential candidates for protection (Grandi, 2001). Advantages of recombinant subunit vaccines are numerous. First of all, the pathogen can be entirely excluded from the production of the vaccine, which eliminates the risks associated with contamination by toxic compounds, and reversion to virulence. Besides, the possibility of optimizing the presentation forms of these antigens (Liljeqvist and Stahl, 1999).

However, one of the major disadvantages is that the reverse vaccinology can be applied only for the discovery of protein antigens and not for other antigens like lipopolysaccharides and glycolipids, which are important components of many successful vaccines. In addition, the feasibility of the approach relies heavily on the availability of a high-throughput system to screen protective immunity. Unfortunately, the limited knowledge of vaccine immunology makes it difficult to find correlations with protection and, therefore, screening for protective immunity is the rate-limiting step of reverse vaccinology (Rappuoli, 2001; Serruto and Rappuoli, 2006). Besides, the necessity of having the publication of the complete genome sequence of many bacteria, parasites and viruses.

The genome sequencing of four *M. hyopneumoniae* strains (Liu et al., 2011; Minion et al., 2004; Vasconcelos et al., 2005), has allowed the rational choice of sequences that encode proteins that might be used for the development of a protective vaccine and for use in diagnostic tests of EP. The small genome of this agent, as well as, the limited number of secreted or surface proteins favours the use of reverse vaccinology.

The technology of recombinant DNA associated with the approach of the reverse vaccinology have provided valuable tools for the production of *M. hyopneumoniae* recombinant proteins in heterologous systems. The recombinant subunit vaccines are based on fractions of the organism and are produced using heterologous protein expression systems.

The heterologous recombinant proteins can be produced in both eukaryotic and prokaryotic organisms and, once expressed, can be readily purified and administered to animals in high concentrations (Clark and Cassidy-Hanley, 2005). *E. coli* is the most attractive system for production of recombinant proteins (Baneyx, 1999). However, despite the fact that genetic characteristics of *E. coli* are well known, not all genes can be efficiently expressed in this microorganism. An example is the expression of genes from *M. hyopneumoniae* containing codons TGA. TGA encodes the amino acid tryptophan in Mycoplasma, while it is a stop codon in other organisms. This feature has hindered the expression of these genes in *E. coli*. Mutations capable of replacing TGA by TGG have been the strategy used to circumvent this problem. Simionatto et al. (2009) described the optimization of a PCR protocol for site directed mutation in codon TGA genes from *M. hyopneumoniae*, obtaining satisfactory results in the expression of these genes in *E. coli*.

Constant effort is being directed towards the investigation of new vaccines that may offer a better protection against *M. hyopneumoniae* infections. Several studies have evaluated recombinant proteins of *M. hyopneumoniae*, in various forms of administration and formulations. Some of them were evaluated individually (Galli et al., 2012; Simionatto et al., 2012), others were associated with attenuated bacterial or viral vectors (Chen et al., 2006a; Chen et al., 2006b; Chen et al., 2001; Fagan et al., 2001; Okamba et al., 2010; Okamba et al., 2007; Shimoji et al., 2003; Zou et al., 2011), fused to mucosal adjuvants (Conceição et al., 2006), and also evaluated as a pool of antigens (Chen et al., 2008). Most of these recombinant proteins were evaluated only in mice. Only a few of them were tested in challenge

experiments in pigs. Differences in the immunity induced by these antigens were observed, which might be due to differences in the vaccine constructs, the route of immunization, the correct folding and/or other post-translational modification that may contribute to the ability to generate antibodies by the antigens (Pinto et al., 2007a). These evaluations suggest that these new vaccine approaches may represent promising strategies, and may be economically feasible to control EP. Table 2 summarizes the antigens, adjuvants, vectors and routes of immunization used in the studies on experimental *M. hyopneumoniae* vaccines so far.

Antigen	Kind of vaccine	Vector/Adjuvant	Species	Route	Challenge infection	Reference
P97	Recombinant Subunit	Freund's	pig	IM**	yes	King et al., 1997
NrdF (R2)	Recombinant Vector	Salmonella Typhimurium aroA SL3261	mice	Oral	no	Fagan et al., 1997
P97 (R1)	Recombinant Vector	Pseudomonas exotoxin A	mice and pig	SC*** and IM	no	Chen et al., 2001
NrdF (R2)	Recombinant Vector	Salmonella Typhimurium aroA SL3261	pig	Oral	yes	Fagan et al., 2001
P42	DNA	pcDNA3	mice	IM	no	Chen et al., 2003
P97 (R1R2)	Recombinant Vector	Erysipelothrix rhusiopathiae YS-1	mice and pig	SC and IN****	no	Shimoji et al., 2003
P97 (R1)	Recombinant Vector	Salmonella Typhimurium aroA CS332	mice	Oral	no	Chen et al., 2006a
NrdF (R2)	Recombinant Vector	Salmonella Typhimurium aroA CS332	mice	Oral	no	Chen et al., 2006b
P97 (R1)	Recombinant Subunit	LTB	mice	IM and IN	no	Conceição et al., 2006
P97 (R1)	Recombinant Vector	Adenovirus	mice	IM and IN	no	Okamba et al., 2007
P97 (R1R2)	Recombinant Vector	Erysipelothrix rhusiopathiae Koganei	pig	Oral	yes	Ogawa et al., 2009
P97 (R1)	Recombinant Vector	Adenovirus	pig	IN	yes	Okamba et al., 2010
P36	Recombinant Vector	Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae SLW36	mice	IM	no	Zou et al., 2011
34*	Recombinant Subunit	Aluminun	mice	IM	no	Simionatto et al., 2012
P37, P42, P46, P95	Recombinant Subunit and DNA	Aluminun and pcDNA3	mice	IM	no	Galli et al., 2012

Table 2: Overview of experimental vaccines against M. hyopneumoniae

* 34 previously uncharacterized recombinant proteins of *M. hyopneumoniae* were evaluated in this study.

** Intramuscularly

*** Subcutaneously

**** Intranasal

The P97 protein, which was identified as an important adhesin of *M. hyopneumoniae* (Zhang et al., 1995) has been the most studied and best defined potential protective antigen. It has been evaluated in several studies using different vaccine formulations. King et al. (1997) reported that a subunit vaccine based on recombinant adhesin P97 did not induce significant protection in challenged pigs. However, when the C-terminal region of P97 (R1) was fused to *Pseudomonas* toxin A, immunized mice and pigs produced specific immune responses against R1 (Chen et al., 2001). Oral vaccination with recombinant *E. rhusiopathiae* strains expressing the P97 protein reduced the severity of pneumonic lung lesions caused by *M. hyopneumoniae* infection, showing that *E. rhusiopathiae* may be a promising vaccine vector for delivering foreign antigens to the immune systems of pigs (Ogawa et al., 2009).

Apart from the antigen in the vaccine, also the adjuvant and the route of immunization play a role in protection. Mucosal adjuvants and intranasal vaccine delivery have received special attention as alternatives that may increase the mucosal immunity. Conceição et al. (2006) have reported that a recombinant subunit vaccine containing the R1 subunit of P97 fused to the B subunit of thermolabile enterotoxin of E. coli (rLTBR1), a parenteral and mucosal adjuvant, induced systemic and mucosal antibodies against R1 in mice. Shimoji et al. (2003) reported that a YS-19 attenuated strain of Erysipelothrix rhusiopathiae expressing the R1 region of P97 was able to reduce lung lesions in intranasally (IN) immunized pigs when they were challenged. However, there was no humoral or cell-mediated immune response. Further, Okamba et al. (2007) showed that mice immunized IN with defective adenovirus expressing the C-terminal region of P97 (rAdP97c) induced a systemic Th1/Th2 immune response and local immunity. This same construct was evaluated in pigs in comparison with a commercial vaccine. rAdP97c significantly reduced the severity of the inflammatory response and the amount of *M. hyopneumoniae* in the respiratory tract. Also the average daily weight gain was slightly improved. However, the commercial vaccine was more effective in inducing protective immunity (Okamba et al., 2010). These results suggest that the kind of immunity induced by this antigen may be influenced by differences in the vaccine construct, the route of immunization, and the adjuvant or vector used.

Mice immunized orally with *Salmonella* Typhimurium aroA CS332 harboring the R1 region of P97 (Chen et al., 2006a) and the R2 subunit of ribonucleotide reductase (NrdF) of *M. hyopneumoniae* (Chen et al., 2006b) showed a Th1-based immune response, but no humoral or mucosal immune responses. However, when the NrdF R2 subunit was expressed in *Salmonella* Typhimurium aroASL3261, a mucosal immune response was observed in mice

(Fagan et al., 1997). When used for immunizing pigs, this antigen was able to reduce lung lesions caused by an experimental *M. hyopneumoniae* infection (Fagan et al., 2001).

Apart from recombinant subunit vaccines that have been evaluated in mice and pigs, immune responses to DNA vaccines in mice have also been investigated. DNA vaccines based on heat shock protein P42 induced both Th1 and Th2 immune responses in mice. In addition, antiserum from the immunized animals was found to inhibit the growth of *M. hyopneumoniae in vitro* (Chen et al., 2003). Similar results were described using a DNA vaccine with the antigen P46. Both Th1 and Th2 immune responses were obtained in mice, with an increase in the IFN- γ level (Galli et al., 2012). Thus, DNA vaccines might represent a promising strategy for control of EP.

Despite the immunizing properties of the recombinant antigens and DNA vaccines tested so far, none of them was able to induce a protection as good as the commercial vaccines. Multivalent formulations could be another alternative in offering better protection against *M. hyopneumoniae* (Chen et al., 2008). Five recombinant antigens of *M. hyopneumoniae* (P97, P97R1, NrdF, P36, and P46) were evaluated as DNA and protein vaccines. The analysis of mice immunized with the cocktail of antigens administered as DNA vaccine revealed that only P97 and P36 induced IgG in the serum. Intramuscular immunization with a cocktail of antigens (P97, P97R1, NrdF, P36, and P46) as a DNA vaccine induced a Th1 immune response, while antibody responses appeared to be antigen dependent. Subcutaneous immunization with the same cocktail administered as a recombinant subunit vaccine induced humoral and Th1 immune responses. When a combination of DNA and subunit vaccine was used, both humoral and Th1 responses were obtained. In addition, P97 was not recognized by serum antibodies from mice immunized with a commercial bacterin, which may be an indication of the lack of expression of this antigen in inactivated whole-cell vaccines (Chen et al., 2008).

The identification and characterization of immunogenic *M. hyopneumoniae* proteins is an important step towards the development of improved vaccines. Despite the difficulties due to the unusual codon of mycoplasmas (Razin et al., 1998), Simionatto et al. (2009; 2010) have previously reported the cloning and expression of a high number of *M. hyopneumoniae* recombinant proteins in *E. coli*. Antigenic and immunogenic properties of these proteins were analysed. Some of them were evaluated in mice and showed to be potential as vaccine candidates against *M. hyopneumoniae*. Although the immune response of mice cannot be extrapolated to other species, the results warrant further investigation with promising proteins as subunit vaccines in challenge experiments in pigs (Simionatto et al., 2012). Most of these experimental vaccines must be evaluated in pigs under both experimental and field conditions. To date, few formulations have been assessed in *M. hyopneumoniae* challenge experiments in pigs (Fagan et al., 2001; Ogawa et al., 2009; Okamba et al., 2010), and these conferred only partial protection with some reduction of pulmonary lesions.

1.1.6.3 Mucosal Adjuvants: Immunomodulation by Bacterial Enterotoxins

Taking into consideration the above discussion, it is clear that we require a safe and effective vaccine against *M. hyopneumoniae*. Considering that genetically engineered vaccines composed of a single recombinant antigen, particularly subunit vaccines are poorly immunogenic, it is important to increase their immunogenicity by combining them with appropriate adjuvants (Soria-Guerra et al., 2011).

Currently used adjuvants such as aluminum hydroxide or phosphate have a demonstrated safety profile of many decades and their role in the implementation of successful vaccine programmes is impressive. However, these adjuvants have been associated with severe local reactions, such as erythema, subcutaneous nodules and contact hypersensitivity (Baylor et al., 2002). Oil emulsions of various compositions are also widely used as adjuvant in *M. hyopneumoniae* vaccines. They have been considered as potent adjuvants even though they have a tendency to induce granulomas at the injection sites (Aucouturier et al., 2001).

Inducing mucosal immunity with toxin-derived immune adjuvants has received a lot of attention, especially for vaccine development for bacterial pathogens. As *M. hyopneumoniae* infection starts in the respiratory tract, the ideal vaccine would be mucosally administered and able to stimulate a suitable mucosal immunity, including specific T helper (Th) response and immunoglobuline A (IgA), which can prevent the adherence of pathogens to mucosal cell surfaces (Neutra and Kozlowski, 2006).

One strategy has been to employ bacterial enterotoxins such as cholera toxin (CT) from V*ibrio cholera* or the related subunit B of heat-labile enterotoxin of *Escherichia coli* (LTB), a non-toxic subunit. These have been shown to be highly immunogenic, demonstrate potent immune-modulatory activity with a range of antigens either fused or co-administered to them, in different animal models, enhance immunogenicity as well as to confer protective efficacy (Conceição et al., 2006; da Hora et al., 2011; Grassmann et al., 2012; Qiao et al.,

2009; Zhou et al., 2009). They are considered as potent mucosal and parenteral adjuvants (Cox et al., 2006; da Hora et al., 2011; Simmons et al., 2001), enhancing both mucosal IgA as well as systemic antibody responses.

In developing veterinary mucosal vaccines and vaccination strategies, mucosal adjuvants are one of the key players for inducing protective immune responses. The biological effects of CT and LTB are mediated by the binding and internalization of the molecules into mammalian cells. The principle receptor for both is GM1-ganglioside, a glycosphingolipid found ubiquitously on the surface of all cells, including enterocytes, dendritic cells, macrophages, B and T lymphocytes (Cox et al., 2006).

Although the mechanisms by which the enterotoxin-based adjuvants exert immunomodulating effects are not well characterized, enhancement of inflammatory cytokine and chemokine production and transient recruitment of immune effectors cells to the site of immunization are likely involved (Ryan et al., 2000). LTB is also known to influence the dendritic cell maturation (Petrovska et al., 2003), antigen presentation and T-cell activation and promote the induction of antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses in mouse models (Fu et al., 2009). The use of LTB as an adjuvant has resulted in balanced cytokine response, involving the production of both Th1 and Th2 cytokines (Fromantin et al., 2001).

The competence of LTB to modulate or improve vaccine-induced immune responses appears to depend to some extent on the antigen-LTB combination (there are difference in response for the B subunit whether it is used as a mixture or coupled to the antigen), the vaccination route and the dose (da Hora et al., 2011). The route of administration appears to be a critical factor influencing the immune-enhancing activities of LTB. Although LTB has demonstrated potent mucosal adjuvanticity when administered intranasally or orally (Fingerut et al., 2006; Richards et al., 2001; Yamanaka et al., 2006), it also stimulated a strong systemic and secretory response when administered parenterally (Fischer et al., 2010).

Bacterial enterotoxins as LTB have provided important insights into immunological mechanisms associated with mucosal adjuvant activity and significant practical benefits may follow in the form of new mucosal vaccines against *M. hyopneumoniae*. Conceição et al. (2006) have shown that immunization of mice with pure recombinant R1 of P97 adhesin did not induce specific systemic and mucosal antibodies to R1. In contrast, immunization with the R1 region fused to the B subunit of the heat-labile enterotoxin B subunit of *E. coli* (rLTBR1) produced high levels of specific antibody and cellular responses. However, the efficacy of this vaccine has not been tested in swine.
Despite the advantage of mucosal vaccinations for the prevention of *M*. *hyopneumoniae*, the number of experimental vaccines evaluating this route of immunization is still very limited. This is mainly due to important difficulties that are encountered by using the mucosal route such as:

- (1) the antigen should pass the mucosal barrier in sufficient amount,
- (2) mucosal tolerance mechanisms should be overcome,
- (3) protective immune mechanisms should be activated and
- (4) minimal/or no influence on mucosal functionality should occur.

Mucosal adjuvants are crucial in reaching these goals (Cox et al., 2006). However, *E. coli* heat-labile toxin (LT) has also been shown to have negative side effects in humans, as both native and mutant LT (mLT) used as adjuvants were recently associated with the development of facial nerve paralysis following intranasal delivery in humans (Lewis et al., 2009). It is, therefore, evident that these toxin adjuvants exhibit safety concerns that will likely prevent their use in nasally delivered vaccines for humans. Moreover, the B subunits of CT (CTB) and LT (LTB), which are not toxic, have been shown to promote tolerance to heterologous antigens. CTB has been the most studied, especially as conjugates with antigens. It has been tested in clinical assays for possible prevention of auto-immune and allergic diseases. Most of the studies of CTB conjugate with antigens showed to induce protective regulatory T cells in animal models of auto-immune or inflammatory diseases (Basset et al., 2010). However, the adjuvant activity of the B subunit has been a source of controversy and the many questions about the effects of these adjuvants remains confusing.

References

- Adams, C., Pitzer, J., Minion, F.C., 2005. In vivo expression analysis of the P97 and P102 paralog families of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Infect. Immun. 73, 7784-7787.
- Asai, T., Okada, M., Ono, M., Irisawa, T., Mori, Y., Yokomizo, Y., Sato, S., 1993. Increased levels of tumor necrosis factor and interleukin 1 in bronchoalveolar lavage fluids from pigs infected with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 38, 253-260.
- Asai, T., Okada, M., Ono, M., Mori, Y., Yokomizo, Y., Sato, S., 1994. Detection of interleukin-6 and prostaglandin E2 in bronchoalveolar lavage fluids of pigs experimentally infected with *Mycoplasma hyponeumoniae*. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 44, 97-102.
- Asai, T., Okada, M., Yokomizo, Y., Sato, S., Mori, Y., 1996. Suppressive effect of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from pigs infected with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* on chemiluminescence of porcine peripheral neutrophils. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 51, 325-331.
- Aucouturier, J., Dupuis, L., Ganne, V., 2001. Adjuvants designed for veterinary and human vaccines. Vaccine 19, 2666-2672.
- Bandrick, M., Pieters, M., Pijoan, C., Molitor, T.W., 2008. Passive Transfer of Maternal Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae-Specific Cellular Immunity to Piglets. Clin. Vaccine Immunol. 15, 540-543.
- Baneyx, F., 1999. Recombinant protein expression in *Escherichia coli*. Curr. Opin. Biotechn. 10, 411-421.
- Baskerville, A., 1972. Development of the early lesions in experimental enzootic pneumonia of pigs: an ultrastructural and histological study. Res. Vet. Sci. 13, 570-578.
- Basset, C., Thiam, F., Di Martino, C., Holton, J., Clements, J.D., Kohli, E., 2010. Cholera-Like Enterotoxins and Regulatory T cells. Toxins 2, 1774-1795.
- Baylor, N.W., Egan, W., Richman, P., 2002. Aluminum salts in vaccines US perspective. Vaccine 20, S18-S23.
- Blanchard, B., Vena, M.M., Cavalier, A., Lelannic, J., Gouranton, J., Kobisch, M., 1992. Electron-microscopic observation of the respiratory-tract of spf piglets inoculated with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Vet. Microbiol. 30, 329-341.
- Bogema, D.R., Deutscher, A.T., Woolley, L.K., Seymour, L.M., Raymond, B.B.A., Tacchi, J.L., Padula, M.P., Dixon, N.E., Minion, F.C., Jenkins, C., Walker, M.J., Djordjevic, S.P., 2012. Characterization of cleavage events in the multifunctional cilium adhesin Mhp684 (P146) reveals a mechanism by which *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* regulates surface topography. Mol. Biol. 3, 1-11.
- Bogema, D.R., Scott, N.E., Padula, M.P., Tacchi, J.L., Raymond, B.B.A., Jenkins, C., Cordwell, S.J., Minion, F.C., Walker, M.J., Djordjevic, S.P., 2011. Sequence TTKFV QE defines the site of proteolytic cleavage in Mhp683 protein, a novel

glycosaminoglycan and cilium adhesin of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 41217-41229.

- Browning, G.F., Marenda, M.S., Noormohammadi, A.H., Markham, P.F., 2011. The central role of lipoproteins in the pathogenesis of mycoplasmoses. Vet. Microbiol. 153, 44-50.
- Burnett, T.A., Dinkla, K., Rohde, M., Chhatwal, G.S., Uphoff, C., Srivastava, M., Cordwell, S.J., Geary, S., Liao, X., Minion, F.C., Walker, M.J., Djordjevic, S.P., 2006. P159 is a proteolytically processed, surface adhesin of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*: defined domains of P159 bind heparin and promote adherence to eukaryote cells. Mol. Microbiol. 60, 669-686.
- Calus, D., Baele, M., Meyns, T., de, K.A., Butaye, P., Decostere, A., Haesebrouck, F., Maes, D., 2007. Protein variability among *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* isolates. Vet. Microbiol. 120, 284-291.
- Caruso, J.P., Ross, R.F., 1990. Effects of Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae and Actinobacillus (Haemophilus) pleuropneumoniae infections on alveolar macrophage functions in swine. Am. J. Vet. Res. 51, 227-231.
- Chen, A.Y., Fry, S.R., Daggard, G.E., Mukkur, T.K., 2008. Evaluation of immune response to recombinant potential protective antigens of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* delivered as cocktail DNA and/or recombinant protein vaccines in mice. Vaccine 26, 4372-4378.
- Chen, A.Y., Fry, S.R., Forbes-Faulkner, J., Daggard, G., Mukkur, T.K., 2006a. Evaluation of the immunogenicity of the P97R1 adhesin of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* as a mucosal vaccine in mice. J. Med. Microbiol. 55, 923-929.
- Chen, A.Y., Fry, S.R., Forbes-Faulkner, J., Daggard, G.E., Mukkur, T.K., 2006b. Comparative immunogenicity of *M. hyopneumoniae* NrdF encoded in different expression systems delivered orally via attenuated *S. typhimurium* aroA in mice. Vet. Microbiol. 114, 252-259.
- Chen, J.R., Liao, C.W., Mao, S.J., Weng, C.N., 2001. A recombinant chimera composed of repeat region RR1 of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* adhesin with Pseudomonas exotoxin: in vivo evaluation of specific IgG response in mice and pigs. Vet. Microbiol. 80, 347-357.
- Chen, Y.L., Wang, S.N., Yang, W.J., Chen, Y.J., Lin, H.H., Shiuan, D., 2003. Expression and immunogenicity of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* heat shock protein antigen p42 by DNA vaccination. Infect. Immun. 71, 1155-1160.
- Choi, C., Kwon, D., Jung, K., Ha, Y., Lee, Y.H., Kim, O., Park, H.K., Kimt, S.H., Hwang, K.K., Chae, C., 2006. Expression of inflammatory cytokines in pigs experimentally infected with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. J. Comp. Pathol. 134, 40-46.
- Ciprian, A., Palacios, J.M., Quintanar, D., Batista, L., Colmenares, G., Cruz, T., Romero, A., Schnitzlein, W., Mendoza, S., 2012. Florfenicol feed supplemented decrease the clinical effects of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* experimental infection in swine in Mexico. Res. Vet. Sci. 92, 191-196.

- Clark, T.G., Cassidy-Hanley, D., 2005. Recombinant subunit vaccines: potentials and constraints. Dev. Biol. (Basel) 121, 153-163.
- Conceição, F.R., Moreira, A.N., Dellagostin, O.A., 2006. A recombinant chimera composed of R1 repeat region of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* P97 adhesin with Escherichia coli heat-labile enterotoxin B subunit elicits immune response in mice. Vaccine 24, 5734-5743.
- Cox, E., Verdonck, F., Vanrompay, D., Goddeeris, B., 2006. Adjuvants modulating mucosal immune responses or directing systemic responses towards the mucosa. Vet. Res. 37, 511-539.
- Czerkinsky, C., Anjuere, F., Mcghee, J.R., George-Chandy, A., Holmgren, J., Kieny, M.P., Fujiyashi, K., Mestecky, J.F., Pierrefite-Carle, V., Rask, C., Sun, J.B., 1999. Mucosal immunity and tolerance: relevance to vaccine development. Immunol. Rev. 170, 197-222.
- da Hora, V.P., Conceição, F.R., Dellagostin, O.A., Doolan, D.L., 2011. Non-toxic derivatives of LT as potent adjuvants. Vaccine 29, 1538-1544.
- Debey, M.C., Ross, R.F., 1994. Ciliostasis and loss of cilia induced by *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* in porcine tracheal organ-cultures. Infect. Immun. 62, 5312-5318.
- Desrosiers, R., 2001. A review of some aspects of the epidemiology, diagnosis, and control of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infections. J. Swi. Hea. and Produc. 9, 233-237.
- Deutscher, A.T., Tacchi, J.L., Minion, F.C., Padula, M.P., Crossett, B., Bogema, D.R., Jenkins, C., Kuit, T.A., Walker, M.J., Djordjevic, S.P., 2012. Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae surface proteins Mhp385 and Mhp384 bind host cilia and glycosaminoglycans and are endoproteolytically processed by proteases that recognize different cleavage motifs. J. Prot. Res. 11, 1924-1936.
- Djordjevic, S.P., Cordwell, S.J., Djordjevic, M.A., Wilton, J., Minion, F.C., 2004. Proteolytic processing of the *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* cilium adhesin. Infect. Immun. 72, 2791-2802.
- Djordjevic, S.P., Eamens, G.J., Romalis, L.F., Nicholls, P.J., Taylor, V., Chin, J., 1997. Serum and mucosal antibody responses and protection in pigs vaccinated against *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* with vaccines containing a denatured membrane antigen pool and adjuvant. Aust.Vet. J. 75, 504-511.
- Done, S.H., 1991. Environmental factors affecting the severity of pneumonia in pigs. Vet. Rec. 128, 582-586.
- Dybvig, K., Voelker, L.L., 1996. Molecular biology of mycoplasmas. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 50, 25-57.
- Fagan, P.K., Djordjevic, S.P., Chin, J., Eamens, G.J., Walker, M.J., 1997. Oral immunization of mice with attenuated *Salmonella typhimurium* aroA expressing a recombinant *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* antigen (NrdF). Infect. Immun. 65, 2502-2507.

- Fagan, P.K., Walker, M.J., Chin, J., Eamens, G.J., Djordjevic, S.P., 2001. Oral immunization of swine with attenuated *Salmonella typhimurium* aroA SL3261 expressing a recombinant antigen of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* (NrdF) primes the immune system for a NrdF specific secretory IgA response in the lungs. Microb. Pathog. 30, 101-110.
- Fano, E., Pijoan, C., Dee, S., 2005. Dynamics and persistence of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infection in pigs. Can. J. Vet. Res. 69, 223-228.
- Fingerut, E., Gutter, B., Goldway, M., Eliahoo, D., Pitcovski, J., 2006. B subunit of E-coli enterotoxin as adjuvant and carrier in oral and skin vaccination. Vet. Immun. Immunopat. 112, 253-263.
- Fischer, G., Conceição, F.R., Leite, F.P.L., Moraes, C.M., Ferreira, L.N., Vilela, C.O., Caetano, C.F., Vargas, G.D., Hubner, S.O., Vidor, T., Roehe, P.M., 2010. Recombinant *Escherichia coli* heat-labile enterotoxin B subunit humoral adjuvant effect depends on dose and administration route. World J. Microb. Biot. 26, 489-495.
- Friis, N.F., 1975. Some recommendations concerning primary isolation of *Mycoplasma* suipneumoniae and *Mycoplasma flocculare* a survey. Nord. Vet. Med. 27, 337-339.
- Fromantin, C., Jamot, B., Cohen, J., Piroth, L., Pothier, P., Kohli, E., 2001. Rotavirus 2/6 virus-like particles administered intranasally in mice, with or without the mucosal adjuvants cholera toxin and *Escherichia coli* heat-labile toxin, induce a Th1/Th2-like immune response. J. Virol. 75, 11010-11016.
- Fu, N., Khan, S., Quinten, E., de Graaf, N., Pemberton, A.J., Rivett, A.J., Melief, C.J.M., Ossendorp, F., 2009. Effective CD8(+) T cell priming and tumor protection by enterotoxin B subunit-conjugated peptides targeted to dendritic cells. Vaccine 27, 5252-5258.
- Fuentes, M.C., Pijoan, C., 1987. Pneumonia in pigs induced by intranasal challenge exposure with pseudorabies virus and *Pasteurella multocida*. Am. J. Vet. Res. 48, 1446-1448.
- Galli, V., Simionatto, S., Marchioro, S.B., Fisch, A., Gomes, C.K., Conceição, F.R., Dellagostin, O.A., 2012. Immunisation of mice with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* antigens P37, P42, P46 and P95 delivered as recombinant subunit or DNA vaccines. Vaccine.
- Goodwin, R.F.W., Pomeroy, A.P., Whittlestone, P., 1965. Production of Enzootic Pneumonia with a *Mycoplasma*.Vet. Rec. 77, 1247-1249.
- Goodwin, R.F.W., Whittlestone, P., 1963. Production of enzootic pneumonia in pigs with an agent grown in tissue culture from the natural disease. Br. J. Exp. Pathol. 44, 291-299.
- Grandi, G., 2001. Antibacterial vaccine design using genomics and proteomics. Trends Biotechnol. 19, 181-188.
- Grassmann, A.A., Felix, S.R., dos Santos, C.X., Amaral, M.G., Seixas Neto, A.C., Fagundes,
 M.Q., Seixas, F.K., da Silva, E.F., Conceição, F.R., Dellagostin, O.A., 2012.
 Protection against lethal leptospirosis after vaccination with LipL32 coupled or

coadministered with the B subunit of *Escherichia coli* heat-labile enterotoxin. Clin. Vaccine Immunol. 19, 740-745.

- Haesebrouck, F., Pasmans, F., Chiers, K., Maes, D., Ducatelle, R., Decostere, A., 2004. Efficacy of vaccines against bacterial diseases in swine: what can we expect? Vet. Microbiol. 100, 255-268.
- Henderson, B., Poole, S., Wilson, M., 1996. Bacterial modulins: a novel class of virulence factors which cause host tissue pathology by inducing cytokine synthesis. Microbiol. Rev. 60, 316-341.
- Hsu, T., Minion, F.C., 1998. Identification of the cilium binding epitope of the *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* P97 adhesin. Infect. Immun. 66, 4762-4766.
- Hutchings, A.B., Helander, A., Silvey, K.J., Chandran, K., Lucas, W.T., Nibert, M.L., Neutra, M.R., 2004. Secretory immunoglobulin A antibodies against the sigma 1 outer capsid protein of reovirus type 1 Lang prevent infection of mouse Peyer's patches. J. Virol. 78, 947-957.
- Irigoyen, L.F., Van Alstine, W., Turek, J., Clark, L.K., 1998. Ultrastructural observation of the airways of recovered and susceptible pigs after inoculation with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Pesquisa Vet. Brasil. 18, 1-7.
- Johri, A.K., Paoletti, L.C., Glaser, P., Dua, M., Sharma, P.K., Grandi, G., Rappuoli, R., 2006. Group B Streptococcus: global incidence and vaccine development. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 4, 932-942.
- Jones, H.P., Simecka, J.W., 2003. T lymphocyte responses are critical determinants in the pathogenesis and resistance to Mycoplasma respiratory disease. Front. Biosc. 8, 930-945.
- Kick, A.R., Tompkins, M.B., Mark, H.J., Routh, P.A., Almond, G.W., 2011. Evaluation of peripheral lymphocytes after weaning and vaccination for *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Res. Vet. Sci. 91, 68-72.
- King, K.W., Faulds, D.H., Rosey, E.L., Yancey, R.J., Jr., 1997. Characterization of the gene encoding Mhp1 from *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* and examination of Mhp1's vaccine potential. Vaccine 15, 25-35.
- Kobisch, M., Blanchard, B., Lepotier, M.F., 1993. *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* Infection in pigs duration of the disease and resistance to reinfection. Vet. Res. 24, 67-77.
- Kobisch, M., Friis, N.F., 1996. Swine mycoplasmoses. Revue Scientifique et Technique de l Office International des Epizooties 15, 1569-1605.
- Kobisch, M., Tillon, J.P., Vannier, P., 1978. Mycoplasma suipneumoniae Enzootic Pneumonia in pig - Rapid diagnosis and research of antibodies. Recueil de Medecine Veterinaire 154, 847-852.
- Lamm, M.E., 1997. Interaction of antigens and antibodies at mucosal surfaces. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 51, 311-340.

- Le Carrou, J., Laurentie, M., Kobisch, M., Gautier-Bouchardon, A.V., 2006. Persistence of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* in experimentally infected pigs after marbofloxacin treatment and detection of mutations in the parC gene. Antimicrob. Agents Ch. 50, 1959-1966.
- Lewis, D.J., Huo, Z., Barnett, S., Kromann, I., Giemza, R., Galiza, E., Woodrow, M., Thierry-Carstensen, B., Andersen, P., Novicki, D., Del, G.G., Rappuoli, R., 2009. Transient facial nerve paralysis (Bell's palsy) following intranasal delivery of a genetically detoxified mutant of *Escherichia coli* heat labile toxin. PLoS. One. 4, e6999.
- Liljeqvist, S., Stahl, S., 1999. Production of recombinant subunit vaccines: protein immunogens, live delivery systems and nucleic acid vaccines. J. Biotechnol. 73, 1-33.
- Liu, W., Feng, Z., Fang, L., Zhou, Z., Li, Q., Li, S., Luo, R., Wang, L., Chen, H., Shao, G., Xiao, S., 2011. Complete genome sequence of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strain 168. J. Bacteriol. 193, 1016-1017.
- Lorenzo, H., Quesada, O., Assunção, P., Castro, A., Rodriguez, F., 2006. Cytokine expression in porcine lungs experimentally infected with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 109, 199-207.
- Maes, D., Deluyker, H., Verdonck, M., Castryck, F., Miry, C., Lein, A., Vrijens, B., de, K.A., 1998. The effect of vaccination against *Mycoplasma hypopneumoniae* in pig herds with a continuous production system. Zentralbl. Veterinarmed. B 45, 495-505.
- Maes, D., Deluyker, H., Verdonck, M., Castryck, F., Miry, C., Vrijens, B., Verbeke, W., Viaene, J., de, K.A., 1999. Effect of vaccination against *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* in pig herds with an all-in/all-out production system. Vaccine 17, 1024-1034.
- Maes, D., Segales, J., Meyns, T., Sibila, M., Pieters, M., Haesebrouck, F., 2008. Control of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infections in pigs. Vet. Microbiol. 126, 297-309.
- Mann, J.F., Acevedo, R., Campo, J.D., Perez, O., Ferro, V.A., 2009. Delivery systems: a vaccine strategy for overcoming mucosal tolerance? Expert. Rev. Vaccines. 8, 103-112.
- Marois, C., Le, C.J., Kobisch, M., Gautier-Bouchardon, A.V., 2007. Isolation of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* from different sampling sites in experimentally infected and contact SPF piglets. Vet. Microbiol. 120, 96-104.
- Martelli, P., Terreni, M., Guazzetti, S., Cavirani, S., 2006. Antibody response to *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infection in vaccinated pigs with or without maternal antibodies induced by sow vaccination. J. Vet. Med. B Infect. Dis. Vet. Public Health 53, 229-233.
- Mateusen, B., Maes, D., Van, G.M., Verdonck, M., de, K.A., 2002. Effectiveness of treatment with lincomycin hydrochloride and/or vaccination against *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* for controlling chronic respiratory disease in a herd of pigs. Vet. Rec. 151, 135-140.
- Meeusen, E.N., 2011. Exploiting mucosal surfaces for the development of mucosal vaccines. Vaccine 29, 8506-8511.

- Messier, S., Ross, R.F., Paul, P.S., 1990. Humoral and cellular immune responses of pigs inoculated with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Am. J. Vet. Res. 51, 52-58.
- Meyns, T., Dewulf, J., de, K.A., Calus, D., Haesebrouck, F., Maes, D., 2006. Comparison of transmission of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* in vaccinated and non-vaccinated populations. Vaccine 24, 7081-7086.
- Meyns, T., Maes, D., Calus, D., Ribbens, S., Dewulf, J., Chiers, K., de, K.A., Cox, E., Decostere, A., Haesebrouck, F., 2007. Interactions of highly and low virulent *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* isolates with the respiratory tract of pigs. Vet. Microbiol. 120, 87-95.
- Meyns, T., Maes, D., Dewulf, J., Vicca, J., Haesebrouck, F., de, K.A., 2004. Quantification of the spread of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* in nursery pigs using transmission experiments. Prev. Vet. Med. 66, 265-275.
- Minion, F.C., Adams, C., Hsu, T., 2000. R1 region of P97 mediates adherence of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* to swine cilia. Infect. Immun. 68, 3056-3060.
- Minion, F.C., Lefkowitz, E.J., Madsen, M.L., Cleary, B.J., Swartzell, S.M., Mahairas, G.G., 2004. The genome sequence of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strain 232, the agent of swine mycoplasmosis. J. Bacteriol. 186, 7123-7133.
- Movahedi, A., Hampson, D.J., 2008. New ways to identify novel bacterial antigens for vaccine development. Vet. Microbiol. 131, 1-13.
- Muneta, Y., Minagawa, Y., Shimoji, Y., Nagata, R., Markham, P.F., Browning, G.F., Mori, Y., 2006. IL-18 expression in pigs following infection with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. J. Interferon Cytokine Res. 26, 637-644.
- Muneta, Y., Minagawa, Y., Shimoji, Y., Ogawa, Y., Hikono, H., Mori, Y., 2008. Immune response of gnotobiotic piglets against *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 70, 1065-1070.
- Muneta, Y., Uenishi, H., Kikuma, R., Yoshihara, K., Shimoji, Y., Yamamoto, R., Hamashima, N., Yokomizo, Y., Mori, Y., 2003. Porcine TLR2 and TLR6: identification and their involvement in *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infection. J. Interferon Cytokine Res. 23, 583-590.
- Neutra, M.R., Kozlowski, P.A., 2006. Mucosal vaccines: the promise and the challenge. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 6, 148-158.
- Ogawa, Y., Oishi, E., Muneta, Y., Sano, A., Hikono, H., Shibahara, T., Yagi, Y., Shimoji, Y., 2009. Oral vaccination against mycoplasmal pneumonia of swine using a live *Erysipelothrix rhusiopathiae* vaccine strain as a vector. Vaccine 27, 4543-4550.
- Okamba, F.R., Arella, M., Music, N., Jia, J.J., Gottschalk, M., Gagnon, C.A., 2010. Potential use of a recombinant replication-defective adenovirus vector carrying the C-terminal portion of the P97 adhesin protein as a vaccine against *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* in swine. Vaccine 28, 4802-4809.

- Okamba, F.R., Moreau, E., Cheikh Saad, B.K., Gagnon, C.A., Massie, B., Arella, M., 2007. Immune responses induced by replication-defective adenovirus expressing the Cterminal portion of the *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* P97 adhesin. Clin. Vaccine Immunol. 14, 767-774.
- Petrovska, L., Lopes, L., Simmons, C.P., Pizza, M., Dougan, G., Chain, B.M., 2003. Modulation of dendritic cell endocytosis and antigen processing pathways by *Escherichia coli* heat-labile enterotoxin and mutant derivatives. Vaccine 21, 1445-1454.
- Pinto, P.M., Chemale, G., de Castro, L.A., Costa, A.P., Kich, J.D., Vainstein, M.H., Zaha, A., Ferreira, H.B., 2007a. Proteomic survey of the pathogenic *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strain 7448 and identification of novel post-translationally modified and antigenic proteins. Vet. Microbiol. 121, 83-93.
- Pinto, P.M., de Carvalho, M.O., ves-Junior, L., Brocchi, M., Schrank, I.S., 2007b. Molecular analysis of an Integrative Conjugative Element, ICEH, present in the chromosome of different strains of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Genet. Mol. Biol. 30, 256-263.
- Pinto, P.M., Klein, C.S., Zaha, A., Ferreira, H.B., 2009. Comparative proteomic analysis of pathogenic and non-pathogenic strains from the swine pathogen *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Proteome Science 7.
- Qiao, X.Y., Li, G.W., Wang, X.Q., Li, X.J., Liu, M., Li, Y.J., 2009. Recombinant porcine rotavirus VP4 and VP4-LTB expressed in *Lactobacillus casei* induced mucosal and systemic antibody responses in mice. BMC Microbiol. 9.
- Rappuoli, R., 2001. Reverse vaccinology, a genome-based approach to vaccine development. Vaccine 19, 2688-2691.
- Razin, S., Yogev, D., Naot, Y., 1998. Molecular biology and pathogenicity of mycoplasmas. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 62, 1094-1156.
- Redondo, E., Masot, A.J., Fernandez, A., Gazquez, A., 2009. Histopathological and Immunohistochemical Findings in the Lungs of Pigs Infected Experimentally with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. J. Comp. Pathol. 140, 260-270.
- Regia Silva, S.K., Mauric Frossard, R.A., Roberto Nunes, G.P., Eliza Facioni, G.S., Lopes, P.S., Veroneze, R., Gasparino, E., 2011. Toll-Like Receptor 6 differential expression in two pig genetic groups vaccinated against *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. BMC. Proc. 5 Suppl 4, S9.
- Reynolds, S.C., St Aubin, L.B., Sabbadini, L.G., Kula, J., Vogelaar, J., Runnels, P., Peters, A.R., 2009. Reduced lung lesions in pigs challenged 25 weeks after the administration of a single dose of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* vaccine at approximately 1 week of age. Vet. J. 181, 312-320.
- Richards, C.M., Aman, A.T., Hirst, T.R., Hill, T.J., Williams, N.A., 2001. Protective mucosal immunity to ocular herpes simplex virus type 1 infection in mice by using *Escherichia coli* heat-labile enterotoxin B subunit as an adjuvant. J. Virol. 75, 1664-1671.

- Rodriguez, F., Quesada, O., Poveda, J.B., Fernandez, A., Lorenzo, H., 2007. Immunohistochemical detection of interleukin-12 and interferon-gamma in pigs experimentally infected with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. J. Comp Pathol. 136, 79-82.
- Rodriguez, F., Ramirez, G.A., Sarradell, J., Andrada, M., Lorenzo, H., 2004. Immunohistochemical labelling of cytokines in lung lesions of pigs naturally infected with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. J. Comp Pathol. 130, 306-312.
- Rottem, S., 2003. Interaction of mycoplasmas with host cells. Physiol Rev. 83, 417-432.
- Ryan, E.J., McNeela, E., Pizza, M., Rappuoli, R., O'Neill, L., Mills, K.H.G., 2000. Modulation of innate and acquired immune responses by *Escherichia coli* heat-labile toxin: Distinct pro- and anti-inflammatory effects of the nontoxic AB complex and the enzyme activity. J. Immunol. 165, 5750-5759.
- Sarradell, J., Andrada, M., Ramirez, A.S., Fernandez, A., Gomez-Villamandos, J.C., Jover, A., Lorenzo, H., Herraez, P., Rodriguez, F., 2003. A morphologic and immunohistochemical study of the bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue of pigs naturally infected with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Vet. Pathol. 40, 395-404.
- Scarselli, M., Giuliani, M.M., Adu-Bobie, J., Pizza, M., Rappuoli, R., 2005. The impact of genomics on vaccine design. Trends Biotechnol. 23, 84-91.
- Serruto, D., Rappuoli, R., 2006. Post-genomic vaccine development. FEBS Lett. 580, 2985-2992.
- Seymour, L.M., Deutscher, A.T., Jenkins, C., Kuit, T.A., Falconer, L., Minion, F.C., Crossett, B., Padula, M., Dixon, N.E., Djordjevic, S.P., Walker, M.J., 2010. A processed multidomain *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* adhesin binds fibronectin, plasminogen, and swine respiratory cilia. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 33971-33978.
- Seymour, L.M., Falconer, L., Deutscher, A.T., Minion, F.C., Padula, M.P., Dixon, N.E., Djordjevic, S.P., Walker, M.J., 2011. Mhp107 is a member of the multifunctional adhesin family of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. J. Biol. Chem 286, 10097-10104.
- Seymour, L.M., Jenkins, C., Deutscher, A.T., Raymond, B.B.A., Padula, M.P., Tacchi, J.L., Bogema, D.R., Eamens, G.J., Woolley, L.K., Dixon, N.E., Walker, M.J., Djordjevic, S.P., 2012. Mhp182 (P102) binds fibronectin and contributes to the recruitment of plasmin(ogen) to the *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* cell surface. Cell. Microbiol. 14, 81-94.
- Shimoji, Y., Oishi, E., Muneta, Y., Nosaka, H., Mori, Y., 2003. Vaccine efficacy of the attenuated *Erysipelothrix rhusiopathiae* YS-19 expressing a recombinant protein of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* P97 adhesin against mycoplasmal pneumonia of swine. Vaccine 21, 532-537.
- Sibila, M., Calsamiglia, M., Vidal, D., Badiella, L., Aldaz, A., Jensen, J.C., 2004. Dynamics of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infection in 12 farms with different production systems. Can. J. Vet. Res. 68, 12-18.

- Sibila, M., Nofrarias, M., Lopez-Soria, S., Segales, J., Valero, O., Espinal, A., Calsamiglia, M., 2007. Chronological study of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infection, seroconversion and associated lung lesions in vaccinated and non-vaccinated pigs. Vet. Microbiol. 122, 97-107.
- Sibila, M., Pieters, M., Molitor, T., Maes, D., Haesebrouck, F., Segales, J., 2009. Current perspectives on the diagnosis and epidemiology of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infection. Vet. J. 181, 221-231.
- Simecka, J.W., 2005. Immune responses following Mycoplasma infection. In: Blanchard, A., Browning, G. (Eds.), Mycoplasmas Molecular Biology Pathogenicity and Strategies for Control, pp. 485-534.
- Simionatto, S., Marchioro, S.B., Galli, V., Brum, C.B., Klein, C.S., Rebelatto, R., Silva, E.F., Borsuk, S., Conceição, F.R., Dellagostin, O.A., 2012. Immunological characterization of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* recombinant proteins. Comp. Immunol. Microb. 35, 209-216.
- Simionatto, S., Marchioro, S.B., Hartwig, D., Galli, V., Carlessi, R.M., Munari, F.M., 2010. Cloning and purification of recombinant proteins of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* expressed in *E. coli* systems. Protein Exp. Purif. 69, 132–136.
- Simionatto, S., Marchioro, S.B., Galli, V., Luerce, T.D., Hartwig, D.D., Moreira, A.N., Dellagostin, O.A., 2009. Efficient site-directed mutagenesis using an overlap extension-PCR method for expressing *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* genes in *Escherichia coli*. J. Microbiol. Methods 79, 101-105.
- Simmons, C.P., Ghaem-Magami, M., Petrovska, L., Lopes, L., Chain, B.M., Williams, N.A., Dougan, G., 2001. Immunomodulation using bacteriale enterotoxins. Scand. J. Immunol. 53, 218-226.
- Siqueira, F.M., Schrank, A., Schrank, I.S., 2011. *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* transcription unit organization: genome survey and prediction. Dna Res. 18, 413-422.
- Sorensen, V., Ahrens, P., Barfod, K., Feenstra, A.A., Feld, N.C., Friis, N.F., Bille-Hansen, V., Jensen, N.E., Pedersen, M.W., 1997. *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infection in pigs: duration of the disease and evaluation of four diagnostic assays. Vet. Microbiol. 54, 23-34.
- Soria-Guerra, R.E., Moreno-Fierros, L., Rosales-Mendoza, S., 2011. Two decades of plantbased candidate vaccines: a review of the chimeric protein approaches. Plant Cell Rep. 30, 1367-1382.
- Stakenborg, T., Vicca, J., Maes, D., Peeters, J., de, K.A., Haesebrouck, F., Butaye, P., 2006. Comparison of molecular techniques for the typing of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* isolates. J. Microbiol. Methods 66, 263-275.
- Stevens, T.L., Bossie, A., Sanders, V.M., Fernandezbotran, R., Coffman, R.L., Mosmann, T.R., Vitetta, E.S., 1988. Regulation of antibody isotype secretion by subsets of antigen-specific helper T-cells. Nature 334, 255-258.

- Strait, E.L., Madsen, M.L., Minion, F.C., Christopher-Hennings, J., Dammen, M., Jones, K.R., Thacker, E.L., 2008. Real-time PCR assays to address genetic diversity among strains of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. J. Clin. Microbiol. 46, 2491-2498.
- Suter, M., Kobisch, M., Nicolet, J., 1985. Stimulation of immunoglobulin-containing cells and isotype-specific antibody-response in experimental *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infection in specific-pathogen free pigs. Infect. Immun. 49, 615-620.
- Tajima, M., Yagihashi, T., 1982. Interaction of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* with the porcine respiratory epithelium as observed by electron-microscopy. Infect. Immun. 37, 1162-1169.
- Tajima, M., Yagihashi, T., Nunoya, T., Takeuchi, A., Ohashi, F., 1984. *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infection in pigs immunosuppressed by thymectomy and treatment with antithymocyte serum. Am. J. Vet. Res. 45, 1928-1932.
- Thacker, E.L., 2004. Diagnosis of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Anim. Health Res. Rev. 5, 317-320.
- Thacker, E.L., Halbur, P.G., Ross, R.F., Thanawongnuwech, R., Thacker, B.J., 1999. *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* potentiation of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus-induced pneumonia. J. Clin. Microbiol. 37, 620-627.
- Thacker, E.L., Minion, F.C., 2010. Mycoplasmosis. In: Zimmerman, J. (Ed.), Diseases of swine. Iowa state university press, Ames, Iowa USA, pp. 779-797.
- Thacker, E.L., Thacker, B.J., Boettcher, T.B., Jayappa, H., 1998. Comparison of antibody production, lymphocyte stimulation, and protection induced by four commercial *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* bacterins. J. Swine Health Prod. 6, 107-112.
- Thacker, E.L., Thacker, B.J., Kuhn, M., Hawkins, P.A., Waters, W.R., 2000a. Evaluation of local and systemic immune responses induced by intramuscular injection of a *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* bacterin to pigs. Am. J. Vet. Res. 61, 1384-1389.
- Thacker, E.L., Thacker, B.J., Young, T.F., Halbur, P.G., 2000b. Effect of vaccination on the potentiation of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV)-induced pneumonia by *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Vaccine 18, 1244-1252.
- Thanawongnuwech, R., Thacker, B., Halbur, P., Thacker, E.L., 2004. Increased production of proinflammatory cytokines following infection with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus and *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Clin. Diagn. Lab Immunol. 11, 901-908.
- Thanawongnuwech, R., Thacker, E.L., 2003. Interleukin-10, interleukin-12, and interferongamma levels in the respiratory tract following *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* and PRRSV infection in pigs. Viral Immunol. 16, 357-367.
- Vasconcelos, A.T., Ferreira, H.B., Bizarro, C.V., Bonatto, S.L., Carvalho, M.O., Pinto, P.M., Almeida, D.F., Almeida, L.G., Almeida, R., ves-Filho, L., Assunção, E.N., Azevedo, V.A., Bogo, M.R., Brigido, M.M., Brocchi, M., Burity, H.A., Camargo, A.A., Camargo, S.S., Carepo, M.S., Carraro, D.M., de Mattos Cascardo, J.C., Castro, L.A., Cavalcanti, G., Chemale, G., Collevatti, R.G., Cunha, C.W., Dallagiovanna, B.,

Dambros, B.P., Dellagostin, O.A., Falcão, C., Fantinatti-Garboggini, F., Felipe, M.S., Fiorentin, L., Franco, G.R., Freitas, N.S., Frias, D., Grangeiro, T.B., Grisard, E.C., Guimaraes, C.T., Hungria, M., Jardim, S.N., Krieger, M.A., Laurino, J.P., Lima, L.F., Lopes, M.I., Loreto, E.L., Madeira, H.M., Manfio, G.P., Maranhao, A.Q., Martinkovics, C.T., Medeiros, S.R., Moreira, M.A., Neiva, M., Ramalho-Neto, C.E., Nicolas, M.F., Oliveira, S.C., Paixao, R.F., Pedrosa, F.O., Pena, S.D., Pereira, M., Pereira-Ferrari, L., Piffer, I., Pinto, L.S., Potrich, D.P., Salim, A.C., Santos, F.R., Schmitt, R., Schneider, M.P., Schrank, A., Schrank, I.S., Schuck, A.F., Seuanez, H.N., Silva, D.W., Silva, R., Silva, S.C., Soares, C.M., Souza, K.R., Souza, R.C., Staats, C.C., Steffens, M.B., Teixeira, S.M., Urmenyi, T.P., Vainstein, M.H., Zuccherato, L.W., Simpson, A.J., Zaha, A., 2005. Swine and poultry pathogens: the complete genome sequences of two strains of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* and a strain of *Mycoplasma synoviae*. J. Bacteriol. 187, 5568-5577.

- Vicca, J., Maes, D., Jonker, L., de, K.A., Haesebrouck, F., 2005. Efficacy of in-feed medication with tylosin for the treatment and control of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infections. Vet. Rec. 156, 606-610.
- Vicca, J., Stakenborg, T., Maes, D., Butaye, P., Peeters, J., de, K.A., Haesebrouck, F., 2003. Evaluation of virulence of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* field isolates. Vet. Microbiol. 97, 177-190.
- Vicca, J., Stakenborg, T., Maes, D., Butaye, P., Peeters, J., de, K.A., Haesebrouck, F., 2004. In vitro susceptibilities of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* field isolates. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 48, 4470-4472.
- Villarreal, I., Meyns, T., Dewulf, J., Vranckx, K., Calus, D., Pasmans, F., Haesebrouck, F., Maes, D., 2011. The effect of vaccination on the transmission of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* in pigs under field conditions. Vet. J. 188,48-52.
- Villarreal, I., Maes, D., Vranckx, K., Calus, D., Pasmans, F., Haesebrouck, F., 2011. Effect of vaccination of pigs against experimental infection with high and low virulence *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strains. Vaccine 29, 1731-1735.
- Vranckx, K., Maes, D., Marchioro, S.B., Villarreal, I., Chiers, K., Pasmans, F., Haesebrouck, F., 2012. Vaccination reduces macrophage infiltration in bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue in pigs infected with a highly virulent *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strain. BMC Vet. Res. 8.
- Wilton, J., Jenkins, C., Cordwell, S.J., Falconer, L., Minion, F.C., Oneal, D.C., Djordjevic, M.A., Connolly, A., Barchia, I., Walker, M.J., Djordjevic, S.P., 2009. Mhp493 (P216) is a proteolytically processed, cilium and heparin binding protein of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Mol. Microbiol. 71, 566-582.
- Woolley, L.K., Fell, S., Gonsalves, J.R., Walker, M.J., Djordjevic, S.P., Jenkins, C., Eamens, G.J., 2012. Evaluation of clinical, histological and immunological changes and qPCR detection of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* in tissues during the early stages of mycoplasmal pneumonia in pigs after experimental challenge with two field isolates. Vet. Microbiol. 161, 186-195.

- Yamanaka, H., Ishibashi, D., Yamaguchi, N., Yoshikawa, D., Nakamura, R., Okimura, N., Arakawa, T., Tsuji, T., Katamine, S., Sakaguchi, S., 2006. Enhanced mucosal immunogenicity of prion protein following fusion with B subunit of *Escherichia coli* heat-labile enterotoxin. Vaccine 24, 2815-2823.
- Yang, J., Hooper, W.C., Phillips, D.J., Talkington, D.F., 2004. Cytokines in *Mycoplasma* pneumoniae infections. Cytokine Growth F. R. 15, 157-168.
- Yazawa, S., Okada, M., Ono, M., Fujii, S., Okuda, Y., Shibata, I., Kida, H., 2004. Experimental dual infection of pigs with an H1N1 swine influenza virus (A/Sw/Hok/2/81) and *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Vet. Microbiol. 98, 221-228.
- Yuki, Y., Kiyono, H., 2003. New generation of mucosal adjuvants for the induction of protective immunity. Rev. Med. Virol. 13, 293-310.
- Zhang, Q., Young, T.F., Ross, R.F., 1994. Microtiter plate adherence assay and receptor analogs for *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Infect. Immun. 62, 1616-1622.
- Zhang, Q., Young, T.F., Ross, R.F., 1995. Identification and characterization of a *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* adhesin. Infect. Immun. 63, 1013-1019.
- Zhou, W.Y., Shi, Y., Wu, C., Zhang, W.J., Mao, X.H., Guo, G., Li, H.X., Zou, Q.M., 2009. Therapeutic efficacy of a multi-epitope vaccine against *Helicobacter pylori* infection in BALB/c mice model. Vaccine 27, 5013-5019.
- Zou, H.Y., Liu, X.J., Ma, F.Y., Chen, P., Zhou, R., He, Q.G., 2011. Attenuated Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae as a bacterial vector for expression of Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae P36 gene. J. Gene Med. 13, 221-229.

CHAPTER 2.

AIMS OF THE STUDY

2. Aims of the study

Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae is the primary pathogen of enzootic pneumonia, a chronic respiratory disease that is widespread and causes major economic losses to the swine industry worldwide. Control measures include the optimization of management and housing conditions, the use of strategic medication and/or vaccination. However, the current control measures are beneficial from an economic point of view, but they do not provide a sustainable control of the disease. They cannot prevent colonization of *M. hyopneumoniae* in the respiratory tract, and do not significantly reduce the transmission of the pathogen. Also little is known about the exact mechanisms of the partial protection they induce.

The general aims of this thesis were, therefore, to assess the mode of the action of an existing commercial vaccine on the one hand and to develop and evaluate new recombinant vaccines against *M. hyopneumoniae* on the other hand, looking for more effective strategies for disease control. For development of the recombinant vaccines, two types of antigens were considered. One vaccine was based on proteins known to play a role in the adhesion and that were able to induce a partial protection against *M. hyopneumoniae* infection when evaluated individually. The other antigens were a group of transmembrane proteins (not previously characterized). The identification of these novel antigens might contribute to the development of improved vaccines.

The specific objectives were:

- 1. To analyze the systemic as well as the local mucosal immune response induced by intramuscular administration of a commercial *M. hyopneumoniae* vaccine in pigs.
- 2. To produce a recombinant chimeric protein composed of the P97R1, P42 and NrdF antigens of *M. hyopneumoniae* fused to LTB and to evaluate the capacity of this chimeric protein to induce a specific immune response in mice and pigs.
- 3. To identify, clone and characterize transmembrane proteins from *M. hyopneumoniae* which may be useful in vaccination against enzootic pneumonia.

CHAPTER 3.

EXPERIMENTAL STUDIES

3.1 Local and systemic immune responses in pigs intramuscularly injected with an inactivated *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* vaccine

3.2 Immune response induced by a recombinant chimeric protein containing Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae antigens fused to the B subunit of Escherichia coli heat labile enterotoxin LTB

3.3 Production and characterization of recombinant transmembrane proteins from *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*

CHAPTER 3.1:

Local and systemic immune responses in pigs intramuscularly injected with an inactivated *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* vaccine

Marchioro S.B.^{a d *}, Maes D.^b, Flahou B.^a, Pasmans F.^a, Del Pozo Sacristán R.^b, Vranckx K.^a, Melkebeek V.^c, Cox E.^c, Wuyts N.^e, Haesebrouck, F.^a

^aDepartment of Pathology, Bacteriology and Avian Diseases

^bDepartment of Reproduction, Obstetrics and Herd Health, Unit Porcine Health Management ^cDepartment of Virology, parasitology and immunology

Ghent University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine. Salisburylaan 133, B-9820 Merelbeke, Belgium

^d Laboratório de Biologia Molecular, Núcleo de Biotecnologia, Centro de Desenvolvimento Tecnológico, Universidade Federal de Pelotas, RS, Brazil

^ePfizer Animal Health, Hoge Wei 10, 1930 Zaventem, Belgium

Vaccine 31 (2013) 1305-1311

Abstract

The immune response induced by intramuscular administration of a commercial inactivated Mycoplasma hyopneumonie whole-cell vaccine (Suvaxyn®MH One) was investigated in conventional *M. hyopneumoniae*-free pigs. The animals were assigned randomly to two groups: non-vaccinated and vaccinated. Pigs in the vaccinated group were injected intramuscularly with the vaccine at 7 days of age, whereas non-vaccinated pigs received physiological saline solution (PBS). Pigs were euthanized and necropsied at 30, 36 and 58 days of age. Blood, bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid, spleen, lung and bronchial lymph nodes (BLN) were collected. Serum and BAL fluid were tested for the presence of antibodies by ELISA. Monomorphonuclear cells from the peripheral blood and tissues were isolated to quantify the T cell subsets by flow cytometry, and cytokine production by ELIspot and ELISA. Antibodies against M. hyopneumoniae were detected in serum of most vaccinated pigs at 30 days of age. M. hyopneumoniae specific IgG, IgM and IgA were detected in BAL fluid from vaccinated animals, but not from control animals. Significantly higher numbers of IL-12 secreting cells were observed in the lung at day 58 in the vaccinated than in the nonvaccinated group (p < 0.05). The number of IL-10 secreting cells from BLN was also higher in the vaccinated group at day 58 (p<0.05). After restimulation in vitro, lymphocytes from BLN and lungs secreted significantly higher levels of IL-12 in the vaccinated group at day 58. These results show that the vaccine induced both systemic and mucosal cellular and humoral immune responses.

Keywords: Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae; enzootic pneumonia; vaccine; immune response

Introduction

Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae (M. hyopneumoniae) is the primary pathogen of enzootic pneumonia (EP). The disease occurs worldwide and causes important economic losses to the pig industry (Maes et al., 2008). Optimization of housing and management procedures combined with vaccination are the most effective tools to control EP (Lin et al., 2003; Maes et al., 2008). The currently used vaccines consist of adjuvanted, inactivated, whole-cell preparations and have been proven to be effective in reducing the clinical symptoms and lung lesions, and in decreasing performance losses associated with *M. hyopneumoniae* infections (Maes et al., 2008). They are very frequently used worldwide in commercial pig herds.

The commercial vaccines induce specific antibodies in serum, although no direct correlation has been found between the induction of antibodies and protection against *M. hyopneumoniae* (Djordjevic et al., 1997). Some studies suggest that mucosal antibodies and cellular immune responses might be important for the control of this disease (Thacker et al., 2000).

Only in few studies the effects of vaccination on mucosal and cell mediated immunity have been evaluated. Studies on bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid and lymphocytes isolated from blood evaluated by ELIspot and ELISA showed that a commercial inactivated vaccine induces mucosal and systemic cell mediated immune response. However, the vaccination failed to induce changes in the peripheral $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ cells population (Thacker et al., 2000). In contrast, differences between vaccinated and control pigs in the percentage of these cell populations, were detected in a study performed by Kick et al. (2011). The considerable variations between published reports demonstrate that the exact mechanism of protection induced by inactivated *M. hyopneumoniae* vaccines is not known.

The aim of this study was, therefore, to analyze the systemic as well as mucosal immune responses induced by intramuscular vaccination of pigs with a commercial *M*. *hyopneumoniae* inactivated whole-cell vaccine that had previously been shown to be effective in reducing disease signs and lung lesions associated with *M. hyopneumoniae* infection (Vraa-Andersen and Christensen, 1993).

Materials and methods

Experimental design

The study was performed after approval by the Ethical Committee for Animal Experiments of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Ghent University (approval number EC2011/038). Thirty-three cross-bred healthy piglets free of *M. hyopneumoniae* and PRRSV

were used in this study. All animals were obtained from a herd that has been free of M. hyopneumoniae and PRRSV for more than 15 years based on repeated serological testing and absence of clinical symptoms and pneumonia lesions. At one week of age, blood for serology was collected from all animals. Thereafter, the piglets were randomly allocated to two different groups. At 7 days of age, 17 pigs of the vaccinated group were intramuscularly injected with 2 ml of the commercial M. hyopneumoniae vaccine Suvaxyn®MH One, Pfizer Animal Health, and 16 pigs of the control group were intramuscularly injected with 2 ml of phosphate buffered saline (PBS). The piglets were weaned at 24 days of age, transported to the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Ghent University, where they were necropsied at 30, 36 and 58 days of age. All piglets were euthanized by deep anesthesia with 0.3 ml/kg of a mixture of Xylazin (Xyl-M 2%®, VMD, Arendonk, Belgium) and Zolazepam and Tiletamine (Zoletil® 100, Virbac, Louvain la Neuve, Belgium), followed by exsanguination. At necropsy, lungs were macroscopically examined for the presence of lesions and blood and tissue samples from the spleen, the bronchial lymph nodes (BLN) and lungs were taken from all pigs. The lungs were removed and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid was collected from the right lung. Blood was collected and part of it was used for serology. The other part was mixed with heparin (1:1000) and used for isolation of peripheral blood monomorphonuclear cells (PBMCs).

Nested and quantitative PCR (qPCR) for detection of M. hyopneumoniae DNA

DNA was extracted from the BAL with the QIAGEN protocol (QIAGEN, DNeasy Blood & Tissue kit, Belgium). For detection of *M. hyopneumoniae* DNA, both a nested and qPCR were performed as described previously (Marois et al., 2010; Stark et al., 1998), in order to avoid false negative results.

Isolation of monomorphonuclear cells from blood and tissues

PBMCs were isolated by density gradient centrifugation on LymphoprepTM (Axis-Shield, Oslo, Norway). After lysis of erythrocytes in ammonium chloride (0.83%) and subsequent centrifugation, the pelleted cells were washed, resuspended in PBS with 1 mM of EDTA and counted.

After euthanasia, monomorphonuclear cells were isolated from the lungs, the BLN and the spleen. The monomorphonuclear cells were isolated by tearing the tissue apart, followed by lysis of erythrocytes with 0.15 M ammonium chloride. After centrifugation, the pelleted cells were washed, resuspended in leukocyte medium and counted (Van den Broeck et al., 1999).

Detection of M. hyopneumoniae-specific antibodies

Serum collected from the pigs at the day of vaccination and at necropsy was analysed for the presence of antibodies against *M. hyopneumoniae* using a blocking ELISA (IDEIATM *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* EIA kit, Oxoid Limited, Hampshire, UK).

To determine the isotype of *M. hyopneumoniae*-specific antibodies in serum, peroxidase labeled goat anti-porcine IgA, IgG and IgM polyclonal antibodies (Bethyl Laboratories, Texas, TX, USA) and *M. hyopneumoniae* antigen coated microtitre plates from the IDEXX Mhyo ELISA (IDEXX, Hoofddorp, The Netherlands) commercial kit were used.

Previous experiments have shown that no reaction can be detected in BAL fluid using plates from the IDEXX kit which was developed for detection of antibodies in serum, so plates were coated with Tween®20 extracted *M. hyopneumoniae* antigens (Bereiter et al., 1990). BAL fluid samples were assayed for IgG, IgM and IgA antibodies against *M. hyopneumoniae* using peroxidase labeled goat anti-porcine IgA, IgG and IgM polyclonal antibodies (Bethyl Laboratories). The BAL fluid was tested undiluted. OD at 450 nm was measured and the mean OD value of the serum from the non-vaccinated animals plus two times the standard deviation was used as cut-off value to determine the number of positive animals in the vaccinated group for each immunoglobulin. Values equal to or higher than the cut-off were considered as positive.

Determination of T cell populations in different tissues

Flow cytometry was used to quantify the T-cell subset populations (CD3⁺CD4⁺, $CD3^+CD8^+$. $CD3^{+}CD4^{+}CD8^{+}$ and $CD3^+CD4^-CD8^-$) from the **PBMCs** and monomorphonuclear cells from spleen, the BLN and lungs. Monomorphonuclear cells (1 \times 10⁶ cells) were incubated for 20 min on ice with monoclonal antibodies against CD3 (PTT3, IgG1) (Yang et al., 1996), CD4 (74-12-4, IgG2b) (Percovitz et al., 1984) and CD8 (11/295/33, IgG2a) (Saalmuller et al., 1994) (Becton Dickinson, Erembodegem, Belgium). After the wash steps, the cells were incubated with the appropriate isotype-specific FITC rat anti-mouse IgG1 (BD Pharmingen), AlexaFluor®647 goat anti-mouse IgG2a and R-phycoerythrin goat antimouse IgG2b (Invitrogen). Mouse IgG1, IgG2 and IgG2b were used as isotype controls. After each incubation step, cells were washed twice with PBS. Finally, the cells were diluted in 400 µl and analyzed using a FACSCanto flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson Immunocytometry Systems, Erembodegem, Belgium) equipped with two lasers, a 488 nm solid state laser and a 633 nm HeNe laser, and FACSDiva software. For all samples, at least 10,000 cells were counted. All data were corrected for autofluorescence as well as for unspecific bindings using isotype-matched negative controls.

Enumeration of cytokine secreting cells

The numbers of IFN-y, IL-10 and IL-12 secreting cells in PBMCs and tissue monomorphonuclear cells were determined by use of an ELIspot assay. Ninety-six well microtitre plates were coated with monoclonal antibodies against porcine IFN-y (Swine IFN-y Antibody Pair, Invitrogen, Merelbeke, Belgium), IL-10 (IL-10 Swine Antibody Pair, Invitrogen) and porcine IL12/IL23 p40 (Porcine IL-12/IL-23 p40 DuoSet, R&D Systems, MN, USA). After incubating the plates overnight at 4 °C (IFN-y, IL-10) or at room temperature (IL-12), they were washed with PBS and blocked with PBS + 1% bovine serum albumin (IFN-y) or RPMI + 10% fetal calf serum (IL-10 and IL-12) for 1 h at 37 °C (IFN-y, IL-10) or at room temperature (IL-12), followed by a second wash step. Monomorphonuclear cells (5 x 10^4 /well for IFN-y, IL-12 and 2 X 10^4 /well for IL-10) in leukocyte medium alone (no stimulation) or with *M. hyopneumoniae* antigen (10 µg/ml) were added to the wells, and plates were incubated for 20 h at 37 °C in 5% CO2. The plates were washed and subsequently, incubated for 1 h at 37 °C with detection antibody diluted in assay buffer (PBS + 0.5% BSA + 0.1% Tween @20 for IL-10 and IFN-y and PBS + 1% BSA for IL-12). After 3 washes streptavidin-HRP was added. After 1 h incubation at 37 °C, the plates were washed and the spots were developed with insoluble TMB (Sigma, Bornem, Belgium). The plates were scanned and the spots were counted using an Immunospot ELIspot reader (AID GmbH, Strassberg, Germany). Results were presented as the mean of the number of antibody secreting cells stimulated minus no stimulated per 10⁵ monomorphonuclear cells.

Secretion of IFN-y, IL-10, IL-12 and TGF- β in lymphocyte cultures

Lymphocytes collected from the PBMCs, spleen, BLN and lung were seeded in 24well microtitre plates at a concentration of 10^6 cells/ml in leukocyte medium (no stimulation), leukocyte medium with *M. hyopneumoniae* antigen (10 µg/ml) or leukocyte medium with phytohaemagglutinin (20 µg/ml) at 37 °C. Supernatant was collected after 72 h. The quantity of IFN- γ , IL-10 and IL-12 in the supernatant was measured using commercially available kits (Swine IFN- γ Antibody Pair, Invitrogen; IL-10 Swine Antibody Pair, Invitrogen and porcine IL-12/IL-23 p40 DuoSet, R&D Systems). For TGF- β , the TGF- β 1 multispecies (TGF- β 1 Multispecies Antibody Pair, Invitrogen) was used. Samples were processed according to the manufacturer's recommendations. The optical density (OD) at 450 nm was measured and the cytokine levels were quantified by the use of a standard curve.

Detection of cytokines in BAL fluid

Porcine IFN- γ (Swine IFN- γ Antibody Pair, Invitrogen), TNF- α (TNF α Swine Antibody Pair, Invitrogen), IL-1 β (Porcine IL-1 beta/IL-1F2 DuoSet, R&D Systems) and IL-6

(Porcine IL-6 DuoSet, R&D Systems) were measured in BAL fluid using commercially available immunoassay. Samples were processed according to the manufacturer's recommendations. The BAL fluid was tested undiluted. The samples reactions were measured using OD at 450 nm and quantified by the use of a standard curve.

Statistical analyses

Descriptive statistics were performed to check the normality of the variables (T cell populations, cytokines and serum immunoglobulins). In case data did not fulfil the criteria of normality, a non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA was used. Results were considered significantly different at p<0.05 (two-sided test). All analyses were performed with SPSS 19.0 for Windows (SPSS inc. Illinois, USA).

Results

Macroscopic lung lesions, nested and qPCR for detection of M. hyopneumoniae DNA

In none of the pigs lung lesions typical for *M. hyopneumoniae* infection were observed and BAL from all pigs was negative for the presence of *M. hyopneumoniae* DNA.

Detection of M. hyopneumoniae specific serum antibodies

The serological profile of the animals is given in Table 1. Five piglets from the vaccinated and three from the non-vaccinated group were positive at 7 days of age. One non-vaccinated animal remained positive until 36 days. Eleven out of seventeen and eight out of ten vaccinated pigs were positive at 30 and 58 days of age, respectively. From the age of 30 days onwards, the average optical density values significantly differed between both groups.

In the indirect ELISA, OD values for *M. hyopneumoniae*-specific IgM and IgA isotypes did not differ over time or among groups (data not shown). Results for IgG are summarized in Table 2. The OD value decreased in the non-vaccinated group (maternal immunity), whereas in the vaccinated group a decrease was observed until day 36 with a subsequent increase at day 58. The OD value of *M. hyopneumoniae*-specific IgG antibodies in the vaccinated group was higher during the study period, with significant differences at day 7 and 58.

Table 1: Results of serology in non-vaccinated pigs (PBS) and in pigs vaccinated (VACC) against *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* at 7, 30, 36 and 58 days of age. Animals were examined for the presence specific serum antibodies to *M. hyopneumoniae* using the IDEIATM *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* ELISA Kit.

	Age of pigs											
	7		30		36			58				
	PBS	VACC	p value	PBS	VACC	p value	PBS	VACC	p value	PBS	VACC	p value
Number of seropositive overall pigs	3/16	5/17	0.400	1/16	11/17	0.001	1/13	13/14	0.000	0/9	8/10	0.001
Number of seropositive necropsied pigs	_ ^a	-	-	0/3	2/3	0.400	0/4	4/4	0.029	0/9	8/10	0.001
Average OD value of sera for overall pigs	2.08 ^b (±0.21) ^c	2.05 (±0.24)	0.82	1.26 (±0.10)	0.67 (±0.12)	0.000	1.25 (±0.13)	0.47 (±0.05)	0.000	1.66 (±0.05)	0.84 (±0.19)	0.021

^a No animals were necropsied

^b Optical density at 450 nm

^c \pm Standard deviation

Table 2: *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*-specific IgG antibody response (mean $OD_{670nm} \pm$ standard error of the mean) in the serum at different time-points in the non-vaccinated (PBS) and vaccinated (VACC) pigs. At 7 days of age, pigs were injected intramuscularly with either PBS (n=16) or a commercial M. hyopneumoniae inactivated whole cell vaccine (n=17).

Age of the pigs (days)	PBS	VACC	p value
7	0.35 ± 0.07	0.47 ± 0.08	0.015
30	0.26 ± 0.09	0.43 ± 0.14	0.275
36	0.21 ± 0.03	0.26 ± 0.02	0.248
58	0.18 ± 0.01	0.48 ± 0.06	0.001

Determination of T cell populations in different tissues

The T-cell subset populations detected in blood, spleen, BLN and lung tissue are shown in Table 3. There were no statistically significant differences in percentage of lymphocytes subsets between groups at any time evaluated. We did detect a higher percentage of single positive CD8⁺ in the vaccinated group at 30 days. On the other hand, the percentage of CD4⁺ cells was higher in the non-vaccinated group, with a numeric difference in the cells from the BLN (p=0.05), with a CD4⁺/CD8⁺ ratio of 3.97 and 2.78 in the non-vaccinated and vaccinated group, respectively, at 30 days. The CD4⁺/CD8⁺ ratio at 30 days of age was higher than 1 in all tissues, and there was a decrease of this ratio in the lung tissue at 58 days of age in both groups. Regarding the CD4⁺CD8⁺ cells, a numeric difference was observed (p=0.05) in the BLN at 30 days of age, with a higher percentage of cells in the vaccinated group.

Tissue	, •	30 days of age		58 days of age					
	PBS (n=3)	VACC (n=3)	p value	PBS (n=6)	VACC (n=5)	p value			
$CD4^+$									
Blood	$39.6\pm~5.3$	33.9 ± 7.2	0.513	44.5 ± 4.8	33.0 ± 5.7	0.088			
Spleen	32.0 ± 3.9	31.4 ± 1.5	0.827	31.9 ± 3.1	32.8 ± 1.3	0.749			
BLN	65.5 ± 1.1	58.9 ± 0.4	0.05	64.3 ± 4.7	61.2 ± 2.9	0.153			
Lung	39.6 ± 4.5	$39.5\pm~3.6$	0.827	22.3 ± 3.9	21.5 ± 1.9	0.806			
$CD8^+$									
Blood	$15.7\pm~2.5$	17.3 ± 4.9	0.827	16.9 ± 4.5	$20.6\pm~2.3$	0.394			
Spleen	24.4 ± 4.4	25.7 ± 1.1	0.513	32.0 ± 6.4	26.0 ± 1.3	0.336			
BLN	16.5 ± 1.8	21.2 ± 1.3	0.127	17.4 ± 1.8	16.4 ± 0.9	0.886			
Lung	19.8 ± 1.9	$25.1\pm~2.5$	0.275	34.3 ± 6.8	37.6 ± 4.9	0.624			
$CD4^+CD8^+$									
Blood	7.4 ± 0.2	$6.9\pm~0.7$	0.658	3.5 ± 1.8	3.1 ± 0.8	0.100			
Spleen	17.4 ± 3.9	19.5 ± 2.2	0.513	10.7 ± 2.8	14.8 ± 2.1	0.336			
BLN	8.6 ± 0.6	13.3 ± 1.9	0.05	12.2 ± 2.9	17.1 ± 3.8	0.475			
Lung	16.4 ± 4.5	12.8 ± 0.1	0.513	9.7 ± 5.1	6.5 ± 0.4	1.000			
CD4 ⁻ CD8 ⁻									
Blood	37.3 ± 2.8	41.9 ± 9.3	0.827	35.0 ± 9.5	42.2 ± 4.4	0.454			
Spleen	26.2 ± 1.7	23.4 ± 4.7	0.827	25.4 ± 3.3	26.4 ± 2.5	0.745			
BLN	9.5 ± 5.0	6.7 ± 0.9	0.127	6.1 ± 1.2	5.3 ± 0.7	0.668			
Lung	24.1 ± 2.6	22.7 ± 5.7	0.827	33.1 ± 7.9	$34.4\pm~4.0$	0.806			

Table 3: Mean percentage \pm standard error of the mean of T-cell subset populations per 10⁶ cells from the blood, spleen, bronchial lymph nodes (BLN) and lung, from the non-vaccinated (PBS) and vaccinated (VACC) pigs, assessed using flow cytometry.

IFN-y, IL-10 and IL-12 secreting cells

The number of *M. hyopneumoniae*-specific IFN- γ , IL-10 and IL-12 secreting cells is shown in Table 4. A significantly higher number of IL-12 secreting cells was observed in the lung at 58 days of age, and a numeric difference in the spleen at 30 days of age (*p*=0.05) in the vaccinated group. In the BLN, a significantly lower number of IFN- γ secreting cells was observed in the vaccinated than in the non-vaccinated group at 36 days and a significantly higher number of IL-10 secreting cells in the vaccinated group at 58 days.

IFN-γ, IL-10, IL-12 and TGF-β secretion in lymphocyte cultures

IFN- γ , IL-10, IL-12 and TGF- β concentrations in supernatant of lymphocytes isolated from blood, spleen, BLN and lung is shown in Table 5. Significantly higher amounts of IL-12 were obtained from BLN and lungs in the vaccinated group at 58 days of age. Not significant differences for IFN- γ , IL-10 and TGF- β , were observed. However, higher amounts of IL-10, statistically not significant, were detected in the BLN from the vaccinated group at all time points evaluated.

M. hyopneumoniae-specific IgG, IgM and IgA in BAL fluid

The three isotypes were detected in BAL fluid of vaccinated animals. *M. hyopneumoniae* specific IgM antibodies were detected at day 30 in all animals necropsied from the vaccinated group. For IgG, three out of 10 animals were positive at day 58 in the vaccinated group. In contrast, specific anti-*M. hyopneumoniae* IgA antibodies were detected at each time point in the vaccinated animals, with two out of three positive animals at day 30, four out four at day 36 and six out of ten animals at day 58. For isotypes and time points specified as above, a statistically significant difference (p<0.05) was observed between control and vaccinated animals when analysing OD values.

IFN-γ, TNF-α, IL-1β and IL-6 concentrations in BAL fluid

For IFN- γ at 30 days of age a significantly higher concentration was detected (p=0.046) in BAL fluid of the vaccinated group (Fig. 1a). For TNF α , a significantly higher concentration was measured at day 36 (p=0.040) in the vaccinated group, but the overall TNF- α concentration was quite similar between both groups over the study period (Fig. 1b). IL-1 β and IL-6 (Fig. 1c and 1d) were detected at low levels in the vaccinated group, with a significant difference at day 36 for IL-1 β (p=0.043).

Table 4: Mean number of IFN- γ , IL-10 and IL-12 secreting cells per 10⁵ monomorphonuclear cells \pm standard error of the mean in blood, spleen, bronchial lymph nodes (BLN) and lung from the non-vaccinated (PBS) and vaccinated (VACC) pigs at different time points measured by ELIspot.

30 days of age			36 days	of age	58 days of age				
	PBS (n=3)	VACC (n=3)	p value	PBS (n=4)	VACC (n=4)	p value	PBS (n=7)	VACC (n=8)	p value
IFN-y									
Blood	0.6 ± 0.6	5.0 ± 3.7	0.178	3.0 ± 2.1	1.3 ± 0.6	0.881	7.9 ± 3.7	12.3 ± 4.6	0.409
Spleen	0.0 ± 0.0	7.6 ± 3.9	0.246	11.0 ± 11.0	17.3 ± 5.5	0.237	8.7 ± 5.6	15.0 ± 9.3	0.676
BLN	0.0 ± 0.0	0.3 ± 0.1	0.246	6.5 ± 4.3	0.0 ± 0.0	0.047	3.2 ± 1.8	9.6 ± 4.8	0.127
Lung	1.2 ± 0.6	0.5 ± 0.2	0.275	5.7 ± 2.1	0.7 ± 0.5	0.137	0.1 ± 0.1	2.1 ± 1.1	0.055
IL-10									
Blood	217.3 ± 17.9	252.3 ± 50.6	0.513	250.0 ± 170.9	106.3 ± 40.1	0.885	320.4 ± 105.7	390.6 ± 83.7	0.353
Spleen	129.7 ± 50.6	95.3 ± 24.3	0.513	136.3 ± 49.7	118.8 ± 40.9	0.885	248.9 ± 91.1	161.6 ± 53.7	0.441
BLN	6.7 ± 6.7	3.0 ± 2.1	0.817	6.3 ± 2.6	2.5 ± 1.4	0.225	0.4 ± 1.9	$10.0\pm~6.0$	0.031
Lung	39.7 ± 20.0	60.3 ± 19.9	0.275	123.8 ± 49.9	191.3 ± 58.3	0.248	91.1 ± 26.3	173.8 ± 43.8	0.132
IL-12									
Blood	0.4 ± 0.2	0.3 ± 0.18	0.637	0.3 ± 0.3	0.0 ± 0.0	0.317	12.9 ± 7.0	11.6 ± 3.9	0.723
Spleen	0.3 ± 0.2	5.3 ± 2.64	0.050	9.0 ± 2.8	12.3 ± 4.9	0.663	34.6 ± 14.8	23.9 ± 8.9	0.350
BLN	0.0 ± 0.0	0.13 ± 0.13	0.317	$1.0\pm~0.6$	0.8 ± 0.3	0.760	$7.3 \pm 3.$	7.0 ± 2.7	0.770
Lung	0.1 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.03	0.346	1.8 ± 1.2	1.5 ± 1.5	0.741	2.3 ± 1.6	8.0 ± 2.6	0.036

Table 5: Mean IFN- γ , IL-10, IL-12 and TGF- β concentration \pm SEM (pg/ml) in lymphocyte cultures from blood, spleen, bronchial lymph nodes (BLN) and lungs in the non-vaccinated (PBS) and vaccinated (VACC) pigs at different time points measured by ELISA.

	Day 30				Day36	Day 58			
	PBS (n=3)	VACC (n=3)	p value	PBS (n=4)	VACC (n=4)	p value	PBS (n=7)	VACC (n=8)	p value
IFN-y									
Blood	81.1 ± 5.4	72.9 ± 20.4	0.513	141.2 ± 36.0	103.5 ± 32.1	0.149	101.9 ± 7.1	103.2 ± 4.9	0.817
Spleen	65.3 ± 4.8	102.8 ± 16.6	0.127	151.0 ± 54.1	142.3 ± 48.4	0.100	102.1 ± 8.6	105.8 ± 8.1	0.817
BLN	$142.6\pm~9.2$	126.4 ± 6.4	0.275	135.6 ± 39.6	130.9 ± 39.3	0.564	100.3 ± 6.8	104.7 ± 7.4	0.817
Lung	77.1 ± 13.5	73.7 ± 11.6	0.827	154.0 ± 48.4	111.3 ± 43.4	0.248	93.9 ± 5.2	105.9 ± 6.2	0.083
IL-10									
Blood	1196.3 ± 75.1	1463.8 ± 300.3	0.513	1398.0 ± 122.9	1346.0 ± 23.3	0.773	1455.1 ± 188.3	133.1 ± 137.9	0.817
Spleen	2002.3 ± 837.6	2957.7 ± 295.8	0.275	1371.3 ± 215.8	1358.8 ± 63.2	0.773	1475.3 ± 203.4	1669.1 ± 119.2	0.563
BLN	499.0 ± 85.7	902.3 ± 247.2	0.127	527.8 ± 117.7	547.3 ± 119.1	0.564	489.4 ± 123.4	617.1 ± 94.0	0.298
Lung	900.0 ± 257.0	960.3 ± 161.5	0.827	1238.8 ± 219.0	1042.0 ± 112.2	0.248	904.3 ± 124.9	944.25 ± 115.10	0.728
IL-12									
Blood	102.3 ± 51.9	55.3 ± 35.3	0.376	170.3 ± 116.4	278.0 ± 180.5	0.758	232.3 ± 93.2	178.0 ± 75.6	0.550
Spleen	1933.7 ± 641.9	1807.7 ± 788.1	0.827	1345.8 ± 212.7	3367.5 ± 2015.0	0.564	1539.1 ± 422.5	2532.4 ± 338.8	0.132
BLN	0.0	801.3 ± 737.8	0.121	590.0 ± 276.8	452.0 ± 285.2	0.663	472.7 ± 230.1	1196.0 ± 210.7	0.028
Lung	268.7 ± 77.4	541.30 ± 185.0	0.275	155.0 ± 54.9	337.8 ± 129.3	0.191	255.9 ± 83.5	702.4 ± 119.9	0.018
TGF-β									
Blood	308.0 ± 252.2	405.7 ± 225.0	0.275	266.8 ± 38.9	481.0 ± 150.4	0.149	709.0 ± 102.9	447.1 ± 119.4	0.105
Spleen	239.3 ± 125.6	152.7 ± 55.4	0.513	263.0 ± 121.3	56.0 ± 33.7	0.081	252.9 ± 142.7	304.0 ± 169.9	0.896
BLN	63.3 ± 32.2	158.0 ± 51.0	0.275	296.8 ± 85.2	429.0 ± 130.7	0.386	737.0 ± 152.5	416.0 ± 123.6	0.064
Lung	343.0 ± 214.1	465.7 ± 136.0	0.513	252.3 ± 100.5	259.3 ± 188.7	0.564	364.0 ± 194.0	382.9 ± 151.5	0.858
e									



Figure 1: Mean (and SE) of IFN- γ (A), TNF- α (B), IL-1 β (C) and IL-6 (D) secretion in BAL fluid measured by ELISA (OD_{450nm}) from the non-vaccinated (PBS) and vaccinated (VACC) pigs, at the different time points. Pigs were vaccinated at 7days of age with a commercial *M*. *hyopneumoniae* inactivated whole cell vaccine.

Discussion

As expected, vaccination with the current bacterin induced the production of serum antibodies against *M. hyopneumoniae*. Almost 70% of the pigs were positive within three weeks after vaccination and 80% of the animals were positive at the end of the study. These results are in agreement with other studies (Sibila et al., 2007; Villarreal et al., 2011) where one-shot vaccination at 7 days of age induced seroconversion by the 25th day of age. However, previous challenge experiments showed that the concentration of serum antibodies is not directly related to protection against *M. hyopneumoniae* infections (Djordjevic et al., 1997; Thacker et al., 1998).

Studies carried out in vaccinated (Borghetti et al., 2006; Kick et al., 2011) and non-vaccinated pigs (Stepanova et al., 2007) showed that different T cell subsets may be present in the peripheral blood and secondary lymphoid tissues. Our results were partially consistent with these reports, with an increase of the percentage of CD8⁺ T cells with increasing age in both groups and in all tissues (except in the BLN of vaccinated group). Previous reports also showed a decrease of CD4⁺ and an increase in the percentage of CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells with increasing age (Borghetti et al., 2006; Kick et al., 2011). In our studies, this decreased percentage of CD4⁺ cells was seen in lung tissue and an increased percentage of CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells with the BLN.

In most tissues the percentage of $CD8^+T$ cells was highest in the vaccinated group and at day 58, the percentage of $CD8^+$ cells prevailed over $CD4^+$ cells in the lung tissue. $CD8^+T$ cells may modulate the inflammatory response through the production of IFN- γ and other cytokines, minimizing damage due to the $CD4^+T$ (Th) cell mediated inflammatory responses (Jone and Simecka, 2003). This might be one of the reasons why vaccinated animals develop less severe clinical symptoms and lung lesions after challenge with *M. hyopneumoniae* (Meyns et al., 2006; Villarreal et al., 2011).

At 58 days of age, a significantly higher number of IL-10 secreting cells was detected in the BLN tissue of the vaccinated animals. Since IL-10 has an anti-proliferative effect, that can prevent the pathological effects of the inflammatory cytokines (Conti et al., 2003), this may also play a role in the reduction of lung tissue damage after infection of vaccinated animals which has been described in several studies (Meyns et al., 2006; Villarreal et al., 2011). Induction of IL-10 secretion by vaccination may also result in a lower influx of macrophages in the bronchoalveolar lymphoid tissue in vaccinated pigs compared to nonvaccinated animals, after experimental infection with *M. hyopneumoniae*, as described by Vranckx et al. (2012). To evaluate the specific *M. hyopneumoniae* cell-mediated immune response induced by vaccination, ELISA and ELIspot were performed to quantify IFN- γ , IL-10 and IL-12 cytokines and cytokines producing cells. Vaccinated pigs showed significantly higher amounts of IL-12 in BLN and lung tissues. Production of IL-12 by macrophages and B cells has been demonstrated to be important in the induction of a Th1 immune response (Yang et al., 2004). Furthermore, this cytokine stimulates IFN- γ production and enhances CD8⁺ cytotoxicity, both contributing to maintaining the cell mediated immunity (Park and Scott, 2001). Indeed, at day 58, the number of IFN- γ secreting cells was numerically higher (*p*=0.055) in the lungs, and significantly higher in the BAL fluid of the vaccinated group at day 30, indicating that the vaccine also induced a local cellular immune response.

The highest concentrations of IL-1 β and IL-6 were detected in the BAL fluid of the non-vaccinated group, with a significantly higher value at day 36 for IL-1 β . This may suggest a regulatory effect of the vaccine in the release of these cytokines. Increased levels of IL1 and IL6 were indeed observed in BAL fluid of *M. hyopneumoniae* infected pigs (Choi et al., 2006; Thacker et al., 2000) and excessive levels of these cytokines have been associated with tissue damage and even death of the host (Asai et al., 1993; Okada et al., 2000).

In the present study, vaccination was able to stimulate IgG, IgM and IgA specific *M*. *hyopneumoniae* antibodies in the BAL fluid. IgA specific antibodies were detected at all time points investigated. Specific antibodies in the BAL fluid may play an important role in protection against *M. hyopneumoniae* infections (Thacker et al., 2000). *M. hyopneumoniae* is a mucosal pathogen that adheres to the ciliated epithelial cells of the respiratory tract. Local IgA secretion prevents the adhesion of mycoplasmas to the ciliated epithelium, and IgG enhances their phagocytosis by alveolar macrophages (Sheldrake et al., 1990).

In conclusion, the present study documented that the vaccine induced both local and systemic immune responses involving both specific antibodies and cellular immunity. Further studies are necessary to determine the role of these components of the host immune response in protection induced by the vaccine.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors state they have no conflict of interest. The study was funded by Pfizer Animal Health, manufacturer of the vaccine used in this study. Wuyts N. is employee of Pfizer Animal Health.
Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Hanne Vereecke and Ian Nanjiani, for all the help and effort dedicated to the project. S.B.M received scholarship from Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES).

References

- Asai, T., Okada, M., Ono, M., Irisawa, T., Mori, Y., Yokomizo, Y., Sato, S., 1993. Increased levels of tumor necrosis factor and interleukin 1 in bronchoalveolar lavage fluids from pigs infected with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 38, 253-260.
- Bereiter, M., Young, T.F., Joo, H.S., Ross, R.F., 1990. Evaluation of the ELISA and comparison to the complement-fixation test and radial immunodiffusion enzyme assay for detection of antibodies against *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* in swine serum. Vet. Microbiol. 25, 177-192.
- Borghetti, P., De Angelis, E., Saleri, R., Cavalli, V., Cacchioli, A., Corradi, A., Mocchegiani, E., Martelli, P., 2006. Peripheral T lymphocyte changes in neonatal piglets: Relationship with growth hormone (GH), prolactin (PRL) and cortisol changes. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 110, 17-25.
- Choi, C., Kwon, D., Jung, K., Ha, Y., Lee, Y.H., Kim, O., Park, H.K., Kimt, S.H., Hwang, K.K., Chae, C., 2006. Expression of inflammatory cytokines in pigs experimentally infected with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. J. Comp. Pathol. 134, 40-46.
- Conti, P., Kempuraj, D., Kandere, K., Di Gioacchino, M., Barbacane, R.C., Castellani, M.L., Felaco, M., Boucher, W., Letourneau, R., Theoharides, T.C., 2003. IL-10, an inflammatory/inhibitory cytokine, but not always. Immunol. Lett. 86, 123-129.
- Djordjevic, S.P., Eamens, G.J., Romalis, L.F., Nicholls, P.J., Taylor, V., Chin, J., 1997. Serum and mucosal antibody responses and protection in pigs vaccinated against *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* with vaccines containing a denatured membrane antigen pool and adjuvant. Aust.Vet. J. 75, 504-511.
- Jones, H.P., Simecka, J.W., 2003. T lymphocyte responses are critical determinants in the pathogenesis and resistance to Mycoplasma respiratory disease. Front. Biosc. 8, 930-945.
- Kick, A.R., Tompkins, M.B., Mark, H.J., Routh, P.A., Almond, G.W., 2011. Evaluation of peripheral lymphocytes after weaning and vaccination for *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Res. Vet. Sci. 91, 68-72.
- Lin J.H., Weng C.N., Liao C.W., Yeh K.S., Pan M.J., 2003. Protective effects of oral microencapsulated *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* vaccine prepared by co-spray drying method. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 65, 69-74.
- Maes, D., Segales, J., Meyns, T., Sibila, M., Pieters, M., Haesebrouck, F., 2008. Control of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infections in pigs. Vet. Microbiol. 126, 297-309.
- Marois, C., Dory, D., Fablet, C., Madec, F., Kobisch, M., 2010. Development of a quantitative Real-Time TaqMan PCR assay for determination of the minimal dose of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strain 116 required to induce pneumonia in SPF pigs. J. Appl. Microbiol. 108, 1523-1533.

- Meyns, T., Dewulf, J., de, K.A., Calus, D., Haesebrouck, F., Maes, D., 2006. Comparison of transmission of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* in vaccinated and non-vaccinated populations. Vaccine 24, 7081-7086.
- Okada, M., Asai, T., Ono, M., Sakano, T., Sato, S., 2000. Cytological and immunological changes in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and histological observation of lung lesions in pigs immunized with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* inactivated vaccine prepared from broth culture supernate. Vaccine 18, 2825-2831.
- Park, A.Y., Scott, P.,2001. IL-12: Keeping cell-mediated immunity alive. Scand. J. Immunol. 53, 529-532.
- Pescovitz, M.D., Lunney, J.K., Sachs, D.H., 1984. Preparation and characterization of monoclonal-antibodies reactive with porcine Pbl. J. Immunol. 133, 368-375.Stark, K.D., Nicolet, J., Frey, J., 1998. Detection of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* by air sampling with a nested PCR assay. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64, 543-548.
- Saalmuller, A., Aasted, B., Canals, A., Dominguez, J., Goldman, T., Lunney, J.K., Maurer, S., Pescovitz, M.D., Pospisil, R., Salmon, H., Trebichavsky I., Valpotic, I., Vizcaino, J.S., Zuckermann, F., 1994. Analyses of Mab Reactive with Porcine Cd8. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 43, 249-254.
- Sheldrake, R.F., Gardner, I.A., Saunders, M.M., Romalis, L.F., 1990. Serum antibodyresponse to *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* measured by enzyme-linkedimmunosorbent-assay after experimental and natural infection of pigs. Aust. Vet. J. 67, 39-42.
- Sibila, M., Nofrarias, M., Lopez-Soria, S., Segales, J., Valero, O., Espinal, A., Calsamiglia, M., 2007. Chronological study of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infection, seroconversion and associated lung lesions in vaccinated and non-vaccinated pigs. Vet. Microbiol. 122, 97-107.
- Stepanova, H., Samankova, P., Leva, L., Sinkora, J., Faldyna, M., 2007. Early postnatal development of the immune system in piglets: The redistribution of T lymphocyte subsets. Cell. Immunol. 249, 73-79.
- Thacker, E.L., Thacker, B.J., Kuhn, M., Hawkins, P.A., Waters, W.R., 2000. Evaluation of local and systemic immune responses induced by intramuscular injection of a *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* bacterin to pigs. Am. J. Vet. Res. 61, 1384-1389.
- Thacker, E.L., Thacker, B.J., Boettcher, T.B., Jayappa, H., 1998. Comparison of antibody production, lymphocyte stimulation, and protection induced by four commercial *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* bacterins. J. Swine Health Prod. 6, 107-112.
- Van den Broeck, W., Cox, E., Goddeeris, B.M. 1999. Induction of immune responses in pigs following oral administration of purified F4 fimbriae. Vaccine 17, 2020–2029.
- Villarreal, I., Maes, D., Vranckx, K., Calus, D., Pasmans, F., Haesebrouck, F., 2011. Effect of vaccination of pigs against experimental infection with high and low virulence *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strains. Vaccine 29, 1731-1735.

- Vraa-Andersen, L., Christensen, G., 1993. Mycoplasma induced pneumonia in pigs (enzootic pneumonia). A clinical trial of the vaccine Suvaxyn M. hyo. Dansk Vet Tidsskr. 76,129-32.
- Vranckx, K., Maes, D., Marchioro, S.B., Villarreal, I., Chiers, K., Pasmans, F., Haesebrouck, F., 2012. Vaccination reduces macrophage infiltration in bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue in pigs infected with a highly virulent *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strain. BMC Vet. Res. 8.
- Yang, H., Oura, C.A.L., Kirkham, P.A., Parkhouse, R.M.E., 1996. Preparation of monoclonal anti-porcine CD3 antibodies and preliminary characterization of porcine T lymphocytes. Immunology 88, 577-585.
- Yang, J., Hooper, W.C., Phillips, D.J., Talkington, D.F., 2004. Cytokines in *Mycoplasma* pneumoniae infections. Cytokine Growth F. R. 15, 157-168.

CHAPTER 3.2:

Immune response induced by a recombinant chimeric protein containing *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* antigens fused to the B subunit of Escherichia coli heat labile enterotoxin LTB

S.B. Marchioro^{a,c}; A. Fisch^c; C.K. Gomes^c; D. Maes^b; O. Dellagostin^c; F.R. Conceição^c;

^aDepartment of Pathology, Bacteriology and Avian Diseases ^bUnit of Porcine Health Management, Department of Reproduction, Obstetrics and Herd Health Ghent University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine. Salisburylaan 133, B-9820 Merelbeke, Belgium. ^cNúcleo de Biotecnologia, Centro de Desenvolvimento Tecnológico, Universidade Federal de Pelotas, RS, Brazil ^{*} Corresponding author.

Silvana Beutinger Marchioro

Núcleo de Biotecnologia, Centro de Desenvolvimento Tecnológico, Universidade Federal de

Pelotas, RS, Brazil

E-mail address: silmarchioro@hotmail.com

Clinical and Vaccine Immunology, Submitted

Abstract

Multi-antigen chimera with three antigens of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* (R1, P42 and NrdF) and the mucosal adjuvant *Escherichia coli* heat labile enterotoxin B subunit (LTB) was constructed, and its antigenic and immunogenic properties were evaluated in mice and pigs. In addition, we compared the effect of the fusion and co-administration of these proteins. Antibodies against each subunit recognized the chimeric protein. Intranasal and intramuscular immunization of mice with the chimeric protein significantly increased the levels of mice IgG and IgA, in serum and tracheobronchial lavages, respectively. Swine immunized with the chimeric protein developed an immune response against all *M. hyopneumoniae* antigens present in the fusion with statistically significant difference (p<0.05). The adjuvant rLTB stimulated the immune response in both, fused and co-administered antigens, with better results with the chimeric protein. This multi-antigen is a promising vaccine candidate that may help to control *M. hyopneumoniae* infection.

Keywords: Fused protein, swine enzootic pneumonia, adjuvant, bacterial enterotoxins

Introduction

Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae, the primary pathogen of enzootic pneumonia (EP), occurs worldwide and causes major economic losses to the pig industry (Thacker and Minion, 2010). Vaccination combined with hygiene and management procedures is the most effective way to control the disease (Maes et al., 2008). The current commercial vaccines consist of whole-cell adjuvanted formulations, and provide only partial protection. They do not prevent colonization of *M. hyopneumoniae* in the respiratory tract, do not significantly reduce transmission, and are costly to produce (Haesebrouck et al., 2004).

Major efforts have been made towards the development of improved vaccines using diverse strategies, mainly through the use of subunit vaccines, rather than those based on whole bacterial cells. Subunit vaccines are considerably safer, more specific, with less adverse reactions and with the possibility of large scale production of recombinant proteins by biotechnological process (Soria-Guerra et al., 2011). They can also be easily manipulated and administered to the animal through various routes such as oral, nasal, intramuscular, or subcutaneous. In addition, potentially multiple antigens can be delivered at the same time in a single dose of immunization as chimeric proteins (Liljeqvist and Stahl, 1999). Chimeric proteins carrying epitopes from different pathogens, linkers, or adjuvant sequences offer an increased immunogenicity of recombinant antigens, and can also elicit a broad cellular and/or humoral immune response (Berzofsky et al., 2001).

Considering that genetically engineered vaccines composed of a single recombinant antigen are poorly immunogenic, it is important to increase their immunogenicity by combining with appropriate adjuvants (Soria-Guerra et al., 2011). One strategy has been to employ bacterial enterotoxins such as cholera toxin (CT) from Vibrio cholera or the related subunit B of heat-labile enterotoxin of *Escherichia coli* (LTB). These have been shown to be highly immunogenic, demonstrate potent immunomodulatory activity with a range of antigens either fused or co-administered to them, in different animal models, enhance immunogenicity as well as to confer protective efficacy (Conceição et al., 2006; da Hora et al., 2011; Grassmann et al., 2012; Qiao et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2009). They are considered as potent mucosal and parenteral adjuvants (Cox et al., 2006; da Hora et al., 2011; Simmons et al., 2001), which have been demonstrated to enhance mucosal immunoglobulin A (IgA) as well as systemic antibody responses.

The reverse vaccinology approach revealed that several *M. hyopneumoniae* antigens might be potential candidates to be included in subunit vaccines (Fagan et al., 2001; Marchioro et al., 2012; Ogawa et al., 2010; Okamba et al., 2010; Okamba et al., 2007;

Shimoji et al., 2003; Simionatto et al., 2012). Some of these antigens include the P97 adhesin and its C-terminal region (P97R1) which plays a role in adherence of the pathogen to the respiratory tract of the host, the ribonucleotide reductase (NrdF) and the heat shock protein P42. P97 (Shimoji et al., 2003), P97R1 (Ogawa et al., 2010; Okamba et al., 2010) and NrdF (Fagan et al., 2001) have been investigated as single antigens in different vaccine formulations. Some of these formulations (P97 and Nrdf) were able to induce specific immune responses in pigs (Fagan et al., 2001; Shimoji et al., 2003), but provided only limited protection against pulmonary lesions caused by *M. hyopneumoniae* infection. However, improved strategies for efficient antigen presentation and immune responses are still needed to increase protective immunity against infection.

The aims of the present study were (i) to produce a recombinant chimeric protein composed of the P97R1, P42 and NrdF antigens of *M. hyopneumoniae* fused to LTB, (ii) to evaluate the capacity of this chimeric protein to induce a specific immune response in mice and pigs and (iii) to compare the effect of the fusion and co-administration of these proteins as well as the adjuvant effect of LTB.

Materials and methods

Bacterial strains and growth conditions

Escherichia coli TOP 10 (Invitrogen) and BL21 (DE3) RIL (Stratagene) were grown in Luria Bertani (LB) medium supplemented with ampicillin (100 μ g.ml⁻¹), as required, and incubated in shaker at 37 °C and 200 rpm.

Plasmids, DNA procedures and electrotransformation

The plasmids encoding the gene p42, nrdf and p97(r1) of M. hyopneumoniae strain 7448 (GenBank accession number NC007332) and the *ltb* of *E. coli* were cloned in our laboratory as previously described (Conceição et al., 2006; Simionatto et al., 2010). A synthetic chimeric gene encoding the *E. coli ltb*, the R1 repeat region of p97 (r1), the C-terminal portion of heat shock protein gene p42 and the ribonucleotide reductase nrdF of M. hyopneumoniae was obtained from Epoch Life Science (Texas, US). The sequence encoding the chimeric gene was provided with restriction sites necessary for further cloning step in *E. coli* expression vector - pAE (Ramos et al., 2004). The chimeric gene was excised from the pUC18 plasmid provided by Epoch Life Science using the *Bam*HI and *Kpn*I restriction enzymes and cloned into corresponding sites of pAE *E. coli* expression vector. *E. coli* Top 10 competent cells were transformed by electroporation with ligation products as described by Sambrook and Russel (2001). Recombinant clones were selected and plasmid DNA was

extracted and characterized by digestion with restriction enzymes and DNA sequencing using a MegaBACE 500 DNA sequencer and the Dynamic ET-terminator technology (GEHealthcare).

Expression, solubility testing and purification of recombinant proteins

The recombinant vectors pAE/ltb, pAE/p42, pAE/nrdF, pET/r1, and pAE/ltbr1p42nrdF were used to transform *E. coli* BL21 (DE3) Ril. The 6X His-tagged recombinant LTB (rLTB), recombinant P42 (rP42), recombinant NrdF (rNrdF), recombinant R1 (rR1) and recombinant chimeric protein (rLTBR1P42NrdF) were expressed and purified by affinity chromatography as previously described (Marchioro et al., 2012; Simionatto et al., 2010). Fractions containing recombinant proteins were identified by SDS-PAGE and quantified by BCATM Protein Assay (Pierce) following the manufacturer's instructions.

Characterization of the recombinant chimeric protein by Western blot

Purified recombinant proteins rLTB, rR1, rP42, rNrdF and chimeric protein rLTBR1P42NrdF were applied to 12% SDS-PAGE and electro-transferred on a nitrocellulose membrane for characterization by Western blot analysis as described elsewhere (Simionatto et al., 2010). The antibodies and dilutions used were: monoclonal anti-R1 (1:4000), polyclonal anti-P42 (1:100), polyclonal anti-NrdF (1:100) or polyclonal anti-LTB (1:100) and a HRP-conjugate goat anti-mouse (Sigma Aldrich) diluted 1:6000.

The ability of rLTBR1P42NrdF to bind to GM1-ganglioside was determined by an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) as previously described (Grassmann et al., 2012), using the following antibodies and dilutions: monoclonal anti-R1 (1:4000), polyclonal anti-P42 (1:100), polyclonal anti-NrdF (1:100) or rabbit IgG anti-cholera toxin (1:6000) followed by a goat IgG anti-mouse or anti-rabbit IgG peroxidase conjugated diluted 1:6000. Wells with GM1 but without proteins and wells without GM1 but with proteins were used as controls.

Immunogenicity in mice

Animal experiments were carried out according to the guidelines of the Ethical Committee in Animal Experimentation of the Federal University of Pelotas. Female BALB/c mice aged 7 to 8 weeks were used in the experiment. Eight groups of mice with eight animals each were inoculated intramuscularly (IM) and or intranasally (IN) on days 0, 15 and 30 with 20 µg of recombinant proteins as follow: (1) rLTB IN; (2) rLTB IM; (3) rLTBR1P42NrdF (chimeric protein) IN; (4) rLTBR1P42NrdF IM; (5) rR1+rP42+rNrdF+ rLTB (co-administered proteins with adjuvant) IN; (6) rR1+rP42+rNrdF+ rLTB IM; (7) rR1+rP42+rNrdf (co-administered proteins without adjuvant) IN; (8) rR1+rP42+rNrdF IM.

For groups 5, 6, 7 and 8, the doses of each protein were calculated in order to have the equivalent amount of each protein as contained in the chimeric protein. Blood samples were collected from the retro-orbital sinus at 0, 15, 30 and 45 days post inoculation (DPI). The sera were processed and stored at -20 °C until tested. On day 45, the animals were euthanized and in four mice of each group, tracheobronchial lavages were collected. Tracheobronchial lavages were carried out by flushing three times with a total volume of 0.5 ml of PBS containing 0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) and a protease inhibitor PMSF (inhibitor phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride; Sigma) 0.1 mM and stored at -20 °C.

To assess the immunogenicity of chimeric protein, sera from mice (diluted 1:100) before and 30 days after the first immunization with this protein were confronted with 2 μ g of extract of different *M. hyopneumoniae* strains (J, 7448 and USP strain) by Western blot as described above.

Immunogenicity in pigs

Three *M. hyopneumoniae* free piglets were used to check the immunogenicity of the chimeric protein. Animals were inoculated intramuscularly with three doses of 300 μ g of the chimeric protein in 10 days interval. Serum samples were collected and systemic IgG was measured by indirect ELISA.

Antibody assays

The specificity of the antibodies elicited by immunization with the chimeric protein and recombinant proteins co-administrated in mice and pigs was determined by an indirect ELISA. Microtiter plates were coated with 100 µL of each recombinant protein at concentrations ranging from 10 to 100 ng/well in 0.1 M sodium carbonate buffer (pH 9.6), at 4 °C overnight. The plates were washed three times with PBST and incubated with 200 µL of 5% blocking buffer at 37 °C for 2 h. After washing with PBST, wells were incubated with mice or pig sera (diluted 1:100 in blocking buffer) and or tracheobronchial lavages (undiluted), at 37 °C for 1 h. After washing three times with PBST, goat anti-mouse or antipig IgG peroxidase conjugated (Sigma Aldrich) and or anti-mouse IgA peroxidase conjugate (Sigma Aldrich) diluted 1:6000 was added and the plate was incubated at 37 °C for 1 h. The reactions were developed with o-phenylenediaminedihydrochloride (Sigma) and hydrogen peroxide, after PBST washes. The color reaction was allowed to develop for 15 min before being stopped with 50 µl of sulfuric acid 1 N. Absorbance was determined at 492 nm with a microplate reader (Multiskan MCC/340, Titertek Instruments). Mean values were calculated from serum samples assayed in triplicate. The IgG isotype profiles were also determined, antimouse IgG was substituted by antibodies supplied by IsoQuick[™] Kit for Mouse Monoclonal Isotyping (Sigma Aldrich) according to the manufacturer's instructions using mice serum samples obtained at day 0 and 45.

Statistical Analysis

All data were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. Experimental values of IgG antibody responses were analyzed by analysis of variance (ANOVA), data were log-transformed to conform to the normality and variance requirements of parametric testing. If the *p* value from the ANOVA was less than 0.05, pairwise comparisons of the different treatment groups were performed by Scheffé test at a rejection level of a *p*-value < 0.05. The non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used for comparison of IgA antibody responses. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Statistical Software 19.

Results

Recombinant proteins expression and antigenicity

Protein electrophoresis showed bands with apparent molecular masses of each recombinant protein. rLTB, rP42, rNrdF and rLTBR1P42NrdF were expressed in inclusion bodies and required the addition of the denaturing agent *N*-lauroyl-sarcosine for purification, while rR1 was expressed and purified as a soluble protein. The antigenicity of the rLTBR1P42NrdF chimeric protein was confirmed by Western blot using anti-R1, anti-P42, anti-NrdF and anti-LTB antibodies. The antibodies recognized all the proteins contained in the chimeric protein.

The GM1-ELISA with recombinant proteins revealed GM1-binding affinity of rLTB and rLTBR1P42NrdF, showing that the fusion did not impair the binding affinity of LTB (data not shown).

Immunogenicity in mice

The capacity of the chimeric protein and the co-administrated proteins to induce serum IgG antibodies in mice was evaluated by ELISA. All formulations stimulated detectable antibodies against each protein, showing that the chimeric and co-administered recombinant proteins were immunogenic for mice. Besides, antibodies induced by the immunization with the chimeric protein were able to react with all *M. hyopneumoniae* strains tested by Western blot, with a weaker reaction with the non-pathogenic J strain (data not shown).

In the groups immunized IM, the IgG level was higher when compared with IN route, as well as the response to the protein rP42 was higher when compared with the other two proteins (Fig. 1A, 1B, 1C). The anti-rP42 and anti-rR1 antibodies were higher in sera from mice vaccinated with the chimeric protein, with significant differences at 30 and 45 DPI

(p<0.05) (Fig. 1A, 1B and 1D). Anti-rNrdF antibodies in the serum of animals inoculated IM with the chimeric protein had the lowest reactions compared with the other two proteins, with highest levels of antibodies in the group inoculated with the proteins co-administrated with LTB (Fig. 1C). Nevertheless, no difference between the chimeric protein group and the group that received the proteins co-administered with adjuvant LTB was found at 45 DPI against all the three antigens. Intranasal immunization did not show significant differences in antibody production against rR1 and rNrdF proteins.

Experimental studies



Figure 1. Absorbance at 492 nm of serum of mice immunized intramuscularly (A, B and C) or intranasally (D) with rLTB, chimeric protein, rLTB+R1+P42+NrdF or with rR1+P42+NrdF at 0, 15 and 30 days post inoculation (DPI). On days 0, 15, 30 and 45, sera of mice were obtained and the levels of anti-rP42, rR1 and rNrdF were determined by indirect ELISA. Microtiter plates were coated with recombinant proteins and incubated with sera from immunized mice diluted 1:100. Anti-mouse IgG peroxidase conjugated (1:6000) was added as secondary antibody. Data represent the mean and standard deviation OD_{492} (n=8) of mice serum. All reactions were performed in triplicate. **p*<0.05 compared with the mice treated with rLTB, rLTB+R1+P42+NrdF or with rR1+P42+NrdF.

Mucosal IgA production in tracheobronchial lavages from different groups at 45 DPI was also tested (Fig. 2). No differences between IM or IN administration were detected and significant differences were only found in the IgA antibodies against the rP42. Levels of IgA anti-rP42 antibodies in groups vaccinated with chimeric protein by both routes of immunization showed the highest levels, with statistically difference from the control group (LTB by IM or IN) and from the group that received co-administered protein without adjuvant by IM (p<0.05). The anti-rR1 and anti-rNrdF IgA antibodies did not show significant differences between the groups evaluated.



Figure 2. Absorbance at 492 nm of tracheobronchial lavages from mice immunized intramuscularly (IM) or intranasaly (IN) with rLTB, chimeric protein, rLTB+R1+P42+NrdF or with rR1+P42+NrdF at 0, 15 and 30 DPI. On day 45 the animals were euthanized, tracheobronchial lavages collected and the levels of anti-rP42 were determined by indirect ELISA. Microtiter plates were coated with recombinant protein and incubated with undiluted tracheobronchial lavage. Anti-mouse IgA peroxidase conjugated (1:6000) was added as secondary antibody. Data represent the mean and standard deviation OD_{492} (n=4) of mice tracheobronchial lavage. All reactions were performed in triplicate. **p*<0.05 compared with the mice treated with rLTB (IM and IN), rLTB+R1+P42+NrdF (IN) or with rR1+P42+NrdF (IM).

Analysis of IgG isotypes showed that all the groups induced predominantly IgG1. By IM, the group inoculated with the chimeric protein showed the highest seroconversion for both isotypes against all the proteins, with significant differences to all the groups (p<0.05). Although the induction of IgG1 was higher (Fig. 3A), an induction of IgG2a (Fig. 3B) was observed. In the groups immunized IN, highest and significant seroconversion against the protein rP42 was observed in the group immunized with chimeric protein, that showed significant differences within all the groups (p<0.05) for both isotypes (Figs. 3C and D).



Figure 3. Recombinant proteins-specific IgG1 and IgG2a antibodies determined by ELISA. Microtiter plates were coated with recombinant proteins (rR1, rP42 and rNrdF). Recombinant proteins were incubated with sera (diluted 1:100) from immunized mice intramuscular (A and B) and intranasal (C and D). Goat anti-mouse IgG1 and IgG2a supplied by IsoQuickTM *Kit for Mouse Monoclonal Isotyping* (Sigma) were used as secondary antibody. Data represent the mean OD_{492} (n=8) of mice serum collected at 45 DPI divided by mean OD_{492} of mice serum collected at 45 day 0. All reactions were performed in triplicate. **p*<0.05 compared with the mice treated with rLTB, rLTB+R1+P42+NrdF and with rR1+P42+NrdF.

Immunogenicity in pigs

The humoral immune response induced by the chimeric protein administered IM was evaluated in pigs by ELISA (Fig. 4). The fusion induced a humoral immune response. Similarly to what was observed in mice, the antibodies anti-rP42 showed higher levels when compared to the other proteins, although antibodies anti-NrdF and anti-R1 were also detected with significant difference between the day 0 (pre-immune) and 30 DPI.



Figure 4. IgG absorbance at 492 nm of immunized pigs. Pigs were intramuscularly immunized with chimeric protein (rLTBR1P42NrdF) at days 0, 20 and 30. On days 0 and 45 serum was collected and the levels of anti-rP42, rR1and rNrdF were determined by ELISA. ELISA antibody titers are presented as the mean from all the pigs on day 0 and 45. *p<0.05 compared with the pigs serum on day 0.

Discussion

In the present study, a recombinant chimeric protein (rLTBR1P42NrdF) was produced that induced humoral and mucosal immune responses in mice by either IN or IM immunization and that a humoral immune response in pigs by IM immunization. Humoral and mucosal immune responses were characterized by the production of high levels of anti rR1, rP42 and rNrdF IgG in the sera and IgA antibodies in tracheobronchial lavage of vaccinated animals. The main strategy was to design a chimeric protein carrying different antigens from *M. hyopneumoniae* and an adjuvant molecule to increase the immunogenicity of the recombinant antigens. Some of these antigens (P97 and NrdF) have previously been shown to induce specific immune responses in pigs (Fagan et al; Shimoji et al., 2003), and the heat shock protein P42 has been considered a good immunogen in several studies (Simionatto et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2003).

Foreign antigens fused to recombinant LTB might constitute useful experimental mucosal vaccines (da Hora et al., 2011). LTB has been shown to be a potent mucosal adjuvant toward co-administered or fused unrelated antigens (Grassmann et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2009). Foreign antigens fused to the LTB subunit can be delivered across the mucosal epithelium to the underlying mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue to stimulate the mucosal immune system by mediating the induction of antigen-specific serum IgG and mucosal IgA (Kim et al., 2011). Our results demonstrated that the presence of LTB, in either co-administered or fusion proteins, produced significantly higher levels of IgG and IgA antibodies in IN and IM immunization, although these levels differed between each antigen, with higher antibody levels against the rP42. However, no significant differences were found between co-administered or fusion proteins in some assays. In most assays, the fusion protein was more efficient. This corroborates with previous studies (Grassmann et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2009), highlights the performance and advantages of chimeric proteins for use in vaccine development.

A major challenge for current vaccine development is the fact that many new subunit vaccines based on recombinant proteins are poorly immunogenic and therefore require to be formulated with adjuvants (Wilson-Welder et al., 2009). In this study the IgG levels in mice serum were significantly higher in the groups immunized IM when compared to the groups that received the same composition IN. Within the groups inoculated IM, the highest antibody response against rP42 and rR1 was found in the chimeric protein group. The antibody production against rNrdF was higher in the group that received antigens with adjuvant without fusion, however there was no difference between fusion and co-administration. Within the IN

immunized groups, significantly higher responses against the rP42 were observed in the chimeric group. The IgA antibody levels against each protein in the tracheobronchial lavage followed the same trend as the IgG levels in the serum of the groups inoculated by intranasal route, suggesting a correlation in the production of these two classes of antibodies. These results evidenced the effect of rLTB in either co-administered or fusion antigens as demonstrated by Grassmann and collaborators (2012), and confirmed the efficacy as a mucosal and systemic adjuvant as already described.

The mechanisms by which the enterotoxin-based adjuvant exerts immunomodulating effects are not fully characterized (da Hora et al., 2011). It has already been shown that LTB can increase both T helper type 1 and 2 (Th1 and Th2) associated cytokine response to LTB-fused antigens, once IFN-γ, IL-2, IL-4, and IL-10 were specifically and significantly induced by a multi-epitope vaccine against *Helicobacter pylori* (HUepi) fused to LTB, HUepi-LTB, in mice immunized orally (Zhou et al., 2009). Even though no cytokine production was measured in the present study it is commonly accepted that Th1 cells are preferentially involved in cell-mediated immunity, by the production of IgG2a antibodies, while Th2 cells are more effective in the regulation and support of B-cell responses, resulting in the production of IgG1 antibodies (Mosmann et al., 1989). The results of IgG1 and IgG2a seroconversion in mice immunized IM showed that the chimeric protein was able to induce both isotypes, significantly better than the other groups. In the groups inoculated IN, significant differences were only found in the response against rP42, with higher levels in the group inoculated with the chimeric protein. These results indicate a mixed Th1 and Th2 response, mainly against the rP42.

The chimeric protein was also able to induce specific IgG antibodies in pigs, demonstrating the same profile as in mice. Significant differences were detected between preimmune and immune antibody levels in the serum against all antigens comprising the chimeric protein, with higher levels of antibodies against rP42. As for many infectious diseases, vaccination remains the approach for prevention and control of EP and the eradication of the pathogen has been proposed to depend on both the presence of serum antibody and an increase in cell-mediated immunity during mycoplasmal infection (Thacker et al., 2000), however, the actual contribution of both types of immune response in the protection against *M. hyopneumoniae* infections is not clearly defined (Okamba et al., 2010).

The production of anti P42-specific antibodies in the immunized mice and pigs confirmed that P42 induced a stronger immune response when compared with the other two antigens. This result corroborates with previous studies by our group, where the P42 was one

of the most immunogenic antigens among 34 different *M. hyopneumoniae* proteins evaluated (Simionatto et al., 2012). These results can be attributed to the fact that P42, as a heat shock protein, may contribute to an additional immunostimulatory effect. Heat shock proteins have been shown to present multiple B-cell and T-cell epitopes (Yagihashi et al., 1984) and have also been used as an adjuvant to enhance cell-mediated immune responses in DNA vaccines (Chen et al., 2000).

The Western blot characterization suggested that the recombinant chimeric protein retained antigenic epitopes present on native proteins. The chimeric protein was identified by specific sera against each subunit. In addition, serum of mice inoculated with the chimeric protein reacted with several *M. hyopneumoniae* strains. There was a weak reaction with the non-pathogenic J strain, indicating that the immune response induced by this protein is able to recognize the native antigens R1, P42 and NrdF. Immunoblotting results showed that the recombinant chimeric protein displayed good immunogenicity and antigenicity, and LTB retained the ability to bind to GM1.

In conclusion, the study described the design, expression and immunological response of a chimeric recombinant protein comprising three *M. hyopneumoniae* antigens and the adjuvant LTB. The chimeric protein exhibited antigenic profiles similar to those of the original proteins, and the antigens included induced an immune response in mice and in pigs. To our knowledge, this is the first demonstration of a multivalent subunit recombinant vaccine synthesized as a single molecule for *M. hyopneumoniae*. This approach may result in a formulation that could improve the protection against enzootic pneumonia in pigs. Further research will focus on the protective immunity of the vaccine against experimental *M. hyopneumoniae* in pigs.

References

- Berzofsky, J.A., Ahlers, J.D., Belyakov, I.M., 2001. Strategies for designing and optimizing new generation vaccines. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 1, 209-219.
- Chen, Y.L., Wang, S.N., Yang, W.J., Chen, Y.J., Lin, H.H., Shiuan, D., 2003. Expression and immunogenicity of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* heat shock protein antigen p42 by DNA vaccination. Infect. Immun. 71, 1155-1160.
- Chen, C.H., Wang, T.L., Hung, C.F., Yang, Y., Young, R.A., Pardoll, D.M., Wu, T-C., 2000. Enhancement of DNA vaccine potency by linkage of antigen gene to an HSP70 gene. Cancer Res. 60, 1035-1042.
- Conceição, F.R., Moreira, A.N., Dellagostin, O.A., 2006. A recombinant chimera composed of R1 repeat region of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* P97 adhesin with Escherichia coli heat-labile enterotoxin B subunit elicits immune response in mice. Vaccine 24, 5734-5743.
- Cox, E., Verdonck, F., Vanrompay, D., Goddeeris, B., 2006. Adjuvants modulating mucosal immune responses or directing systemic responses towards the mucosa. Vet. Res. 37, 511-539.
- da Hora, V.P., Conceição, F.R., Dellagostin, O.A., Doolan, D.L., 2011. Non-toxic derivatives of LT as potent adjuvants. Vaccine 29, 1538-1544.
- Fagan, P.K., Walker, M.J., Chin, J., Eamens, G.J., Djordjevic, S.P., 2001. Oral immunization of swine with attenuated *Salmonella typhimurium* aroA SL3261 expressing a recombinant antigen of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* (NrdF) primes the immune system for a NrdF specific secretory IgA response in the lungs. Microb. Pathog. 30, 101-110.
- Grassmann, A.A., Felix, S.R., dos Santos, C.X., Amaral, M.G., Seixas Neto, A.C., Fagundes, M.Q., Seixas, F.K., da Silva, E.F., Conceição, F.R., Dellagostin, O.A., 2012.
 Protection against lethal leptospirosis after vaccination with LipL32 coupled or coadministered with the B subunit of *Escherichia coli* heat-labile enterotoxin. Clin. Vaccine Immunol. 19, 740-745.
- Haesebrouck, F., Pasmans, F., Chiers, K., Maes, D., Ducatelle, R., Decostere, A., 2004. Efficacy of vaccines against bacterial diseases in swine: what can we expect? Vet. Microbiol. 100, 255-268.
- Kim, J.M., Park, S.M., Kim, J.A., Park, J.A., Yi, M.H., Kim, N.S., Bae, J.L., Park, S.G., Jang, Y.S., Yang, M.S., Kim, D.H., 2011. Functional pentameric formation via coexpression of the *Escherichia coli* heat-labile enterotoxin B subunit and its fusion protein subunit with a neutralizing epitope of ApxIIA exotoxin improves the mucosal immunogenicity and protection against challenge by *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae*. Clin. Vaccine Immunol. 18, 2168-2177.

- Liljeqvist, S., Stahl, S., 1999. Production of recombinant subunit vaccines: protein immunogens, live delivery systems and nucleic acid vaccines. J. Biotechnol. 73, 1-33.
- Liu, D.Q., Wang, X.Q., Ge, J.W., Liu, S.M., Li, Y.J., 2011. Comparison of the immune responses induced by oral immunization of mice with *Lactobacillus casei*-expressing porcine parvovirus VP2 and VP2 fused to *Escherichia coli* heat-labile enterotoxin B subunit protein. Comp. Immunol. Microbiol. 34, 73-81.
- Maes, D., Segales, J., Meyns, T., Sibila, M., Pieters, M., Haesebrouck, F., 2008. Control of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infections in pigs. Vet. Microbiol. 126, 297-309.
- Marchioro, S.B., Simionatto, S., Galli, V., Conceição, F.R., Brum, C.B., Fisch, A., Gomes, C.K., Dellagostin, O.A., 2012. Production and characterization of recombinant transmembrane proteins from *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Vet. Microbiol. 155, 44-52.
- Mosmann, T.R., Coffman, R.L., 1989. Th1-Cell and Th2-Cell different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional-properties. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 7, 145-73.
- Ogawa, Y., Oishi, E., Muneta, Y., Sano, A., Hikono, H., Shibahara, T., Yagi, Y., Shimoji, Y., 2009. Oral vaccination against mycoplasmal pneumonia of swine using a live *Erysipelothrix rhusiopathiae* vaccine strain as a vector. Vaccine 27, 4543-4550.
- Okamba, F.R., Arella, M., Music, N., Jia, J.J., Gottschalk, M., Gagnon, C.A., 2010. Potential use of a recombinant replication-defective adenovirus vector carrying the C-terminal portion of the P97 adhesin protein as a vaccine against *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* in swine. Vaccine 28, 4802-4809.
- Okamba, F.R., Moreau, E., Cheikh Saad, B.K., Gagnon, C.A., Massie, B., Arella, M., 2007. Immune responses induced by replication-defective adenovirus expressing the Cterminal portion of the *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* P97 adhesin. Clin. Vaccine Immunol. 14, 767-774.
- Qiao, X.Y., Li, G.W., Wang, X.Q., Li, X.J., Liu, M., Li, Y.J., 2009. Recombinant porcine rotavirus VP4 and VP4-LTB expressed in *Lactobacillus casei* induced mucosal and systemic antibody responses in mice. BMC Microbiol. 9.
- Ramos, C.R.R., Abreu, P.A.E., Nascimento, A., Ho, P.L., 2004. A high-copy T7 *Escherichia coli* expression vector for the production of recombinant proteins with a minimal N-terminal his-tagged fusion peptide. Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res. 37, 1103-1109.
- Sambrook, J., Russell, D.W., 2001. Molecular cloning: a laboratory manual. 3^a ed. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, New York
- Shimoji, Y., Oishi, E., Muneta, Y., Nosaka, H., Mori, Y., 2003. Vaccine efficacy of the attenuated *Erysipelothrix rhusiopathiae* YS-19 expressing a recombinant protein of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* P97 adhesin against mycoplasmal pneumonia of swine. Vaccine 21, 532-537.
- Simionatto, S., Marchioro, S.B., Galli, V., Brum, C.B., Klein, C.S., Rebelatto, R., Silva, E.F., Borsuk, S., Conceição, F.R., Dellagostin, O.A., 2012. Immunological characterization

of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* recombinant proteins. Comp. Immunol. Microb. 35, 209-216.

- Simionatto, S., Marchioro, S.B., Hartwig, D., Galli, V., Carlessi, R.M., Munari, F.M., 2010. Cloning and purification of recombinant proteins of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* expressed in *E. coli* systems. Protein Exp. Purif. 69, 132–136.
- Simmons, C.P., Ghaem-Magami, M., Petrovska, L., Lopes, L., Chain, B.M., Williams, N.A., Dougan, G., 2001. Immunomodulation using bacteriale enterotoxins. Scand. J. Immunol. 53, 218-226.
- Soria-Guerra, R.E., Moreno-Fierros, L., Rosales-Mendoza, S., 2011. Two decades of plantbased candidate vaccines: a review of the chimeric protein approaches. Plant Cell Rep. 30, 1367-1382.
- Thacker, E.L., Minion, F.C., 2010. Mycoplasmosis. In: Zimmerman, J. (Ed.), Diseases of swine. Iowa state university press, Ames, Iowa USA, pp. 779-797.
- Thacker, E.L., Thacker, B.J., Kuhn, M., Hawkins, P.A., Waters, W.R., 2000. Evaluation of local and systemic immune responses induced by intramuscular injection of a *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* bacterin to pigs. Am. J. Vet. Res. 61, 1384-1389.
- Wilson-Welder, J.H., Torres, M.P., Kipper, M.J., Mallapragada, S.K., Wannemuehler, M.J., Narasimhan, B., 2009. Vaccine adjuvants: current challenges and future approaches. J Pharm Sci 98, 1278-1316.
- Yagihashi, T., Nunoya, T., Mitui, T., Tajima, M., 1984. Effect of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infection on the development of *Hemophilus pleuropneumoniae* pneumonia in pigs. Jap. J. Vet. Sci. 46, 705-713.
- Zhou, W.Y., Shi, Y., Wu, C., Zhang, W.J., Mao, X.H., Guo, G., Li, H.X., Zou, Q.M., 2009. Therapeutic efficacy of a multi-epitope vaccine against *Helicobacter pylori* infection in BALB/c mice model. Vaccine 27, 5013-5019.

CHAPTER 3.3:

Production and characterization of recombinant transmembrane proteins from Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae

S.B. Marchioro¹, S. Simionatto^{1,3}, V. Galli¹, F.R. Conceição², C.B. Brum¹, A. Fisch¹, C.K.

Gomes¹, O.A. Dellagostin^{1*}

¹ Laboratório de Biologia Molecular, ² Laboratório de Imunologia Aplicada, Núcleo de Biotecnologia, Centro de Desenvolvimento Tecnológico, Universidade Federal de Pelotas, Pelotas, RS, Brazil ³ Faculdade de Ciências Biológicas e Ambientais, Universidade Federal da Grande Dourados, Dourados, MS, Brazil

Veterinary Microbiology 155 (2012) 44–52

Abstract

Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae is the etiological agent of swine enzootic pneumonia (EP), a chronic respiratory disease which causes significant economic losses to the swine industry worldwide. More efficient strategies for controlling this disease are necessary. In this study, we cloned 17 genes coding for transmembrane proteins from *M. hyopneumoniae*, among which six were successfully expressed in *E. coli* and had their immunogenic and antigenic properties evaluated. All proteins were immunogenic in mice and sera from naturally infected pigs reacted with the recombinant proteins, suggesting that they are expressed during infection. These antigens may contribute to the development of new recombinant vaccines and diagnostic tests against EP.

Keywords: *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*, swine enzootic pneumonia, transmembrane proteins.

Introduction

Porcine enzootic pneumonia, caused by *M. hyopneumoniae*, is a chronic respiratory disease affecting swine populations worldwide (Thacker, 2006).Vaccination is the most effective way to control EP, combined with hygiene and management procedures (Lin et al., 2003; Conceição et al., 2006; Maes et al., 2008). However, the vaccines currently used provide only partial protection (Thacker et al., 2000). These vaccines consist of inactivated whole-cell preparations (bacterins), and the vaccine is expensive (Chen et al., 2001), as in vitro growth of *M. hyopneumoniae* requires a rich medium and is a time consuming process (Thacker, 2006). Besides, more efficient and cheaper vaccines and improved diagnostic assays could contribute to the control of EP.

Some studies have tried to identify and characterize antigens from *M. hyopneumoniae* with vaccine and diagnostic potential (Castro et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2006; Conceição et al., 2006; Meens et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2005). However, only few recombinant antigens have been characterized so far. Bioinformatics tools can be used for predicting potential antigens *in silico*, narrowing down the universe to be tested. In addition, this approach has the advantage of revealing proteins independently of their abundance and without the need to grow the microorganism *in vitro* (Adu-Bobie, et al., 2003). The aim of this study was to identify, clone and characterize transmembrane proteins, targets for many pharmaceuticals in use today, from *M. hyopneumoniae* which may be useful in immunodiagnosis and/or vaccination against EP.

Materials and methods

Strains and growth conditions

M. hyopneumoniae strain 7448 was gently provided by Centro Nacional de Pesquisa em Suínos e Aves (CNPSA – Embrapa, Concórdia, SC). Genomic DNA was extracted with GFX genomic blood DNA purification kit (GE Healthcare). *Escherichia coli* TOP 10 (Invitrogen) and *E. coli* BL21 (DE3) RIL (Stratagene) were grown at 37 °C in Luria Bertani (LB) medium supplemented with kanamycin (100 μ g.ml⁻¹), as required.

In silico selection of open reading frame and primer design

One hundred and thirty six open reading frame (ORF) belonging to the group of transmembrane proteins of *M. hyopneumoniae* strain 7448 (GenBank accession number <u>NC007332</u>), previously characterized (http://www.genesul.lncc.br), were analyzed by bioinformatics software. To determine the signal peptide, the SignalP software was used. Vector NTI 10 (Invitrogen) was used to identify sequences with predominantly hydrophilic regions, and with no more than three TGA tryptophan codons. Primers were designed to

amplify the selected sequences. The forward primer included the sequence CACC for directional cloning into expression vector pET200/D-TOPO® (Invitrogen). The primers used in this study are shown in Table 1.

Amplification and cloning of coding sequences

The selected sequences were amplified by PCR using Mastercycle Gradient (Eppendorf) thermocycler, with the following program: 95 °C for 7 min followed by 30 cycles of 95 °C for 1 min, 55 °C for 1 min and 68 °C for 1 min, with a final extension of 68 °C for 7 min. The reactions were performed in a final volume of 25 μ l, containing 50 ng of template DNA, 10 pmol of each primer, 1 × enhancer, 1 × enzyme buffer, 2.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM of dNTPs and 2.5 units of Platinum Pfx DNA Polymerase (Invitrogen). Sequences that contained TGA codons were submitted to site-directed mutagenesis according to Simionatto et al. (2009). PCR products were cloned in Champion pET200/D-TOPO® (Invitrogen) expression vector following the manufacturer's instructions. *E. coli* Top 10 competent cells were transformed by electroporation with the ligation product, as described by Sambrook & Russell (2001). The recombinant clones were selected and plasmid DNA was extracted and characterized by digestion with restriction enzymes and DNA sequencing using a MegaBACE 500 DNA sequencer and the Dynamic ET-terminator technology (GE Healthcare).

Expression, solubility testing and purification of recombinant proteins

Recombinant plasmids were transformed into *E. coli* BL21 (DE3) Ril. The resulting colonies were used to inoculate 10 ml of LB broth supplemented with 100 µg.ml⁻¹ of kanamycin and grown in shaker (37 °C, 250 rpm). When the log phase was reached, expression was induced with 0.5 mM isopropyl- β -D-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) for 3 h. Two fractions of 500 µl, one collected before and another after induction, were centrifuged at 14,000 × *g* for 1 min. The sediment was used to verify expression of recombinant proteins by 12% SDS-PAGE. The recombinant protein solubility test was performed using 2 ml of the sample induced and subjected to centrifugation of 14,000 × *g* for 5 min. A volume of 500 µl of 1 × phosphate buffered saline (PBS) was used to suspend the pellet and the cells were lysed by six cycles of sonication (15 s, 20 kHz).The soluble and insoluble fractions were separated by centrifugation at 10,000 × *g* for 5 min at 4 °C. Both fractions were processed and subjected to electrophoresis in 12% SDS-PAGE.

A clone of each recombinant plasmid was used to inoculate 15 ml of LB containing 100 μ g.ml⁻¹ of kanamycin and grown overnight in shaker (37 °C, 250 rpm). This culture was used to inoculate 500 ml of LB broth supplemented with kanamycin under the same conditions described above. After 3 h of induction, the culture was subjected to centrifugation

at $10,000 \times g$ for 20 min at 4 °C, the supernatant discarded and the pellet subjected to two successive washes in 60 ml of PBS and centrifuged under the same conditions. Then, it was suspended in 60 ml of lysis buffer (8 M urea, 20 mM Na₂HPO₄, 0.5 M NaCl, 5 mM Imidazole). The cells were lysed by six cycles of sonication (15 s, 20 kHz) and submitted to orbital shaking of 60 rpm for 16 h at 4 °C. After this, the lysate was centrifuged again at $10,000 \times g$ for 1 h at 4 °C, the supernatant containing the protein was collected, filtered through a membrane filter of 0.8 µm (Millipore) and used for purification. The purification of recombinant proteins was done by affinity chromatography using HisTrapTM HP 1 ml columns prepacked with precharged Ni SepharoseTM using the ÄKTAprimeTM automated liquid chromatography system (GE Healthcare). Fractions containing recombinant proteins were identified by SDS-PAGE and quantified by BCATM Protein Assay (Pierce) following the manufacturer's instructions.

Inoculation of mice with recombinant proteins

Animal experiments were carried out according to the guidelines of the Ethics Committee in Animal Experimentation of the Federal University of Pelotas. Female and male BALB/c mice aged 7 to 8 weeks were used in the experiments. Eight groups of mice with five animals each, were inoculated intramuscularly (IM) with 50 μ g of recombinant proteins, one per group in 15% aluminum hydroxide adjuvant on day zero. A group inoculated with a commercial bacterin was used as positive control and another group received 100 μ L of PBS with the same adjuvant, as negative control. Each animal was boosted with the same dose 21 days after the first inoculation. Blood samples were collected from the retro-orbital sinus at 0, 21, 42, 63, 84, and 105 days post inoculation (DPI). The sera were processed and stored at -20 °C until tested. At day 105, mice were euthanized.

Evaluation of immune response

ELISA using recombinant proteins as antigen

Specific antibodies against recombinant proteins in sera from immunized mice were assayed by indirect ELISA. Microtiter plates were coated with 100 μ L of each recombinant protein at a concentration ranging from 5 to 50 ng/well in 0.1 M sodium carbonate buffer (pH 9.6), at 4 °C overnight. The plates were washed three times with PBS (pH 7.4) with 0.05% (v/v) Tween 20 (PBST) and incubated with 200 μ L of 5% blocking buffer at 37 °C for 2 h. After washing with PBST, wells were incubated with mice sera, in triplicate, of each individual animal, diluted 1:50 in blocking buffer, at 37 °C for 1 h. After washing with PBST, goat anti-mouse peroxidase conjugate (Sigma Aldrich) diluted 1:6000 was added and the plate was incubated at 37 °C for 1 h. The reactions were developed with *o*-

phenylenediaminedihydrochloride (Sigma) and hydrogen peroxide, after PBST washes. The color reaction was allowed to develop for 15 min before being stopped with 50 μ l of sulfuric acid 1 N. Absorbance was determined at 492 nm with a microplate reader (Multiskan MCC/340, Titertek Instruments). Mean values were calculated from sera samples assayed in triplicate.

ELISA using extract of M. hyopneumoniae 7448 strain as antigen

An ELISA was performed with sera from mice immunized with recombinant proteins to verify if the antibodies induced by these antigens were able to recognize *M. hyopneumoniae* derived proteins. For this, 1 μ g of crude extract of *M. hyopneumoniae* strain 7448, dissolved in 0.1 M sodium carbonate buffer (pH 9.6), was added to each well of microtiter plates. The plates were incubated overnight at 4 °C, then incubated at -70 °C for 2 h and thawed at room temperature for 30 min. Then, the same procedure described above was used, except that sera from animals of each group were pooled before testing. Mean values were calculated from pooled sera samples assayed in triplicate.

Western blot with M. hyopneumoniae derived proteins

In order to evaluate the ability of antibodies from mice immunized with recombinant proteins to recognize derived proteins from *Mycoplasma* sp., lysates of *M. hyorhinis*, *M. hyopneumoniae* 7448, 7422 and J^{T} strains, were used in Western blot analysis. Samples were solubilized in sample buffer (62.5 mM Tris-HCl (pH 6.8), 10% glycerol, 5% 2-mercaptoethanol, 2% SDS) and separated by 10% SDS-PAGE. Mycoplasma derived proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (GE Healthcare) using a mini transblotter, following the manufacturer's instructions (Bio-Rad). The membrane was blocked overnight at 4 °C in 5% nonfat dried milk-PBST and probed with polled sera from each group of mice (diluted 1:50 in blocking buffer). Specific antibodies were detected using 3,3°-diaminobenzidinetetrahydrochloride (DAB) and 0.015% (v/v) hydrogen peroxide in PBS. Sera from mice immunized with PBS and bacterin were used as negative and positive controls, respectively.

Antigenicity of the recombinant antigens

Serum samples from SPF pigs and from naturally infected pigs (from a commercial herd with clinical signs and pathological lesions compatible with EP) were used to evaluate the reactivity of recombinant antigens with antibodies produced during infection. The sera were tested by Western blot and ELISA.

Western blot

Purified recombinant proteins were solubilized in sample buffer and submitted to 12% SDS-PAGE. Proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (GE Healthcare) using a mini transblotter (Bio-Rad) following the manufacturer's instructions. Membranes were incubated in 5% blocking buffer overnight at 4 °C. After washing with PBST, membranes were incubated individually with adsorbed sera (diluted 1:100 in blocking buffer) from SPF (1), pool of 3 immunized pigs, or 10 naturally infected pigs, for 2 h at 37 °C. To reduce the background, the sera were previously adsorbed in *E. coli* extract. Membranes were washed with PBST (3 × 5 min per wash) and incubated for 1 h at 37 °C with rabbit anti-pig IgG peroxidase conjugate, diluted 1:6000 in blocking buffer. Membranes were washed in PBST (3 × 5 min per wash). Immunoreactive protein bands were detected using 3,3'-diaminobenzidinetetrahydrochloride (DAB) and 0.015% (v/v) hydrogen peroxide in PBS. *ELISA*

To assess the antigenicity of recombinant proteins by ELISA, porcine sera from animals naturally infected (n=22) and SPF (n=5) were used. Sera from naturally infected pigs had antibody titers checked by cell ELISA. Microtiter plate were coated with 5 to 50 ng of each recombinant protein in 0.1 M sodium carbonate buffer (pH 9.6), at 4 °C overnight. The plates were washed three times with PBST, and incubated with 200 μ L of 5% blocking buffer, at 37 °C for 2 h. After washing with PBST, wells were incubated with swine sera, in triplicate, diluted 1:100 in blocking buffer, at 37 °C for 2 h. After washing buffer, at 37 °C for 2 h. After washing with PBST, wells were incubated with rabbit anti-pig IgG peroxidase conjugate, diluted 1:6000, at 37 °C for 1 h. The reactions were developed with *o*-phenylenediaminedihydrochloride (Sigma) and hydrogen peroxide, after PBST washes. The color reaction was allowed to develop for 15 min and stopped with the addition of 50 μ L of 1 N H₂SO₄. Absorbance was determined at 492 nm with a microplate reader. Mean values were calculated from sera samples assayed in triplicate.

MHC-I antigenic peptide processing prediction of characterized recombinant antigens

Peptides were predicted using MAPPP (Hakenberg et al., 2003) with the SYFPEITHY matrix (available at http://www.mpiib-berlin.mpg.de/MAPPP/expertquery.html) which combines existing prediction tools for proteasomal processing and MHC class I anchoring. We considered the epitopes when the MHC, from human (HLA) and mouse (H2), bound epitope evolved from a proteasomal cleaved fragment with exactly the same size, considering all nonamers with potential binding for any of the alleles available. For each nonamer and allele, the program produced a binding score that corresponded to the estimate of half-time of

disassociation for a given peptide. That score was expressed as a percentage of the maximum score possible for a given allele.

Statistical analysis

The Student's *t*-test was used to determine significant differences (p<0.05) in ELISA with recombinant proteins using pig sera and cell ELISA of mice immunized with recombinant proteins. GraphPad Prism 4 software systems (GraphPad Software) were used to perform the statistical analyses.

Results

Selection of ORFs

The following criteria were used for selecting among ORFs encoding predicted transmembrane proteins to be cloned and expressed in *E. coli:* proteins previously characterized as virulence factors or orthologous to virulence factors characterized in other pathogens; hydrophobicity properties of the protein and with no more than three trypthophan (TGA) codons. Preference was given to hydrophilic regions without TGA codons. A total of 17 ORFs belonging to the group of transmembrane proteins of *M. hyopneumoniae* met these criteria and were selected. One of these had two selected regions, C and N-terminal. A total of 18 fragments were selected and primers were designed (Table 1).

Nº	Annotation	Selected Fragment (aa)	Primer sequences		
1	MHP0019	238 - 665	For* CACCGGATCCGGCAAATTCAAAACTGGAC		
•		16 200			
2	MHP0020	16 - 298	For <u>CACC</u> GGATCCATTTTTAAAAAAATTAATCTTGTA $\mathbf{P}_{\mathrm{crv}} \subset \mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{c}} \land \land \mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{c}} \subset \mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{c}} \land \land \mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{c}} \subset \mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{c}} \land \mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{c}} \land \mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{c}} \subset \mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{c}} \land \mathcal{C} \land \mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{c}} \land \mathcal{C}_{\mathrm{c}} \land \mathcal{C} \land $		
2	MUD0241	20 105			
3	WIFF0241	20 - 193			
4	MHP0248	248 - 748	For CACCGGATCCCTAGGACAGTTTGCAATAATTATTGT		
			<i>Rev</i> CCCAAGCTTTCATTTATCTTTTTTATCATCAATAATTTC		
			For mut** GGATTTTGgGAATGgTTTTGgGGCAAATTA		
			Revmut TTTGCCcCAAAAcCATTCcCAAAATCCTTG		
5	MHP0265	123 - 311	For <u>CACC</u> GGATCCTATTTAGTAAAACCGACTGTTT		
			Rev CCCAAGCTTTCACTTTGGCAAATGCGAAA		
6	MHP0328	1 - 172	For <u>CACC</u> GGATCCATGACCAAATTTGCAAAA		
-			Rev CCCAAGCTTTCAGCTAGTAACATGTTCTTTCCA		
7	MHP0332	56 - 264	For <u>CACC</u> GGATCCTATGCTTCAAATTTTAGT		
0		1 1 6 6			
8	MHP0344	1 - 166	For <u>CACC</u> GGATCCATGAAAATAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA		
0	MIID0292	1 257			
9	MITF0365	1 - 237	$Por CCC \Delta \Delta GCTTTC \Delta T \Delta TTTTTTTGCT \Delta \Delta T \Delta TC \Delta GC$		
10	MHP0414 N	904 -1199	For		
10		<i>y</i> 01 11 <i>yy</i>	CACCGGATCCTTCAATAGAAAAGAATATTATACTATTC		
			Rev GGGAAGCTTTCATTTATTAACTAAATTATGAAA		
11	MHP0414 C	67-284	For CACCGGATCCATAAACAACCCAAATATTTATTC		
			Rev GGGAAGCTTTTAACTATTATACCTTTTAATTTTCC		
12	MHP0443	31 - 512	For <u>CACC</u> GGGTACCGATTGATTTTGTCTTTTTG		
			Rev CCCAAGCTTTCAGATTCTACCATTAATCTTT		
13	MHP0480	258 - 524	For <u>CACC</u> GGATCCAATGACTGGATCAAAAACTA		
		0.004	<i>Rev</i> CCCAAGCTTTCATGCTTTATTATTATCGATC		
14	MHP0487	2 - 284	For <u>CACC</u> GGATCCGATAAAAAAAGTTCTTTTTTTT B ay CCCAAGCTTTCAAAAAAAAGTTCTTTACGAT		
15	MHP0489	576 - 744			
10	WIII 0409	570 744	Rev CCCAAGCTTTCAGGAATAATCAAGAACGA		
16	MHP0544	31- 386	For CACCGGATCCATTAAATCAGTTGATATTAATTCTTTT		
			<i>Rev</i> GGGAAGCTTTCAGCATGAATTTATTTTTTTTATTA		
17	MHP0596	110 - 379	For CACCGGATCCCTTAGCCAAAATCCACTAC		
			Rev CCCAAGCTTTCAATTTTCGTTTTTATC		
18	MHP0643	131 - 345	For <u>CACC</u> GGATCCTTTTTTATCGGTTTTTTTAT		
			Rev GGGAAGCTTTCAGTTAATCGTTACAATATTTG		
			For mutCCAGTCTGgAAAGAGAATAATT		
			KevmutAIIUIUIIICUAGAUIGGAAI		

Table 1. Identification of selected ORFs and primer sequences.

*<u>CACC:</u> Sequence of nucleotides added for directional cloning in the vector Champion pET 200/D-TOPO[®] (Invitrogen).

** Pair of primers used for mutation from TGA to TGG codon.

Amplification, cloning and characterization of genes

All 18 selected fragments were amplified by PCR. Two fragments that had TGA tryptophan codons were submitted to site-directed mutagenesis and had the TGA replaced by

TGG codons. The PCR amplified sequences were cloned into Champion pET200/D-TOPO® (Invitrogen) and transformed into *E.coli* TOP10 electro competent cells. Out of the 18 amplicons, 16 were successfully cloned and characterized (Table 2).

Expression and purification

Clones characterized by restriction enzyme showing the insert of the expected size were subjected to transformation by heat shock in the expression strain *E. coli* BL21 (DE3) RIL. Before being expressed in large scale, the recombinant proteins were assessed in small volume growth for their expression and solubility. All the expressed proteins were insoluble and had to be solubilized with a denaturing agent containing urea. As the expression vector used (pET200/D-TOPO) allows the fusion of 6 histidine residues in the N-terminal of recombinant proteins, they were purified by affinity chromatography. Among the 16 clones, 11 recombinant proteins were expressed and six were successfully purified in concentrations suitable for immunizations and other tests (Fig. 1). The remaining five recombinant proteins were expressed in low levels and purification was not successful. The yield of recombinant proteins ranged from 4.4 to 6.6 mg l^{-1} of culture growth.

Annotation	Features	Molecular Mass (kDa)	Cloning	Expression	Purification	Mice immunization	Antigenicity with pig sera (Western blot)
MHP0019	ABC transporter	50	Yes	No	No	No	-
MHP0020	ABC transporter	35	Yes	Yes	No	No	-
MHP0241	Translocase	22	Yes	Yes	No	No	-
MHP0248	Hypothetical protein	60	Yes	No	No	No	-
MHP0265	ABC transporter	23	Yes	No	No	No	-
MHP0328	Hypothetical protein	21	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	+ ^b
MHP0332	Serine protease	25	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	+
MHP0344	Hypothetical protein	19	Yes	No	No	No	-
MHP0383	ABC transporter	29	Yes	No	No	No	-
MHP0414 C	Putative ICEF-II ^a	31	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	-
MHP0414 N	Putative ICEF-II	26	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	$+++^{c}$
MHP0443	Hypothetical protein	56	No	No	No	No	-
MHP0480	Hypothetical protein	31	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	-
MHP0487	Putative Mg transport	32	No	No	No	No	-
MHP0489	Hypothetical protein	20	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	-
MHP0544	Hypothetical protein	41	Yes	Yes	No	No	-
MHP0596	Hypothetical protein	31	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	+++
MHP0643	Hemolysin C	26	Yes	Yes	No	No	-

a: ICEF-II: integrative conjugal element - II; b: React with one of ten sera evaluated; c: React with seven of ten sera evaluated.



Figure 1. Twelve percent SDS-PAGE of six recombinant proteins purified by Ni-Sepharose affinity chromatography. Lane 1, MHP0322 (25 kDa); Lane 2, MHP0480 (31 kDa); Lane 3, MHP0328 (21 kDa); Lane 4, MHP0489 (20 kDa); Lane 5, MHP0596 (31 kDa); Lane 6, MHP0414 C (31 kDa).

Systemic humoral immune response

The ability of recombinant proteins, produced from ORF, to stimulate specific antibodies after immunization of mice was determined by an indirect ELISA. Groups of animals were identified as A: negative control (saline + adjuvant), B: MHP0332, C: MHP0414 C, D: MHP0480, E: MHP0489, F: MHP0596, G: MHP0328, and group H: animals inoculated with bacterin. All recombinant proteins were able to induce a specific immune response statistically significant when compared with the control group. The highest immune response was induced by the protein produced from ORF MHP0328, while the MHP0596 induced the lowest immune response among all proteins tested. Figure 2 shows the responses of all proteins up to the day 84 after immunization.



Figure 2. Antibody responses of mice immunized with recombinant proteins determined by indirect ELISA. Reactivity of the serum diluted 1:50, in triplicate. Goat anti-mouse peroxidase conjugate (diluted 1:4000) was used as the secondary antibody. The data represent the mean OD_{492} . Vertical lines represent standard deviation.

Sera from inoculated mice were also evaluated by ELISA against the whole cell extract of *M. hyopneumoniae* strain 7448. Proteins derived from ORFs MHP0480 and MHP0328 showed statistically significant differences in absorbance values when sera collected on day 84 after immunization was compared to the pre-immune serum (Fig. 3).

Western blot analysis was carried out with mouse sera raised against six recombinant proteins and revealed that antibodies were able to recognize mycoplasma derived proteins. Five recombinant proteins induced antibodies that reacted with derived proteins from M. *hyopneumoniae* 7448, 7422, J^T strains and M. *hyorhinis*. The MHP0480 recombinant protein induced antibodies that appear not to cross-react with M. *hyorhinis* (data not shown), a common secondary invader in swine pneumonia. Sera from mice inoculated with saline did not recognized mycoplasma proteins, while sera from mice inoculated with bacterin recognized several mycoplasma proteins.



Figure 3. ELISA reactions using extract of *M. hyopneumoniae* as antigen. Detection of the antibodies in sera from mice immunized with recombinant proteins (diluted 1:20). Goat antimouse peroxidase conjugate (diluted 1:4000) was used as the secondary antibody. PI, pre-inoculation mouse sera; DPI, sera of mice obtained 105 days post-inoculation; Sal and Bact, are the negative group inoculated with PBS and positive group immunized with bacterin, respectively. The data represent the mean OD_{492} of sera (105 DPI) from immunized mice. Asterisks indicate significant statistical differences (*p*<0.05 as compared to PI sera) using Student's *t*-test.

Antigenicity of the recombinant antigens

Western blot analysis revealed that sera from some naturally infected animals were able to recognize four recombinant proteins (Table 2). Proteins produced from ORFs MHP0414 N (not used in the immunization tests) and MHP0596 were the most antigenic, as they were recognized by seven out of 10 sera tested (data not shown).

ELISA demonstrated that sera from naturally infected pigs were able to recognize the recombinant proteins (Fig. 4), indicating that these proteins are expressed during infection and they induce a humoral immune response.


Figure 4. ELISA of recombinant proteins against naturally infected and SPF pig sera (diluted 1:100). Anti-pig IgG-peroxidase conjugate (diluted 1:6000) was used as the secondary antibody. All recombinant proteins showed significant statistical difference (P<0.05 as compared to SPF sera). The data represent the analyses of 5 SPF and 22 naturally infected pig sera. Absorbance values were statistically analyzed with a paired t-test using GraphPad Prism 4.0 software (P<0.05). Boxes represent the interquartile range in the middle 50% of absorbance values. Whiskers represent the minimum and maximum values.

MHC-I antigenic peptide processing prediction of characterized recombinant antigens

We considered the epitopes when the MHC bound epitope evolved from a proteasomal cleaved fragment with exactly the same size. All recombinant proteins evaluated contain at least one epitope that have the greatest probability to be processed and finally presented on the cell surface. It is expected that those peptides which have higher affinity for HLA and H2 molecules are more likely to be recognized by receptors of specific T cells. The peptides representing predicted dominant MHC class I epitopes from recombinant antigens are shown in Table 3.

Annotation	Epitope	Epitope	МНС	Cleavage	MHC
		Position	type	Probability	Binding Score
MHP0328	TMEDFANKL	156	HLA_A_0201	0.9997	0.6111
	IREPFAKQL	10	HLA_B_2705	1.0000	0.6486
MHP0332	QFLDNYYYYL	127	H2_Db	1.0000	0.7273
	QFLDNYYYYL	127	H2_Kd	1.0000	0.7143
	KRNQNIFDQL	47	H2_Db	1.0000	0.7273
MHP0414 C	QLPKKIINL	55	HLA_A_0201	0.9719	0.6944
	SNLPNIKDL	149	H2_Db	0.9966	0.6857
	LLDFSLNQL	13	HLA_A_0201	0.9718	0.7222
MHP0480	NLSSSEIINL	73	HLA_A_0201	1.0000	0.7059
	SYYPYFDSRA	54	H2_Kd	1.0000	0.7143
	RYQFGQGHKL	66	H2_Kd	0.9847	0.8214
MHP0489	CLKYRAFLL	93	HLA_B8	1.0000	0.8140
	KRNLSIDYL	115	HLA_B_2705	0.9990	0.7297
	YLLKIINYEV	122	HLA_A_0201	1.0000	0.7941
	LSQNPLPEL	0	H2_Ld	1.0000	0.7097
MHP0596	ILSIITKTKL	95	HLA_A_0201	1.0000	0.7059
	SYNKHKMQQL	208	H2_Kd	1.0000	0.8571

Table 3. MHC bound epitope evolved from a proteasomal cleaved fragment with exactly thesame size from characterized recombinant antigens of *M. hyopneumoniae*.

Discussion

Production of recombinant proteins of *M. hyopneumoniae* in *E.coli* has been suggested as an alternative not only for vaccine production, but also for diagnostic tests of EP (Simionatto et al., 2010). Vaccination has been an important preventive tool in controlling infection by *M. hyopneumoniae* (Reynolds et al., 2009). However, commercial vaccines confer only partial protection (Haesebrouck et al., 2004). The sequencing of four strains of *M. hyopneumoniae* (Liu et al., 2011; Minion et al., 2004, Vasconcelos et al., 2005) has allowed the use of a genomic approach in the production of recombinant subunit vaccines, named reverse vaccinology (Rappuoli, 2000). This approach may contribute for the development of new and more effective vaccines against EP and in identification of proteins that are expressed during infection and can thus be used in diagnostic tests.

In this study, recombinant antigens belonging to the group of transmembrane proteins of *M. hyopneumoniae* were evaluated as candidates for vaccine and for use in sero diagnosis of EP. Transmembrane proteins play critical roles in cellular metabolism, participating in processes such as ion transport, nutrient uptake, signal transduction, and intercellular communication. As evidence of the essential functions of these proteins, more than half of all drug targets have been shown to be transmembrane proteins, and the analysis of the interactions of transmembrane proteins and their ligands is one of the most promising avenues for the discovery of new drug candidates as well vaccine targets (Yoshino et al., 2010; Janulczyk and Rasmussen, 2001).

The proteins evaluated in this study were first assessed through bioinformatics software to confirm their location, presence of potential immunogenic epitopes and to evaluate the number of TGA codons, which in *M. hyopneumoniae* code for tryptophan, but in other organisms are stop codons. The directional cloning strategy used was effective, allowing the cloning of all selected fragments, despite the fact that the genome of *M. hyopneumoniae* is rich in AT (72%) (Vasconcelos et al., 2005). The recombinant proteins were expressed in insoluble form, although hydrophilic regions of the proteins were predominantly selected. This fact can be justified because transmembrane proteins are generally expressed at low levels and have hydrophobic domains. There are considerable challenges to be overcome for the stable expression of transmembrane proteins, as many of them have cytotoxic effects when overexpressed (Wagner et al., 2007), leading to formation of inclusion bodies (Georgiou and Segatori, 2005).

Six recombinant proteins were purified in sufficient amounts for further analyses. Immunization of mice with the recombinant proteins revealed that all of them induced a specific humoral immune response. The hypothetical protein, produced from ORF MHP0328 induced the highest humoral immune response, assessed by both, ELISA and cell ELISA, suggesting that this antigen may be a candidate for vaccine formulations. None of the recombinant proteins evaluated in this study showed response when reacted with the serum of the group of animals inoculated with the commercial vaccine (data not shown). This indicates that these antigens are not expressed by the vaccine strain. The absence of immunogenic antigens in the vaccine strains could be the explanation for the limited efficiency of commercial bacterins.

The mechanisms responsible for immune protection against *M. hyopneumoniae* are complex and not well understood yet (Reynolds et al., 2009). Thacker et al. (2000) suggested that eradication of the pathogen is dependent on the presence of antibodies in the serum and on cell-mediated immunity during infection. Therefore, promising antigens for formulation of vaccines should induce both types of response. In this study, all antigens were able to induce a humoral immune response when evaluated in mice. Although the cellular immune response induced by these recombinant antigens was not evaluated, they have one or more epitopes binding to MHC-I. *In silico* T-cell epitope mapping using computational models has been used in cancer immunity (Depilet al., 2007), autoimmunity (Honeyman et al., 1998), infectious diseases (Brusic et al., 2001), allergy (De Lalla et al., 1999) and is currently emerging as a novel approach for the study of genome-based peptide vaccines (De Groot, 2006).

ELISA demonstrated that all proteins showed a significant reaction with sera from naturally infected pigs. The recognition of the recombinant proteins by serum from pigs naturally infected indicates that these proteins are expressed during infection, suggesting that they have potential to be used in serological diagnostic tests. However, when these proteins were tested by Western blot, four were recognized by antibodies in the sera, two of them, MHP0596 (hypothetical protein) and MHP0414 N (putative ICEF-II), were recognized by seven out of ten sera evaluated. From all recombinant proteins evaluated in this study, only the MHP0480 did not react with *M. hyorhinis*, a common secondary invader found in the respiratory tract of pigs, suggesting that it could be used for immunodiagnosis of EP.

Production of experimental recombinant vaccines against EP has been pursued by many scientists. Some of these vaccine candidates have shown promising results (Chen et al., 2003; Fagan et al., 1996; Okamba et al., 2010; Shimoji et al., 2003). However, just two antigens have been evaluated, and they were able to confer only partial protection for pigs. This can be attributed to the fact that they were formulated with a single antigen. A multiple

antigen vaccine has the potential to offer more adequate protection (Chen et al., 2008; Okamba et al., 2010).

In the present study it was demonstrated that six transmembrane proteins of *M*. *hyopneumoniae*, not previously characterized, are immunogenic and expressed during infection, suggesting that these antigens have potential to be used as vaccine against EP, as well as in diagnostic tests. Although the immune response of mice cannot be extrapolated to other species and no direct correlation has been found between antibody concentration and protection against *M. hyopneumoniae* challenge (Djordjevic et al., 1997), the results warrant further investigation in challenge experiments in pigs.

Acknowledgements

We thank Centro Nacional de Pesquisa de Suínos e Aves (CNPSA/EMBRAPA, Concórdia-SC, Brazil) for providing the *M. hyopneumoniae* 7448 strain. S.B.M. and V.G. received scholarship from CAPES Foundation. Financial support was provided by Fundação de Amparo a Pesquisa do Estado do Rio Grande do Sul (FAPERGS), Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq).

References

- Adu-Bobie, J., Capecchi, B., Serruto, D., Rappuoli, R., Pizza, M., 2003. Two years into reverse vaccinology. Vaccine 21, 605-610.
- Brusic, V., Bucci, K., Schonbach, C., Petrovsky, N., Zeleznikow, J., Kazura, J.W., 2001. Efficient discovery of immune response targets by cyclical refinement of QSAR models of peptide binding. J. Mol. Graph. Model.19, 405-411.
- Castro, L.A., Pedroso, T.R., Kuchiishi, S.S., Ramenzoni, M., Kich, J.D., Zaha, A., Vainstein, M.H., Ferreira, H.B., 2006. Variable number of tandem aminoacid repeats in adhesion-related CDS products in *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strains. Vet. Microbiol.116, 258-269.
- Chen, J.R., Liao, C.W., Mao, S.J., Weng, C.N., 2001. A recombinant chimera composed of repeat region RR1 of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* adhesin with Pseudomonas exotoxin: in vivo evolution of specific IgG response in mice and pigs. Vet. Microbiol. 80, 347-357.
- Chen, Y.L., Wang, S.N., Yang, W.J., Chen, Y.J., Lin, H.H., Shiuan, D., 2003. Expression and immunogenicity of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* heat shock protein antigen P42 by DNA vaccination. Infect. Immun. 71, 1155-1160.
- Chen, A.Y., Fry, S.R., Forbes-Faulkner, J., Daggard, G., Mukkur, T.K., 2006. Evaluation of the immunogenicity of the P97R1 adhesin of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* as a mucosal vaccine in mice. J. Med. Microbiol. 55, 923-929.
- Chen, A.Y., Fry, S.R., Daggard, G.E., Mukkur, T.K.S., 2008. Evaluation of immune response to recombinant potential protective antigens of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* delivered as cocktail DNA and/or recombinant protein vaccines in mice. Vaccine 26, 4372-4378.
- Conceição, F.R., Moreira, A.N., Dellagostin, O.A., 2006. A recombinant chimera composed of R1 repeat region of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* P97 adhesin with *Escherichia coli* heat-labile enterotoxin B subunit elicits immune response in mice. Vaccine 24, 5734-5743.
- De Groot, A.S., 2006. Immunomics: discovering new targets for vaccine and therapeutics. Drug Discov. Today 11, 203-209.
- De Lalla, C., Sturniolo, T., Abbruzzese, L., Hammer, J., Sidoli, A., Sinigaglia, F., Panina-Bordignon, P., 1999. Cutting edge: identification of novel T cell epitopes in *Lol p5a* by computational prediction. J. Immunol. 163, 1725-1729.
- Depilet, S., Morales, O., Castelli, F.A., Delhem, N., Francois, V., Georges, B., Dufosse, F., Morschhauser, F., Hammer, J., Maillere, B., 2007. Determination of a HLA II promiscuous peptide cocktail as potential vaccine against EBV latency II malignancies. J Immunother. 30, 215-226.

- Fagan, P.K., Djordjevic, S.P., Eamens, G.J., Chin, J., Walker, M.J., 1996. Molecular characterization of a ribonucleotide redutase (*nrdF*) gene fragment of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* and assessment of the recombinant product as an experimental vaccine for enzootic pneumonia. Infect. Immun. 64, 1060-1064.
- Georgiou, G., Segatori, L., 2005. Preparative expression of secreted proteins in bacteria: status report and future prospects. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 16, 538-545.
- Haesebrouck, F., Pasmans, F., Chiers, K., Maes, D., Ducatelle, R., Decostere, A., 2004. Efficacy of vaccines against bacterial diseases in swine: what can we expect? Vet. Microbiol. 100, 255-268.
- Hakenberg, J., Nussbaum, A.K., Schild, H., Rammensee, H.G., Kuttler, C., Holzhütter, H.G., Kloetzel, P.M., Kaufmann, S.H., Mollenkopf, H.J., 2003. MAPPP: MHC class I antigenic peptide processing prediction. Appl. Bioinformatics 2, 155-158.
- Honeyman, M.C., Brusic, V., Stone, N.L., Harrison, L.C., 1998. Neural network-based prediction of candidate T cell epitopes. Nat. Biotechnol. 16, 966-969.
- Janulczyk, R., Rasmussen, M., 2001. Improved pattern for genome-based screening identifies novel cell wall-attached proteins in gram-positive bacteria. Infect. Immun. 69, 4019-4026.
- Lin, J., Weng, C.N., Liao, C.W., Yeh, K.S., Pan, M.J., 2003. Protective effects of oral microencapsulated *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* vaccine prepared by co-spray drying method. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 65, 69-74.
- Liu, W., Feng, Z., Fang, L., Zhou, Z., Li, Q., Li, S., Luo, R., Wang, L., Chen, H., Shao, G., Xiao, S., 2011. Complete genome sequence of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strain 168. J. Bacteriol. 193, 1016-1017.
- Maes, D., Segales, J., Meyns, T., Sibila, M., Pieters, M., Haesebrouck, F., 2008. Control of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infections in pigs. Vet. Microbiol. 126, 297-309.
- Meens, J., Bolotin, V., Frank, R., Böhmer, J., Gerlach, G.F., 2009. Characterization of a highly immunogenic *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* lipoprotein Mhp 366 identified by peptide-spot array. Vet. Microbiol. 142, 293-302.
- Minion, F.C., Lefkowitz, E.J., Madsen, M.L., Cleary, B.J., Swartzell, S.M., Mahairas, G.G., 2004. The genome sequence of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strain 232, the agent of swine mycoplasmosis. J. Bacteriol. 186, 7123-7133.
- Okamba, F.R., Arellaa, M., Musicb, N., Jia, J.J., Gottschalkb, M., Gagnonb, C.A., 2010. Potential use of a recombinant replication-defective adenovirus vector carrying the Cterminal portion of the P97 adhesin protein as a vaccine against *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* in swine. Vaccine 28, 4802-4809.
- Rappuoli, R., 2000. Reverse vaccinology. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 3, 445-450.
- Reynolds, S.C., St Aubin, L.B., Sabbadini, L.G., Kula, J., Vogelaar, J., Runnels, P., Peters, A.R., 2009. Reduced lung lesions in pigs challenged 25 weeks after the

administration of a single dose of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* vaccine at approximately 1 week of age. Vet. J. 181, 312-320.

- Sambrook, J., Russell, D.W., 2001. Molecular cloning: a laboratory manual. 3^a ed. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, New York.
- Shimoji, Y., Oishi, E., Muneta, Y., Nosaka, H., Mori, Y., 2003. Vaccine efficacy of the attenuated *Erysipelothrix rhusiopathiae* YS-19 expressing a recombinant protein of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* P97 adhesin against mycoplasmal pneumonia of swine. Vaccine 21, 532-537.
- Simionatto, S., Marchioro, S.B., Galli, V., Luerce, T.D., Hartwig, D.D., Moreira, A.N., Dellagostin, O.A., 2009. Efficient site-direct mutagenesis using an overlap extension-PCR method for expressing *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* genes in *Escherichia coli*. J. Microbiol Meth 79, 101-105.
- Simionatto, S., Marchioro, S.B., Galli, V., Hartwig, D.D., Carlessi, R.M., Munari, F.M., Laurino, J.P., Conceição, F.R., Dellagostin, O.A., 2010. Cloning and purification of recombinant proteins of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* expressed in *Escherichia coli*. Protein Expr. Purif. 69, 132-136.
- Thacker, E., Thacker, B.J., Kuhn, M., Hawkins, P.A., Waters, W.R., 2000. Evaluation of local and systemic immune responses induced by intramuscular injection of a *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* bacterin to pigs. A.J.V.R. 61, 1384-1389.
- Thacker, E.L., 2006. Mycoplasmal diseases. In: STRAW, B.E., Zimmerman, J.J., D'Allaire, S., Taylor, D.J. (Eds). Diseases of Swine, 9th ed. Blacwell Publishing Ltd. Oxford, UK, p.701-717.
- Vasconcelos, A.T., Ferreira, H.B., Bizarro, C.V., Bonatto, S.L., Carvalho, M.O., Pinto, P.M., Almeida, D.F., Almeida, L.G., Almeida, R., Alves-Filho, L., Assunção, E.N., Azevedo, V.A., Bogo, M.R., Brigido, M.M., Brocchi, M., Burity, H.A., Camargo, A.A., Camargo, S.S., Carepo, M.S., Carraro, D.M., de Mattos Cascardo, J.C., Castro, L.A., Cavalcanti, G., Chemale, G., Collevatti, R.G., Cunha, C.W., Dallagiovanna, B., Dambros, B.P., Dellagostin, O.A., Falcao, C., Fantinatti-Garboggini, F., Felipe, M.S., Fiorentin, L., Franco, G.R., Freitas, N.S., Frias, D., Grangeiro, T.B., Grisard, E.C., Guimarães, C.T., Hungria, M., Jardim, S.N., Krieger, M.A., Laurino, J.P., Lima, L.F., Lopes, M.I., Loreto, E.L., Madeira, H.M., Manfio, G.P., Maranhão, A.Q., Martinkovics, C.T., Medeiros, S.R., Moreira, M.A., Neiva, M., Ramalho-Neto, C.E., Nicolas, M.F., Oliveira, S.C., Paixao, R.F., Pedrosa, F.O., Pena, S.D., Pereira, M., Pereira-Ferrari, L., Piffer, I., Pinto, L.S., Potrich, D.P., Salim, A.C., Santos, F.R., Schmitt, R., Schneider, M.P., Schrank, A., Schrank, I.S., Schuck, A.F., Seuanez, H.N., Silva, D.W., Silva, R., Silva, S.C., Soares, C.M., Souza, K.R., Souza, R.C., Staats, C.C., Steffens, M.B., Teixeira, S.M., Urmenyi, T.P., Vainstein, M.H., Zuccherato, L.W., Simpson, A.J., Zaha, A., 2005. Swine and poultry pathogens: the complete genome sequences of two strains of Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae and a strain of Mycoplasma synoviae. J. Bacteriol. 187, 5568-5577.
- Yang, W.J., Lai, J.F., Peng, K.C., Chiang, H.J., Weng, C.N., Shiuan, D., 2005. Epitope mapping of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* using phage displayed peptide libraries and the immune responses of the selected phagotopes. J. Immunol. Methods 304, 15-29.

- Yoshino, T., Shimojo, A., Maeda, Y., Matsunaga, T., 2010. Inducible expression of transmembrane proteins on bacterial magnetic particles in *Magnetospirillum magneticum* AMB-1. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 1152-1157.
- Wagner, S., Baars, L., Ytterberg, A.J., Klussmeier, A., Wagner, C.S., Nord, O.,Nygren, P.A., van Wijk, K.J., de Gier, J.W., 2007. Consequences of membrane protein overexpression in *Escherichia coli*. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 6, 1527-1550.

CHAPTER 4.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

General Discussion

M. hyopneumoniae is the causal agent of enzootic pneumonia, a contagious pulmonary disease of swine characterised by a dry, non-productive cough, reduced growth rate and poor feed conversion efficiency, that represents a costly problem for the pig industry worldwide (Thacker and Minion, 2010). Factors such as management practices, housing conditions, secondary infections and the use of antimicrobials and commercial bacterin-based vaccines can influence the severity of mycoplasmal respiratory disease in pig herds (Maes et al., 2008).

In addition, the virulence status of *M. hyopneumoniae* isolates may also affect the clinical pattern of infection, and thus the protective efficacy of vaccination may vary depending on the virulence of the strain causing infection (Vicca et al., 2003; Villarreal et al., 2011). Notwithstanding the efforts and control strategies adopted to rear high health pig herds, *M. hyopneumoniae* continues to be a widely spread organism in pig populations, which renders eradication of this respiratory disease a very difficult and frustrating task.

In the present thesis, the immune responses induced by a commercially available adjuvanted bacterin against *M. hyopneumoniae* were investigated, and a new vaccine based on recombinant proteins of *M. hyopneumoniae* was developed.

Immune response induced by a commercial bacterin in pigs

The currently used vaccines consist of adjuvanted, inactivated, whole-cell preparations and have been proven extensively to be effective in reducing the clinical symptoms and lung lesions, and in decreasing performance losses associated with *M. hyopneumoniae* infections (Maes et al., 2008). However, they provide only partial protection (Villarreal et al., 2011; Vranckx et al., 2012), and the mechanism of protection is not yet fully understood. The study reported in the chapter 3.1 investigated the mechanisms by which a commercial *M. hyopneumoniae* bacterin, applied once intramuscularly in piglets of 7 days old, can induce an immune response against EP.

Few information is available with regard to immune mechanisms induced by intramuscular vaccination with inactivated *M. hyopneumoniae* vaccines. The mode of action of the vaccine was evaluated by a number of immunological assays designed to measure local and systemic humoral and cellular immune responses. Understanding the immune response induced by the current vaccines can give better insights in the mechanisms involved in the

protection against EP and might be useful to develop new and more efficient strategies of vaccination. Immunological assays were performed on blood, bonchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid and different lymphoid tissues (lung, bronchial lymph nodes and spleen) of vaccinated and non-vaccinated pigs.

In agreement with previous reports, we observed individual variations in the number of T cell subsets (Borghetti et al., 2006; Kick et al., 2010). In both vaccinated and nonvaccinated pigs, the percentage of CD8⁺ T cells increased with age of the pigs, showing that different T cell subsets may be present in the peripheral blood and secondary lymphoid tissues. In most tissues, the percentage of CD8⁺ T cells was highest in the vaccinated group at 58 days of age. It might be that vaccination modulates the immune response induced by a *M. hyopneumoniae* infection. CD8⁺ T cells may modulate the inflammatory response through the production of IFN- γ and other cytokines, minimizing damage due to the CD4⁺ T (Th) cell mediated inflammatory responses (Jones and Simecka, 2003). This might explain why vaccinated animals develop less severe clinical symptoms and lung lesions than nonvaccinated animals after challenge with *M. hyopneumoniae* (Meyns et al., 2006; Villarreal et al., 2011).

Production of pro-inflammatory and regulatory cytokines was also determined in vaccinated and non-vaccinated animals. Previous studies showed that vaccination can prevent the pathological effects of the inflammatory cytokines through the production of IL-10 (Conti et al., 2003). In the vaccinated pigs of our study, a significantly higher number of IL-10 secreting cells were detected in the bronchial lymph nodes (BLN) compared to the non-vaccinated pigs at 58 days of age. This may also play a role in the reduction of lung tissue damage after infection of vaccinated animals. It is well known that IL-10 has an anti-proliferative effect, so the induction of IL-10 secretion can reduce the macrophages influx in the bronchoalveolar lymphoid tissue. The reduction of macrophages in vaccinated pigs compared to non-vaccinated animals, after experimental infection with *M. hyopneumoniae*, has been described by Vranckx et al. (2012).

Seo et al. (2012) suggested that a higher induction of cell-mediated immunity against *M. hyopneumoniae* was associated with a lower severity of lung lesions induced by *M. hyopneumoniae*. To better understand the effect of vaccination on cellular immune responses, the production of IL-12 and IFN- γ was evaluated. Production of IL-12 by macrophages and B cells has been demonstrated to be important in the induction of a Th1 immune response (Yang et al., 2004). Furthermore, this cytokine stimulates IFN- γ production and enhances CD8⁺ cytotoxicity, both contributing to maintaining the cell mediated immunity (Park and Scott,

2001). Indeed, vaccinated pigs showed significantly higher amounts of IL-12 in spleen, BLN and lung tissues. At 58 days of age, the number of IFN- γ secreting cells was higher in the lungs of the vaccinated group. Significantly higher levels of IFN- γ were also found in the BAL fluid of the vaccinated group at 30 days of age, indicating that the vaccine also induced a local cellular immune response. Not only a local cellular immune response, but also IgG, IgM and IgA specific *M. hyopneumoniae* antibodies were detected in the BAL fluid of vaccinated animals. IgA was detected at all tested time points and may play an important role in protection by preventing the adhesion of mycoplasmas to the ciliated epithelial cells of the respiratory tract (Thacker et al., 2000).

Effects of vaccination on host immune responses induced by infection may play an important role in the protection against lung lesion development, as excessive levels of proinflammatory cytokines like IL-1 and IL-6 were observed in BAL fluid of *M. hyopneumoniae* infected pigs (Choi et al., 2006; Thacker et al., 2000) and have been associated with tissue damage and even death of the host (Asai et al., 1993; Okada et al., 2000). In this study, highest concentrations of IL-1 β and IL-6 were detected in the BAL fluid of the non-vaccinated group. This may suggest a regulatory effect of the vaccine in the release of these cytokines, avoiding tissue damage in the host.

Adjuvants may play an important role in the enhancement of the immunogenicity of an antigen and protection. The vaccine evaluated in the current study not only contained inactivated *M. hyopneumoniae* cells but also a complex adjuvant consisting of an acrylic acid polymer, carbopol 941® and squalane. Polyacrylic acid has been evaluated as adjuvant in veterinary vaccines against swine parvovirus (Gualandi et al., 1988), circovirus type 2 (Hoogland et al., 2006) and *Staphylococcus aureus* in sheep (Tollersrud et al., 2002). These reports showed that carbomers such as carbopol are not harmful in mammals and stimulate a more robust immune response than the antigen alone. In addition, it was demonstrated that carbopol drives an adaptive immune response with strong Th1-biased antibody production and T cell responses characterized by high levels of Th1 and Th2 cytokines when evaluated in mice (Krashias et al., 2010). Moreover, squalane was found to cause significant local immune stimulation and recruit and increase antigen uptake by dendritic cells that participate in antigen transport to draining lymph nodes (Calabro et al., 2011).

Very recently a study showed that vaccination pigs of less than one week of age with this commercial bacterin is effective in reducing lung lesions and performance losses due to *M. hyopneumoniae* infection (Wilson et al., 2012). However, further studies are still required to elucidate the mechanisms involved in induction of local antibodies and cellular immunity

after parenteral administration of this inactivated vaccine and its interaction with the protection against *M. hyopneumoniae* infection.

Development of new strategies for control of EP

The current control measures, including vaccination with the commercial vaccines, limit the economic damage. However, they provide only a partial protection, and do not constitute a sustainable control of EP (Thacker et al., 2000).

One of the disadvantages of bacterins is that they contain multiple antigens, and that some of these may even inhibit a protective immune response (Haesebrouck et al., 2004). The current bacterins are based on *in vitro* grown strains and do not contain antigens that are only expressed *in vivo*. Madsen et al. (2008) indeed observed differential protein expression between *in vivo* and *in vitro* grown strains. Furthermore, differences between circulating strains and strains included in commercial vaccines have been described which also might result in a lower efficacy of vaccination.

All licensed vaccines against EP should be applied parenterally, a route of immunization which, in general, is most effective for inducing systemic immune responses. However, as many respiratory pathogens, *M. hyopneumoniae* colonises mucosal surfaces, and the efficacy of the vaccines against this organism may be improved if both systemic and mucosal immune responses are induced. Many studies have demonstrated the efficiency of adhesin-based vaccines in blocking the interactions between the microbial adhesins and their host cell receptors (Wizemann et al., 1999). *M. hyopneumoniae* is primarily found on the mucosal surface of the trachea, bronchi, and bronchioles (Blanchard et al., 1992), and the adherence to the ciliated epithelium is a prerequisite for initiation of the infection. The mechanisms of adherence are complex and not fully understood. Zhang et al (1995) identified the P97 protein to be a ciliary adhesin. Many other potential adhesins have also been described (Burnett et al., 2006; Chen et al., 1998; Seymour et al., 2011; Seymour et al., 2012). However, some pure adhesins as well recombinant subunit vaccines containing only one antigen, elicit poor immune responses and need to be administered together with an immunostimulative carrier molecule or vector (Wizemann et al., 1999).

One strategy to induce mucosal immunity has been the use of bacterial enterotoxins such as cholera toxin (CT) from *Vibrio cholerae* and the related *Escherichia coli* heat labile enterotoxin (LT), which are highly immunogenic when delivered mucosally and parenterally and which can acts as carriers to potentiate responses to non-related antigens (O'Hagan,

1998). Looking for a more complete protective response than the one generated by single component vaccines, a multi-component vaccine was developed. In the study presented in chapter 3.2, the aims were 1) to produce a recombinant chimeric protein composed of the c-terminal portion (R1) of the adhesin P97, P42 and NrdF antigens of *M. hyopneumoniae* fused to nontoxic *E. coli* heat-labile enterotoxin B subunit (LTB), 2) to evaluate the capacity of this chimeric protein to induce a specific immune response in intramuscularly and intranasally vaccinated mice, as well as in intramuscularly vaccinated pigs, and 3) to compare the effect of the fusion and co-administration of these proteins as well as the adjuvant effect of LTB.

Humoral and mucosal immune responses were characterized by the production of high levels of anti rP97R1, rP42 and rNrdF IgG in the sera and IgA antibodies in tracheobronchial lavage of vaccinated mice. Some of these antigens (P97R1 and NrdF) have previously been shown to induce specific immune responses in pigs too (Fagan et al., 2001; Okamba et al., 2010; Shimoji et al., 2003) and the heat shock protein P42 has been considered a good immunogen in several studies (Chen et al., 2003; Simionatto et al., 2012). In challenge experiments in pigs, it was shown that induction of antibodies against P97 or P97R1 and NrdF reduced the severity of lung lesions caused by *M. hyopneumoniae* infection (Fagan et al., 2001; Okamba et al., 2010; Shimoji et al., 2003). In addition, heat shock proteins as P42 have been shown to present multiple B-cell and T-cell epitopes and have also been used as an adjuvant to enhance cell-mediated immune responses in DNA vaccines (Chen et al., 2000).

Foreign antigens fused to recombinant LTB might constitute useful vaccines (da Hora et al., 2011), if these antigens indeed can be delivered across the mucosal epithelium to the underlying mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue. Then, they can stimulate the mucosal immune system by mediating the induction of antigen-specific mucosal IgA (Kim et al., 2011). LTB has been shown to be a potent mucosal and systemic adjuvant towards co-administered or fused unrelated antigens (Liu et al., 2011a; Zhou et al., 2009). It has already been shown that LTB can increase both T helper type 1 and 2 (Th1 and Th2) associated cytokine responses to LTB-fused antigens (Zhou et al., 2009). However, *E. coli* heat-labile toxin (LT) has also been shown to have negative side effects in humans, as both native and mutant LT (mLT) used as adjuvants were recently associated with the development of facial nerve paralysis following intranasal delivery in humans (Lewis et al., 2009). It is, therefore, evident that these toxin adjuvants exhibit safety concerns that will likely prevent their use in nasally delivered vaccines for humans.

Our results demonstrated that the presence of LTB, either co-administered or as part of the fusion proteins, resulted in significantly higher levels of IgG and IgA antibodies in intranasally and intramuscularly immunized mice, although these levels differed between antigens, with higher antibody levels against the rP42. Even though no cytokine production was measured in the present study, it is commonly accepted that Th1 cells are preferentially involved in cell-mediated immunity, since they can activate B cells to produce strongly opsonising antibodies such as IgG2a and IgG2b in mice. In contrast, Th2 cells induce B cells to proliferate and produce antibodies such as IgG1 (Mosmann and Coffman, 1989). Intramuscular injection of the chimeric protein induced IgG1 and IgG2a. In the groups inoculated intranasally, significant differences were only found in the response against rP42, with higher levels in the group inoculated with the chimeric protein. These results indicate a mixed Th1 and Th2 response, mainly against the rP42.

The chimeric protein was also able to induce specific IgG antibodies in pigs, demonstrating the same profile as in mice. Significant differences were detected between preimmunisation and post-immunisation serum antibody levels against all antigens comprising the chimeric protein, with higher levels of antibodies against rP42.

In conclusion, the study in chapter 3.2 described the design and expression of a chimeric recombinant protein comprising three *M. hyopneumoniae* antigens and the adjuvant LTB. The chimeric protein exhibited antigenic profiles similar to those of the original proteins, and the antigens included induced an immune response both in mice and in pigs. To our knowledge, this is the first multivalent subunit recombinant vaccine synthesized as a single molecule for *M. hyopneumoniae*. This approach may result in a formulation that could improve the protection against EP in pigs, and facilitate the manufacturing process, since more than one antigen can be produced in a single process. Further research will focus on the protective immunity of the vaccine against experimental *M. hyopneumoniae* infections in pigs.

Although the novel methodologies may show promising effects for the control of *M*. *hyopneumoniae* infections, very limited information is available on antigens of *M*. *hyopneumoniae* that are important for inducing protection. This is mainly due to the fact that the pathogen is very difficult to grow and manipulate *in vitro*. Antigens like P97, P97R1 and NrdF have been investigated in different vaccine formulations (Fagan et al., 2001; Ogawa et al., 2009; Okamba et al., 2010; Shimoji et al., 2003). Some of these formulations (P97 and Nrdf) were able to induce specific immune responses in pigs but with only limited protection against pulmonary lesions caused by *M. hyopneumoniae* infection (Fagan et al., 2001; Shimoji et al., 2003). So, new and more efficient strategies are required to identify antigens that might be useful to the development of more effective vaccines.

Availability of the whole genome sequences of four *M. hyopneumoniae* strains (Liu et al., 2011b; Minion et al., 2004; Vasconcelos et al., 2005) has allowed the use of reverse vaccinology for development of recombinant subunit vaccines (Rappuoli, 2001). This approach may contribute to the identification of *M. hyopneumoniae* antigens that might be important for the development of new and more effective vaccines against EP. The main drivers for recombinant protein-based vaccine development are development of more potent, safer and better characterized vaccines, providing broader protection against multiple strains of a bacterium (Unnikrishnan et al., 2012).

In the study described in the chapter 3.3, recombinant antigens belonging to the group of transmembrane proteins of *M. hyopneumoniae* were evaluated as vaccine candidates. Transmembrane proteins play critical roles in cellular metabolism, participating in processes such as ion transport, nutrient uptake, signal transduction, and intercellular communication. The importance of these proteins is illustrated by the fact that more than half of all drug targets are transmembrane proteins. The analysis of the interactions of transmembrane proteins and their ligands is one of the most promising avenues for the discovery of new drug candidates as well as vaccine targets (Janulczyk and Rasmussen, 2001; Yoshino et al., 2010).

Six recombinant transmembrane proteins were cloned, expressed in *E. coli* and purified in sufficient amounts for use in further immunological analyses. This was not that easy as Mollicutes genomes have a high AT- content that reduces the expression levels of mycoplasmal proteins in heterologous expression systems, and there is poor intrinsic solubility and inherent toxicity of transmembrane proteins.

M. hyopneumoniae is a host specific pathogen which only infects pigs. Therefore, the efficacy of a vaccine against EP can only be determined in pigs, making the experiment laborious and expensive. Immunological characterization of each antigen is important in order to allow selection of the most qualified antigens for clinical trials in pigs. In chapter 3.3 of the present thesis, the immunogenicity of each recombinant protein was determined by inoculating purified antigens in mice and measuring the humoral immune response. All recombinant proteins evaluated were immunogenic for mice.

In addition, none of the recombinant proteins evaluated in this study reacted with the serum of the group of animals inoculated with the inactivated commercial vaccine. This indicates that these antigens are not present in the bacterin used in the experiment. This result is in agreement with a previous study, where a commercial vaccine did not stimulate the production of serum antibodies against the C-terminal portion of the adhesion P97 either, suggesting that the vaccine strain did not contain the P97 adhesin (Conceição et al., 2006).

The absence of this antigen playing a role in colonization, could compromise the efficacy of the vaccine, and might be one of the reasons why commercial vaccines only induce partial protection. Moreover, all recombinant proteins were recognized by serum from pigs naturally infected, indicating that they are expressed during infection, and may have potential to be used in serological diagnostic tests. However, a more detailed and efficient characterization needs to be performed before using these proteins as a tool for immunodiagnosis of EP.

The results of chapter 3.3 showed that six transmembrane proteins of *M*. *hyopneumoniae*, not previously characterized, are immunogenic and are expressed during infection in pigs. This suggests that these antigens may have potential to be included in a vaccine against EP, and that they might also be useful in diagnostic tests. Although the immune response of mice cannot be extrapolated to other species and no direct correlation has been found between serum antibody concentration and protection against *M*. *hyopneumoniae* challenge (Djordjevic et al., 1997), the results warrant further investigation in challenge experiments in pigs.

From the studies described in this thesis, it can be concluded that intramuscular vaccination with an adjuvanted bacterin is able to stimulate both a systemic and a local immune response. Also new approaches were designed for the development of vaccines against EP. However, further investigations are required to obtain better insights in the role of the host immune response in protection on the one hand and induction of lesions on the other hand. It was also concluded that a multi-component vaccine is a valuable strategy to develop new vaccines, since many *M. hyopneumoniae* antigens can be obtained in a single step production. It is clear that more studies are necessary to better understand the stability of the antigens in this single molecule and to investigate their efficacy in challenge experiments in pigs.

Future Perspectives

The investigated bacterin induced an immune response that might be important to inhibit the growth of *M. hyopneumoniae* and/or reduce the lesions caused by the infection. The immune responses of vaccinated animals following infection however are not fully understood, but infected pigs are unable to rapidly clear the infection. Further studies on bacteria–host interactions could allow selection of new protective antigens. Knowledge about the antigens of *M. hyopneumoniae* that are important for inducing protection is limited and more information on these antigens is necessary, as this is an essential step for the development of more effective vaccination and control strategies.

The identification of new antigens has been facilitated by the fact that the genome of four different *M. hyopneumoniae* isolates has been sequenced and recombinant antigens evaluated. The antigens identified in this thesis were immunogenic in mice, are a first step in the vaccine development. They need to be tested in pigs for their possible protective immunity. In addition, from an immunological point of view, further research should focus on induction of immunity at the mucosal level. As *M. hyopneumoniae* organisms adhere to the ciliated epithelial cells of the trachea, bronchi and bronchioles, local IgA responses may be important for protection.

Since even with the best antigen identification production system, vaccines might not reach their full potential unless they are formulated and delivered properly. Therefore, in addition to identifying new antigens potentially inducing mucosal immunity, research should also focus on other factors such as the formulation and delivery of the antigens, and the adjuvants leading to an appropriate and long-lasting protective immunity. For example, heterologous prime – boost immunisation strategies comprising priming with a DNA vaccine followed by boosting with recombinant proteins may be useful to enhance the immune response. A combination of the mentioned factors may facilitate the design and production of more potent and safer vaccines against EP, and vaccines that are also easy to administer.

References

- Asai, T., Okada, M., Ono, M., Irisawa, T., Mori, Y., Yokomizo, Y., Sato, S., 1993. Increased levels of tumor necrosis factor and interleukin 1 in bronchoalveolar lavage fluids from pigs infected with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 38, 253-260.
- Blanchard, B., Vena, M.M., Cavalier, A., Lelannic, J., Gouranton, J., Kobisch, M., 1992. Electron-microscopic observation of the respiratory-tract of spf piglets inoculated with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Vet. Microbiol. 30, 329-341.
- Borghetti, P., De Angelis, E., Saleri, R., Cavalli, V., Cacchioli, A., Corradi, A., Mocchegiani, E., Martelli, P., 2006. Peripheral T lymphocyte changes in neonatal piglets: Relationship with growth hormone (GH), prolactin (PRL) and cortisol changes. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 110, 17-25.
- Burnett, T.A., Dinkla, K., Rohde, M., Chhatwal, G.S., Uphoff, C., Srivastava, M., Cordwell, S.J., Geary, S., Liao, X., Minion, F.C., Walker, M.J., Djordjevic, S.P., 2006. P159 is a proteolytically processed, surface adhesin of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*: defined domains of P159 bind heparin and promote adherence to eukaryote cells. Mol. Microbiol. 60, 669-686.
- Calabro, S., Tortoli, M., Baudner, B.C., Pacitto, A., Cortese, M., O'Hagan, D.T., De Gregorio, E., Seubert, A., Wack, A., 2011. Vaccine adjuvants alum and MF59 induce rapid recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes that participate in antigen transport to draining lymph nodes. Vaccine 29, 1812-1823.
- Chen, C.H., Wang, T.L., Hung, C.F., Yang, Y.Q., Young, R.A., Pardoll, D.M., Wu, T.C., 2000. Enhancement of DNA vaccine potency by linkage of antigen gene to an HSP70 gene. Cancer Research 60, 1035-1042.
- Chen, J.R., Lin, J.H., Weng, C.N., Lai, S.S., 1998. Identification of a novel adhesin-like glycoprotein from *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Vet. Microbiol. 62, 97-110.
- Chen, Y.L., Wang, S.N., Yang, W.J., Chen, Y.J., Lin, H.H., Shiuan, D., 2003. Expression and immunogenicity of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* heat shock protein antigen P42 by DNA vaccination. Infect. Immun. 71, 1155-1160.
- Choi, C., Kwon, D., Jung, K., Ha, Y., Lee, Y.H., Kim, O., Park, H.K., Kimt, S.H., Hwang, K.K., Chae, C., 2006. Expression of inflammatory cytokines in pigs experimentally infected with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. J. Comp. Pathol. 134, 40-46.
- Conceição, F.R., Moreira, A.N., Dellagostin, O.A., 2006. A recombinant chimera composed of R1 repeat region of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* P97 adhesin with Escherichia coli heat-labile enterotoxin B subunit elicits immune response in mice. Vaccine 24, 5734-5743.
- Conti, P., Kempuraj, D., Kandere, K., Di Gioacchino, M., Barbacane, R.C., Castellani, M.L., Felaco, M., Boucher, W., Letourneau, R., Theoharides, T.C., 2003. IL-10, an inflammatory/inhibitory cytokine, but not always. Immunology Letters 86, 123-129.

- da Hora, V.P., Conceição, F.R., Dellagostin, O.A., Doolan, D.L., 2011. Non-toxic derivatives of LT as potent adjuvants. Vaccine 29, 1538-1544.
- Djordjevic, S.P., Eamens, G.J., Romalis, L.F., Nicholls, P.J., Taylor, V., Chin, J., 1997. Serum and mucosal antibody responses and protection in pigs vaccinated against *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* with vaccines containing a denatured membrane antigen pool and adjuvant. Aust. Vet. J. 75, 504-511.
- Fagan, P.K., Walker, M.J., Chin, J., Eamens, G.J., Djordjevic, S.P., 2001. Oral immunization of swine with attenuated *Salmonella typhimurium* aroA SL3261 expressing a recombinant antigen of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* (NrdF) primes the immune system for a NrdF specific secretory IgA response in the lungs. Microb. Pathog. 30, 101-110.
- Gualandi, G.L., Losio, N.M., Muratori, G., Foni, E., 1988. The Ability by Different Preparations of Porcine Parvovirus to Enhance Humoral Immunity in Swine and Guinea-Pigs. Microbiologica 11, 363-369.
- Haesebrouck, F., Pasmans, F., Chiers, K., Maes, D., Ducatelle, R., Decostere, A., 2004. Efficacy of vaccines against bacterial diseases in swine: what can we expect? Vet. Microbiol. 100, 255-268.
- Hoogland, M.J., Opriessnig, T., Halbur, P.G., 2006. Effects of adjuvants on porcine circovirus type 2-associated lesions. Journal of Swine Health and Production 14, 133-139.
- Janulczyk, R., Rasmussen, M., 2001. Improved pattern for genome-based screening identifies novel cell wall-attached proteins in gram-positive bacteria. Infect. Immun. 69, 4019-4026.
- Jones, H.P., Simecka, J.W., 2003. T lymphocyte responses are critical determinants in the pathogenesis and resistance to Mycoplasma respiratory disease. Frontiers in Bioscience 8, 930-945.
- Kick, A.R., Tompkins, M.B., Mark, H.J., Routh, P.A., Almond, G.W., 2010. Evaluation of peripheral lymphocytes after weaning and vaccination for *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Res. Vet. Sci.91, 68-72.
- Kim, J.M., Park, S.M., Kim, J.A., Park, J.A., Yi, M.H., Kim, N.S., Bae, J.L., Park, S.G., Jang, Y.S., Yang, M.S., Kim, D.H., 2011. Functional Pentameric Formation via Coexpression of the *Escherichia coli* Heat-Labile Enterotoxin B Subunit and Its Fusion Protein Subunit with a Neutralizing Epitope of ApxIIA Exotoxin Improves the Mucosal Immunogenicity and Protection against Challenge by *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae*. Clin. Vaccine Immunol. 18, 2168-2177.
- Krashias, G., Simon, A.K., Wegmann, F., Kok, W.L., Ho, L.P., Stevens, D., Skehel, J., Heeney, J.L., Moghaddam, A.E., Sattentau, Q.J., 2010. Potent adaptive immune responses induced against HIV-1 gp140 and influenza virus HA by a polyanionic carbomer. Vaccine 28, 2482-2489.
- Lewis, D.J., Huo, Z., Barnett, S., Kromann, I., Giemza, R., Galiza, E., Woodrow, M., Thierry-Carstensen, B., Andersen, P., Novicki, D., Del, G.G., Rappuoli, R., 2009. Transient

facial nerve paralysis (Bell's palsy) following intranasal delivery of a genetically detoxified mutant of *Escherichia coli* heat labile toxin. PLoS. One. 4, e6999.

- Liu, D.Q., Wang, X.Q., Ge, J.W., Liu, S.M., Li, Y.J., 2011a. Comparison of the immune responses induced by oral immunization of mice with *Lactobacillus casei*-expressing porcine parvovirus VP2 and VP2 fused to *Escherichia coli* heat-labile enterotoxin B subunit protein. Comp. Immunol. Microb. 34, 73-81.
- Liu, W., Feng, Z., Fang, L., Zhou, Z., Li, Q., Li, S., Luo, R., Wang, L., Chen, H., Shao, G., Xiao, S., 2011b. Complete genome sequence of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strain 168. J. Bacteriol. 193, 1016-1017.
- Madsen, M.L., Puttamreddy, S., Thacker, E.L., Carruthers, M.D., Minion, F.C., 2008. Transcriptome changes in *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* during infection. Infct. Immun. 76, 658-663.
- Maes, D., Segales, J., Meyns, T., Sibila, M., Pieters, M., Haesebrouck, F., 2008. Control of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* infections in pigs. Vet. Microbiol. 126, 297-309.
- Meyns, T., Dewulf, J., de, K.A., Calus, D., Haesebrouck, F., Maes, D., 2006. Comparison of transmission of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* in vaccinated and non-vaccinated populations. Vaccine 24, 7081-7086.
- Minion, F.C., Lefkowitz, E.J., Madsen, M.L., Cleary, B.J., Swartzell, S.M., Mahairas, G.G., 2004. The genome sequence of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strain 232, the agent of swine mycoplasmosis. J. Bacteriol. 186, 7123-7133.
- Mosmann, T.R., Coffman, R.L., 1989. Th1-Cell and Th2-Cell Different Patterns of Lymphokine Secretion Lead to Different Functional-Properties. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 7, 145-173.
- O'Hagan, D.T., 1998. Recent advances in vaccine adjuvants for systemic and mucosal administration. J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 50, 1-10.
- Ogawa, Y., Oishi, E., Muneta, Y., Sano, A., Hikono, H., Shibahara, T., Yagi, Y., Shimoji, Y., 2009. Oral vaccination against mycoplasmal pneumonia of swine using a live *Erysipelothrix rhusiopathiae* vaccine strain as a vector. Vaccine 27, 4543-4550.
- Okada, M., Asai, T., Ono, M., Sakano, T., Sato, S., 2000. Cytological and immunological changes in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and histological observation of lung lesions in pigs immunized with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* inactivated vaccine prepared from broth culture supernate. Vaccine 18, 2825-2831.
- Okamba, F.R., Arella, M., Music, N., Jia, J.J., Gottschalk, M., Gagnon, C.A., 2010. Potential use of a recombinant replication-defective adenovirus vector carrying the C-terminal portion of the P97 adhesin protein as a vaccine against *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* in swine. Vaccine 28, 4802-4809.
- Park, A.Y., Scott, P., 2001. IL-12: Keeping cell-mediated immunity alive. Scand. J. Immunol. 53, 529-532

- Rappuoli, R., 2001. Reverse vaccinology, a genome-based approach to vaccine development. Vaccine 19, 2688-2691.
- Seo, H.W., Han, K., Oh, Y., Park, C., Choo, E.J., Kim, S.H., Lee, B.H., Chae, C., 2012. Comparison of cell-mediated immunity induced by three commercial single-dose *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* bacterins in pigs. J Vet Med Sci.
- Seymour, L.M., Falconer, L., Deutscher, A.T., Minion, F.C., Padula, M.P., Dixon, N.E., Djordjevic, S.P., Walker, M.J., 2011. Mhp107 Is a Member of the Multifunctional Adhesin Family of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 10097-10104.
- Seymour, L.M., Jenkins, C., Deutscher, A.T., Raymond, B.B.A., Padula, M.P., Tacchi, J.L., Bogema, D.R., Eamens, G.J., Woolley, L.K., Dixon, N.E., Walker, M.J., Djordjevic, S.P., 2012. Mhp182 (P102) binds fibronectin and contributes to the recruitment of plasmin(ogen) to the *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* cell surface. Cell. Microbiol. 14, 81-94.
- Shimoji, Y., Oishi, E., Muneta, Y., Nosaka, H., Mori, Y., 2003. Vaccine efficacy of the attenuated *Erysipelothrix rhusiopathiae* YS-19 expressing a recombinant protein of Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae P97 adhesin against mycoplasmal pneumonia of swine. Vaccine 21, 532-537.
- Simionatto, S., Marchioro, S.B., Galli, V., Brum, C.B., Klein, C.S., Rebelatto, R., Silva, E.F., Borsuk, S., Conceição, F.R., Dellagostin, O.A., 2012. Immunological characterization of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* recombinant proteins. Comp. Immunol. Microb. 35, 209-216.
- Thacker, E.L., Minion, F.C., 2010. Mycoplasmosis. In: Zimmerman, J. (Ed.), Diseases of swine. Iowa state university press, Ames, Iowa USA, pp. 779-797.
- Thacker, E.L., Thacker, B.J., Kuhn, M., Hawkins, P.A., Waters, W.R., 2000. Evaluation of local and systemic immune responses induced by intramuscular injection of a *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* bacterin to pigs. Am. J. Vet. Res. 61, 1384-1389.
- Tollersrud, T., Norstebo, P.E., Engvik, J.P., Andersen, S.R., Reitan, L.J., Lund, A., 2002. Antibody responses in sheep vaccinated against *Staphylococcus aureus* mastitis: A comparison of two experimental vaccines containing different adjuvants. Vet. Res. Commu. 26, 587-600.
- Unnikrishnan, M., Rappuoli, R., Serruto, D., 2012. Recombinant bacterial vaccines. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 24, 337-342.
- Vasconcelos, A.T., Ferreira, H.B., Bizarro, C.V., Bonatto, S.L., Carvalho, M.O., Pinto, P.M., Almeida, D.F., Almeida, L.G., Almeida, R., ves-Filho, L., Assunção, E.N., Azevedo, V.A., Bogo, M.R., Brigido, M.M., Brocchi, M., Burity, H.A., Camargo, A.A., Camargo, S.S., Carepo, M.S., Carraro, D.M., de Mattos Cascardo, J.C., Castro, L.A., Cavalcanti, G., Chemale, G., Collevatti, R.G., Cunha, C.W., Dallagiovanna, B., Dambros, B.P., Dellagostin, O.A., Falcao, C., Fantinatti-Garboggini, F., Felipe, M.S., Fiorentin, L., Franco, G.R., Freitas, N.S., Frias, D., Grangeiro, T.B., Grisard, E.C., Guimaraes, C.T., Hungria, M., Jardim, S.N., Krieger, M.A., Laurino, J.P., Lima, L.F., Lopes, M.I., Loreto, E.L., Madeira, H.M., Manfio, G.P., Maranhao, A.Q., Martinkovics, C.T., Medeiros, S.R., Moreira, M.A., Neiva, M., Ramalho-Neto, C.E.,

Nicolas, M.F., Oliveira, S.C., Paixao, R.F., Pedrosa, F.O., Pena, S.D., Pereira, M., Pereira-Ferrari, L., Piffer, I., Pinto, L.S., Potrich, D.P., Salim, A.C., Santos, F.R., Schmitt, R., Schneider, M.P., Schrank, A., Schrank, I.S., Schuck, A.F., Seuanez, H.N., Silva, D.W., Silva, R., Silva, S.C., Soares, C.M., Souza, K.R., Souza, R.C., Staats, C.C., Steffens, M.B., Teixeira, S.M., Urmenyi, T.P., Vainstein, M.H., Zuccherato, L.W., Simpson, A.J., Zaha, A., 2005. Swine and poultry pathogens: the complete genome sequences of two strains of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* and a strain of *Mycoplasma synoviae*. J. Bacteriol. 187, 5568-5577.

- Vicca, J., Stakenborg, T., Maes, D., Butaye, P., Peeters, J., de, K.A., Haesebrouck, F., 2003. Evaluation of virulence of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* field isolates. Vet. Microbiol. 97, 177-190.
- Villarreal, I., Maes, D., Vranckx, K., Calus, D., Pasmans, F., Haesebrouck, F., 2011. Effect of vaccination of pigs against experimental infection with high and low virulence *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strains. Vaccine 29, 1731-1735.
- Vranckx, K., Maes, D., Marchioro, S.B., Villarreal, I., Chiers, K., Pasmans, F., Haesebrouck, F., 2012. Vaccination reduces macrophage infiltration in bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue in pigs infected with a highly virulent *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strain. Bmc Vet. Res. 8.
- Wilson, S., Van, B.L., Saunders, G., Taylor, L., Zimmermann, L., Heinritzi, K., Ritzmann, M., Banholzer, E., Eddicks, M., 2012. Vaccination of piglets at 1 week of age with an inactivated *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* vaccine reduces lung lesions and improves average daily gain in body weight. Vaccine 30, 7625-7629.
- Wizemann, T.M., Adamou, J.E., Langermann, S., 1999. Adhesins as targets for vaccine development. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 5, 395-403.
- Yang, J., Hooper, W.C., Phillips, D.J., Talkington, D.F., 2004. Cytokines in *Mycoplasma pneumoniae* infections. Cytokine & Growth Factor Rev. 15, 157-168.
- Yoshino, T., Shimojo, A., Maeda, Y., Matsunaga, T., 2010. Inducible Expression of Transmembrane Proteins on Bacterial Magnetic Particles in Magnetospirillum magneticum AMB-1. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 1152-1157.
- Zhang, Q., Young, T.F., Ross, R.F., 1995. Identification and characterization of a *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* adhesin. Infect. Immun. 63, 1013-1019.
- Zhou, W.Y., Shi, Y., Wu, C., Zhang, W.J., Mao, X.H., Guo, G., Li, H.X., Zou, Q.M., 2009. Therapeutic efficacy of a multi-epitope vaccine against *Helicobacter pylori* infection in BALB/c mice model. Vaccine 27, 5013-5019.

SUMMARY

Summary

Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae (M. hyopneumoniae) is known to be the primary causative agent of enzootic pneumonia in pigs. This disease leads to a chronic dry cough and slight hyperthermia, reduces the pig's average daily weight gain and feed conversion efficiency, causes low mortality but high morbidity. The infection of *M. hyopneumoniae* may also increase the susceptibility of pigs to other pathogens such as *Pasteurella multocida*, *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae*, *Haemophilus parasuis*, porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) and swine influenza virus, and may cause more serious pneumonia once complicated with infections of other respiratory pathogens. So it is a key pathogenic microorganism in porcine enzootic pneumonia (EP) and the porcine respiratory disease complex (PRDC). Both diseases represent serious health concerns worldwide in swine populations, and cause significant economic losses in pig production.

M. hyopneumoniae infection can be controlled by optimizing management practices and housing conditions, the use of antibiotics and vaccination. Commercial vaccines consist of adjuvanted inactivated whole cell preparations, and are frequently used worldwide in countries with an intensive pig production. The currently available vaccines are beneficial from an economic point of view, but they do not provide a sustainable control of the disease. They cannot prevent colonization of *M. hyopneumoniae* in the respiratory tract, and do not significantly reduce the transmission of the pathogen. Also, little is known about the exact mechanisms of the partial protection they induce.

The general aims of this thesis were to assess the mode of the action of an existing commercial vaccine on the one hand and to develop and evaluate new recombinant vaccines against *M. hyopneumoniae* on the other hand, looking for more effective strategies for disease control. For development of the recombinant vaccines, two types of antigens were considered. One vaccine was based on proteins known to play a role in the adhesion and that were able to induce a partial protection against *M. hyopneumoniae* infection when evaluated individually. The other antigens were a group of transmembrane proteins (not previously characterized). The identification of these novel antigens might contribute to the development of improved vaccines.

The specific objectives were:

1. To analyze the systemic as well as the local mucosal immune response induced by intramuscular administration of a commercial *M. hyopneumoniae* vaccine in pigs.

- To produce a recombinant chimeric protein composed of the P97R1, P42 and NrdF antigens of *M. hyopneumoniae* fused to *Escherichia coli* heat labile enterotoxin B subunit (LTB) and to evaluate the capacity of this chimeric protein to induce a specific immune response in mice and pigs.
- 3. To identify, clone and characterize transmembrane proteins from *M. hyopneumoniae* which may be useful in vaccination against enzootic pneumonia.

In chapter 1, a review of the literature is given, with emphasis on vaccination strategies, including the use of reverse vaccinology approaches. The aims of the thesis are shown in chapter 2. The three experimental studies are presented in chapter 3.

In the first study (Chapter 3.1), the mechanisms were investigated by which a commercial *M. hyopneumoniae* bacterin, applied once intramuscularly in piglets of 7 days old, can induce a systemic as well as a local mucosal immune response against EP. Pigs were euthanized and necropsied at 30, 36 and 58 days of age. Immunological assays were performed on blood, bonchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid, lung tissue, bronchial lymph nodes (BLN) and spleen of vaccinated and non-vaccinated pigs. Serum and BAL fluid were tested for the presence of antibodies by ELISA. Monomorphonuclear cells from the peripheral blood and tissues were isolated to quantify the T cell subsets by flow cytometry, and cytokine production by ELIspot and ELISA. Antibodies against M. hyopneumoniae were detected in serum of most vaccinated pigs at 30 days of age. M. hyopneumoniae specific IgG, IgM and IgA were detected in BAL fluid from vaccinated animals, but not from control animals. Significantly higher numbers of IL-12 secreting cells were observed in the lung at day 58 in the vaccinated than in the non-vaccinated group (p < 0.05). The number of IL-10 secreting cells from BLN was also higher in the vaccinated group at day 58 (p<0.05). After restimulation in vitro, lymphocytes from BLN and lungs secreted significantly higher levels of IL-12 in the vaccinated group at day 58. These results show that the vaccine induced both systemic and mucosal cellular and humoral immune responses.

In the study described in the chapter 3.2, a multi-antigen chimera with three antigens of *M. hyopneumoniae* (R1, P42 and NrdF) and the mucosal adjuvant LTB was constructed and its antigenic and immunogenic properties in mice and pigs were evaluated. In addition, a comparison between fusion and co-administration of these proteins was performed. The chimeric protein was constructed and expressed in *E. coli*. Antibodies against each subunit recognized the chimeric protein, showing its antigenicity. Intranasal and intramuscular immunization of mice with the chimeric protein significantly increased the levels of mice IgG

and IgA, in serum and tracheobronchial lavages, respectively. Mice immunized with chimeric protein, showed levels of IgG and IgA antibodies against rP42 significantly higher in both intramuscular and intranasal immunization (p<0.005), when compared with pre-immune serum. Pigs immunized with the chimeric protein developed an immune response against all *M. hyopneumoniae* antigens present in the fusion with statistically significant difference (p<0.05) compared to the pre-immune serum. Highest immune responses were detected in fused and co-administered antigens with adjuvant, proving the adjuvant effect of rLTB. However, better results were shown by the chimeric protein, highlighting the ability of fused antigens to stimulate an immune response. This multi-antigen is a promising vaccine candidate that may help to control *M. hyopneumoniae* infection.

The availability of the whole genome sequences of four *M. hyopneumoniae* strains has allowed to use reverse vaccinology for development of recombinant subunit vaccines. This approach may contribute to the identification of *M. hyopneumoniae* antigens that might be important for the development of new and more effective vaccines against EP. In the third study (Chapter 3.3), 17 genes coding for transmembrane proteins from *M. hyopneumoniae* were cloned, among which six were successfully expressed in *E. coli* and their immunogenic and antigenic properties were investigated. All proteins were immunogenic in mice and sera from naturally infected pigs reacted with the recombinant proteins, suggesting that they are expressed during infection. These antigens may contribute to the development of new recombinant vaccines and diagnostic tests for EP.

From the studies described in this thesis, it can be concluded that intramuscular vaccination with an adjuvanted bacterin is able to stimulate both systemic and local immune responses. New approaches were designed for the development of vaccines against EP. It was also concluded that a multi-component vaccine is a valuable approach to develop new vaccines, since many *M. hyopneumoniae* antigens can be obtained in a single step production. It is clear that more studies are necessary in order to better understand the stability of the antigens in this single molecule and their efficacy in challenge experiments in pigs will also have to be determined. Further investigations are required in order to obtain better insights in the role of the host immune response in protection on the one hand and induction of lesions on the other hand.

138

SAMENVATTING

Samenvatting

Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae (M. hyopneumoniae) is het primaire agens dat enzoötische pneumonie bij varkens veroorzaakt. Deze ziekte gaat gepaard met een chronische, droge hoest, lichte koorts, een verminderde dagelijkse groei en hogere voederconversie, hoge morbiditeit en meestal een lage mortaliteit. Een infectie met M. hyopneumoniae verhoogt de gevoeligheid van varkens voor infecties met andere pathogenen zoals Pasteurella multocida, Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae, Haemophilus parasuis, porcien reproductief en respiratoir syndroom virus (PRRSV) en porciene influenzavirussen. Een secundaire besmetting met deze respiratoire pathogenen na een infectie met M. hyopneumoniae resulteert in meer uitgesproken symptomen en letsels. Men spreekt dan over enzoötische pneumonie (EP) of het porcien respiratoir ziekte complex. In dit laatste geval gaat het over infecties met M. hyopneumoniae in combinatie met virale pathogenen en het ziektebeeld is meer acuut in vergelijking EP. Beide aandoeningen wereldwijd met zorgen voor grote gezondheidsproblemen bij varkens en belangrijke economische verliezen voor de varkenssector.

M. hyopneumoniae infecties kunnen onder controle gehouden worden door de bedrijfsvoering en de huisvesting op het bedrijf te optimaliseren, door het gebruik van antibiotica en het toepassen van vaccinatie. De huidige commerciële vaccins bevatten geïnactiveerde *M. hyopneumoniae* bacteriën en een adjuvans. Vaccinatie wordt veelvuldig en wereldwijd aangewend in landen met een intensieve varkenshouderij. Deze huidige vaccins zijn effectief vanuit economisch oogpunt, maar ze zijn niet in staat om de ziekte volledig onder controle te houden. De kolonisatie van *M. hyopneumoniae* ter hoogte van het ademhalingsstelsel wordt niet verhinderd en de verspreiding van het agens wordt niet significant verminderd door vaccinatie. Toen dit doctoraatsonderzoek opgestart werd, was het onvoldoende gekend welke immuunmechanismen een rol spelen bij het induceren van de partiële bescherming na vaccinatie met commerciële vaccins.

De algemene doelstellingen van deze doctoraatsthesis waren enerzijds het nagaan van het werkingsmechanisme van een bestaand commercieel vaccin en anderzijds het ontwikkelen en evalueren van nieuwe vaccins op basis van recombinant aangemaakte eiwitten van *M. hyopneumoniae*, om op die manier te komen tot meer effectieve controlestrategieën. Voor de ontwikkeling van de nieuwe vaccins werd gebruik gemaakt van twee types antigenen. Een eerste vaccin was gebaseerd op drie eiwitten die een rol spelen in de adhesie van de kiem ter hoogte van het ademhalingsstelsel. In de tweede plaats werd het immunogeen vermogen nagegaan van recombinant tot expressie gebrachte transmembranaire proteïnen die voordien nog niet gekarakteriseerd werden.

De specifieke doelstellingen van deze doctoraatsthesis waren:

1. Het bestuderen van de systemische en mucosale immuunrespons bij varkens die intramusculair gevaccineerd werden met een commercieel *M. hyopneumoniae*-vaccin.

2. Het produceren van een recombinant chimeer eiwit bestaande uit drie adhesines van *M. hyopneumoniae* (P97R1, P42 en NrdF) gefuseerd met het B fragment van het thermolabiele enterotoxine van enterotoxigene *Escherichia coli* (LTB) en het nagaan van de capaciteit van dit chimeer eiwit om een specifieke immuunrespons te induceren bij muizen en varkens.

3. Het identificeren, klonen en karakteriseren van transmembranaire proteïnen van *M. hyopneumoniae* die eventueel bruikbaar kunnen zijn voor het ontwikkelen van vaccins tegen enzoötische pneumonie.

In hoofdstuk 1 wordt een literatuuroverzicht gegeven in verband met *M*. *hyopneumoniae*, met nadruk op vaccinatie, inclusief het principe van "*reverse vaccinology*". De doelstellingen van deze doctoraatsthesis worden gegeven in hoofdstuk 2 en de drie uitgevoerde experimentele studies worden besproken in hoofdstuk 3. Tenslotte worden in de algemene discussie (hoofdstuk 4) de voornaamste bevindingen bediscussieerd en worden suggesties gegeven voor verder onderzoek.

In de eerste experimentele studie (hoofdstuk 3.1) werd de systemische en mucosale immuun respons bestudeerd bij biggen die op de leeftijd van 7 dagen eenmalig intramusculair gevaccineerd werden met een commercieel *M. hyopneumoniae* bacterin. De dieren werden geëuthanaseerd en daarna gelijkschouwd op de leeftijd van 30, 36 en 58 dagen. Immunologische testen werden uitgevoerd op het bloed, longspoelvocht, de long, bronchiale lymfeknopen en de milt van gevaccineerde dieren en niet gevaccineerde controle varkens. Het serum en het longspoelvocht werden getest op de aanwezigheid van antistoffen door middel van ELISA. Monomorfonucleaire cellen werden uit het perifeer bloed en de weefsels geïsoleerd om de aanwezigheid van T-cellen na te gaan door middel van flowcytometrie. Tevens werd door middel van ELISPot en ELISA de cytokineproductie door deze cellen onderzocht. Antistoffen tegen *M. hyopneumoniae* werden teruggevonden in het serum van de meeste gevaccineerde varkens op 30 dagen leeftijd. *M. hyopneumoniae* specifieke IgG, IgM en IgA konden gedetecteerd worden in het longspoelvocht van gevaccineerde dieren, maar niet bij de controledieren. Significant hogere aantallen IL-12-secreterende cellen werden bij

de gevaccineerde dieren aangetroffen in de longen op 58 dagen leeftijd, in vergelijking met de niet-gevaccineerde dieren (p<0.005). Het aantal IL-10-secreterende cellen in de bronchiale lymfeknopen was ook hoger bij de gevaccineerde groep op 58 dagen leeftijd (p<0.05). Na herstimulatie van de lymfocyten uit de bronchiale lymfeknopen en de longen, werden er significant hogere hoeveelheden IL-12 gesecreteerd bij de gevaccineerde dieren van 58 dagen oud. Deze resultaten tonen aan dat het vaccin zowel een systemische als een mucosale cellulaire en humorale immuunrespons induceert.

In de studie beschreven in hoofdstuk 3.2 werd een multi-antigen chimeer met drie adhesines van M. hyopneumoniae (R1, P42 en NrdF) en het LTB geconstrueerd. Het LTB fungeerde als mucosaal adjuvans. De antigene en immunogene eigenschappen werden zowel bij muizen als bij varkens onderzocht. Bovendien werd het gelijktijdig toedienen van de afzonderlijke adhesines vergeleken met het toedienen als multi-antigen chimeer. Het chimeereiwit werd geconstrueerd en tot expressie gebracht in E. coli. Antistoffen gericht tegen elke subunit herkenden het chimeer-eiwit, wat de antigene eigenschappen van dit eiwit aantoont. Intranasale en intramusculaire immunisatie van muizen met het chimeer-eiwit deed het aantal IgG en IgA-antistoffen in respectievelijk het serum en longspoelvocht significant toenemen. Muizen die geïmmuniseerd werden met het chimeer-eiwit vertoonden significant hogere concentraties IgG- en IgA-antistoffen gericht tegen rP42 dan in het pre-immunisatieserum (p<0,05), zowel na intramusculaire als na intranasale immunisatie. Varkens die geïmmuniseerd werden met het chimeer-eiwit bouwden antistoffen op tegen alle M. hyopneumoniae antigenen aanwezig in het chimeer-eiwit. Dieren die geïmmuniseerd werden met het multi-antigen chimeer vertoonden de hoogste immuunrespons. Dit kan er op duiden dat een dergelijk multi-antigen chimeer een bruikbaar vaccin zou kunnen zijn. Verdere studies waarbij gevaccineerde varkens experimenteel besmet worden met M. hyopneumoniae zijn evenwel noodzakelijk om dit te bevestigen.

De volledige genoom-sequenties van vier *M. hyopneumoniae*-stammen zijn beschikbaar. Dit maakt het mogelijk om "*reverse vaccinology*" toe te passen voor de ontwikkeling van recombinante subunit vaccins. In de derde studie (hoofdstuk 3.3) werden 17 genen die coderen voor transmembranaire proteïnen van *M. hyopneumoniae*, gekloond. Van deze 17 genen werden er zes succesvol tot expressie gebracht in *E. coli*. De immunogene en antigene eigenschappen van de aldus tot expressie gebrachte eiwitten werden onderzocht. Alle eiwitten vertoonden immunogene eigenschappen bij muizen en serum van natuurlijk geïnfecteerde varkens reageerde met de recombinante proteïnen. Dit suggereert dat deze proteïnen tot expressie worden gebracht tijdens een *M. hyopneumoniae* infectie. Deze antigenen kunnen een bijdrage leveren tot de ontwikkeling van nieuwe recombinante vaccins tegen EP en diagnostische testen voor de detectie van deze ziekte.

Als conclusie kan gesteld worden dat intramusculaire vaccinatie met een commercieel beschikbaar geïnactiveerd vaccin op basis van *M. hyopneumoniae* kiemen zowel een systemische als lokale immuunrespons uitlokt. Er werd ook aangetoond dat een chimeer vaccin bestaande uit een fusieproteïne van drie *M. hyopneumoniae* adhesines en het mucosaal adjuvans LTB, een immuun respons induceert tegenover deze drie adhesines. Dit kan er op duiden dat deze benadering nuttig kan zijn voor ontwikkeling van nieuwe vaccins. Ook recombinant tot expressie gebrachte transmembranaire proteïnen van *M. hyopneumoniae* waren immunogeen. De stabiliteit van chimere vaccins dient nog nader onderzocht te worden en hun doeltreffendheid moet nagegaan worden door middel van infectieproeven bij varkens. Verder onderzoek is ook nodig om betere inzichten te verkrijgen in de rol die de immuunrespons van de gastheer speelt in het verkrijgen van bescherming enerzijds en het induceren van letsels anderzijds.
Curriculum Vitae

Silvana Beutinger Marchioro was born on June 28th 1983, in Ijuí, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil. She finished her secondary studies in 2000 in the Evangelical College Augusto Pestana. She graduated in Veterinary Medicine at the Federal University of Santa Maria, in January 2007.

Her interest in research led her to start a master thesis in March of 2007 in the Biotechnology program of Federal University of Pelotas, obtaining her Master in Sciences degree in October of 2008. It was during this period that she started her research on *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. In November 2008, she started a PhD program in the same Faculty, working on the same subject. In 2011, she was awarded with a scholarship from the CAPES Foundation, an agency under the Ministry of Education of Brazil, in order to conduct research on *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* as a Visiting Graduate Student at the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine at Ghent University (Belgium), for a period of one year. In 2012, she worked on a project for a joint PhD of the Special Research Fund (BOF) of Ghent University (scholarship's code 01SF0611). The research at Ghent University took place at the Department of Pathology, Bacteriology and Aviandiseases and at the Department of Reproduction, Obstetrics and Herd Health.

Silvana is author and co-author of several studies published in international peer reviewed journals. Her experimental work has been presented in different national and international congresses.

Bibliography

Publications in national and international journals

Costa, M.M., Silva, M.S., Spricigo, D.A., Witt, N.M., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Kolling, L., Vargas, A.C., 2006. Caracterização epidemiológica, molecular e perfil de resistência aos antimicrobianos de *Escherichia coli* isoladas de criatórios suínos do sul do Brasil. Pesquisa Veterinária Brasileira, 26, 5-8.

Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Galli, V., Luerce, T.D., Hartwing, D.D., Moreira, A.N., Dellagostin, O.A., 2009. Efficient site-directed mutagenesis using an overlap extension-PCR method for expressing *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* genes in *Escherichia coli*. Journal of Microbiological Methods, 79, 101-105.

Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Galli, V., Hartwing, D.D.; Carlessi, R.M., Munari, F.M., Laurino, J.P., Conceição, F.R., Dellagostin, O.A., 2010. Cloning and purification of recombinant proteins of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* expressed in *Escherichia coli*. Protein Expression and Purification, 69, 132-136.

<u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Simionatto, S., Galli, V, Conceição, F.R., Brum, C.B., Fisch, A., Gomes, C. K., Dellagostin, O.A., 2012. Production and characterization of recombinant transmembrane proteins from *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Veterinary Microbiology, 155, 44-52.

Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Galli, V., Brum, C.B., Klein, C.S., Rebelatto, R., Silva, E.F., Borsuk, S., Conceição, F.R., Dellagostin, O.A., 2012. Immunological characterization of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* recombinant proteins. Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, 35, 209-216.

Vranckx, K., Maes, D., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Villarreal, I., Chiers, K., Pasmans, F., Haesebrouck, F., 2012. Vaccination reduces macrophage infiltration in bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue in pigs infected with a highly virulent *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strain. BMC Veterinary Research, 8, 1-15.

Galli, V., Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Fisch, A., Gomes, C.K., Conceição, F.R., Dellagostin, O.A., 2012. Immunisation of mice with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* antigens P37, P42, P46 and P95 delivered as recombinant subunit or DNA vaccines. Vaccine, 31, 135-140.

<u>Marchioro S.B.</u>, Maes D., Flahou B., Pasmans F., Del Pozo Sacristán R., Vranckx K., Melkebeek V., Cox E., Wuyts N., Haesebrouck, F., 2013. Local and systemic immune responses in pigs intramuscularly injected with an inactivated *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* vaccine. Vaccine, 31, 1305-1311.

Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Maes D., Dellagostin, O.A., 2013. *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*: from disease to vaccine development. Veterinary Microbiology, accepted

Del Pozo Sacristán R., Sierens, A., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Vangroenweghe, F., Jourquin, J., Labarque, G., Haesebrouck, F., Maes D. 2013. Efficacy of early *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* vaccination against mixed respiratory disease in older fattening pigs. Veterinary Record, submitted.

<u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Fisch, A., Gomes, C.K., Maes D., Dellagostin, O.A., Conceição, F.R. 2013. Immune response induced by a recombinant chimeric protein containing *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* antigens fused to the B subunit of *Escherichia coli* heat labile enterotoxin LTB. Clinical and Vaccine Immunology, submitted.

Abstracts on national and international meetings

<u>Marchioro S.B.</u>, Maes D., Flahou B., Pasmans F., Del Pozo Sacristán R., Vranckx K., Melkebeek V., Cox E., Wuyts N., Haesebrouck, F., 2013. Local and systemic immune responses in pigs intramuscularly injected with an inactivated *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* vaccine In: 5th European Symposium of Porcine Health Management, 2013, Edinburgh, Scotland.

Vranckx, K., Maes, D., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Villarreal, I., Chiers, K., Pasmans, F., Haesebrouck, F. (2012) Comparison of lung samples from pigs vaccinated and challenged with a low and highly virulent *M. hyopneumoniae* strain In: 22nd Pig Veterinary Society Congress, 2012, Jeju, South Korea.

<u>Marchioro S.B.</u>, Maes D., Melkebeek V., Pasmans F., Del Pozo Sacristán R., Cox E., Flahou B., Haesebrouck, F. (2012) Evaluation of cytokine production after vaccination with an inactivated *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* vaccine In: 19th Congress of the International Organization for Micoplasmology, 2012, Toulouse, France.

Vranckx, K., Maes, D., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Villarreal, I., Chiers, K., Pasmans, F., Haesebrouck, F. (2012) Vaccination reduces macrophage infiltration in bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue in pigs infected with a highly virulent *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* strain In: 4th European Simposium Porcine Health Management, 2012, Bruges, Belgium

Vranckx, K., Maes, D., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Del Pozo Sacristán R., Pasmans, F., Haesebrouck, F. (2011) MLVA- testing to study diversity of Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae in pig herds In: European Mycoplasma Meeting, 2011, Weybridge, UK

Gomes, C.K., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Galli, V, Fisch, A., Conceição, F.R., Dellagostin, O.A. (2010) Avaliação da imunogenicidade de fusões de antígenos de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* com a subunidade B da enterotoxina termolábil de *Escherichia coli* (LTB) In: XIX Congresso de Iniciação Científica da UFPel, 2010, Pelotas.

Colloneti, K., Felix, S.R., Diniz, J.A., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, da Silva, E.F., Dellagostin, O.A. (2010) Efeito adjuvante da bacterina de *Leptospira interrogans* coadministrada a uma proteina recombinante de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* In: XIX Congresso de Iniciação Científica da UFPel, 2010, Pelotas.

Fisch, A., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Gomes, C.K., Galli, V, Dellagostin, O.A., Conceição, F.R. (2010) Produção e caracterização de uma quimera de antígenos de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* In: XIX Congresso de Iniciação Científica da UFPel, 2010, Pelotas.

Stark, C., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Jorge, S., Dellagostin, O.A., Conceição, F.R. (2010) Resposta imune humoral induzida por uma quimera de antígenos de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* em

suínos In: XIX Congresso de Iniciação Científica da UFPel, 2010, Pelotas.

Galli, V, Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Mendonça, M., Fisch, A., Gomes, C.K., Conceição, F.R., Dellagostin, O.A. (2010) Vacinas de DNA contra a Pneumonia Enzoótica Suína In: XIX Congresso de Iniciação Científica e XII ENPOS da UFPel, 2010, Pelotas.

Galli, V, Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Dellagostin, O.A. (2009) Antigenicidade de proteínas secretadas de *M. hyopneumoniae*. In: XVIII Congresso de Iniciação Científica e XI ENPOS da UFPel, 2009, Pelotas.

Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Galli, V, Klein, C.S., Panzardi, A., Barcellos, D., Dellagostin, O.A. (2009) Caracterização de proteínas recombinantes de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* com potencial para uso em imunodiagnóstico In: XIV Congresso da ABRAVES, 2009, Uberlândia-MG.

Gomes, C.K., Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Galli, V., Fisch, A., Dellagostin, O.A. (2009) Clonagem e purificação da proteina recombinante MHP0198 de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* expressa em *Escherichia coli*. In: XVIII Congresso de Iniciação Científica da UFPel, 2009, Pelotas.

<u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Simionatto, S., Galli, V., Fisch, A., Gomes, C.K., Grasmann, A.A., Dellagostin, O.A., Conceição, F.R. (2009) Construção de proteínas quiméricas visando o desenvolvimento de uma vacina recombinante contra Pneumonia Enzoótica Suína In: XIV Congresso da ABRAVES, 2009, Uberlância- MG.

Fisch, A., Gomes, C.K., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Galli, V., Simionatto, S., Jorge, S., Stark, C., Dellagostin, O.A., Conceição, F.R. (2009) Ocorrência de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* nas fêmeas suínas do complexo agropecuário da Palma Pelotas/RS. In: XVIII Congresso de Iniciação Cinetífica da UFPel, 2009, Pelotas.

Gomes, C.K., Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Galli, V, Fisch, A., Dellagostin, O.A., (2009) Avaliação em camundongos da imunogenicidade de cinco antígenos recombinante de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* In: XVIII Congresso de Iniciação Científica da UFPel, 2009, Pelotas.

Fisch, A., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Galli, V., Simionatto, S., Gomes, C.K., Dellagostin, O.A., Conceição, F.R. (2009) Design de um gene sintético para expressão de uma quimera de antígenos de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* In: XVIII Congresso de Iniciação Científica da UFPel, 2009, Pelotas.

Pagliarini R.L., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Simionatto, S., Galli, V., Brum, C.B., Panzardi, A., Dellagostin, O.A. (2008) Avaliação antigênica de proteínas transmembrana de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* através da técnica de Western blot. In: XX Salão de iniciação Científica da UFRGS, 2008, Porto Alegre.

Galli, V., Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Pagliarini R.L., Panzardi, A., Klein, C.S., Rebelatto, R., Dellagostin, O.A. (2008) Avaliação da antigenicidade de lipoproteínas recombinantes de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. In: XVI Congresso de Iniciação Científica da UFPel, 2008, Pelotas.

Brum, C.B., Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Galli, V., Pagliarini R.L., Dellagostin, O.A. (2008) Avaliação da imunogenicidade de proteínas recombinantes de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* através da técnica de ELISA indireto. In: XVI Congresso de Iniciação

Científica da UFPel., 2008, Pelotas.

Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Galli, V, Pagliarini R.L., Klein, C.S., Rebelatto, R., Dellagostin, O.A. (2008) Avaliação da imunogenicidade de proteínas recombinantes de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* visando o desenvolvimento de uma vacina de subunidade In: 35° Congresso Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinária, 2008, Gramado.

Pagliarini R.L., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Simionatto, S., Brum, C.B., Galli, V., Dellagostin, O.A. (2008) Imunogenicidade de proteínas transmembrana recombinantes de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. In: XVI Congresso de Iniciação Científica da UFPel, 2008, Pelotas.

Simionatto, S., Galli, V, <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Pagliarini R.L., Panzardi, A., Schuck, D.C., da Silva, E.F., Dellagostin, O.A. (2008) Produção de proteínas recombinantes de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* expressas em *Escherichia coli* e avaliação da antigenicidade In: 35° Congresso Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinária, 2008, Gramado.

Galli, V, Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Dellagostin, O.A. (2008) Produção de proteínas recombinantes de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* visando o desenvolvimento de uma vacina contra a Pneumonia Enzoótica Suína. In: XVI Congresso de Iniciação Científica da UFPel, 2008, Pelotas.

Pagliarini R.L., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Simionatto, S., Brum, C.B., Galli, V., Klein, C.S., Rebelatto, R., Dellagostin, O.A. (2008) Utilização de proteínas transmembrana de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* para sorodianóstico da Pneumonia Enzoótica Suína In: 35° Congresso Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinária, 2008, Gramado.

Galli, V., Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Luerce, T., Dellagostin, O.A. (2007) Avaliação da Imunogenecidade de Antígenos Recombinantes de *Mycplasma hyopneumoniae* In: XVI Congresso de Iniciação Científica e IX Encontro de Pós-Graduação, 2007, Pelotas.

Galli, V., Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Hartwig, D., Dellagostin, O.A. (2007) Clonagem, Expressão e Purificação de Proteínas Secretadas de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* In: XIX Salão de Iniciação Científica XVI Feira de Iniciação Científica II Salão UFRGS Jovem, 2007, Porto Alegre.

Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Galli, V., Pohl, P.C., Hartwig, D., Luerce, T., Dellagostin, O.A. (2007) Clonagem, Purificação e Caracterização Imunológica de Antígenos Recombinantes de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* In: 24° Congresso Brasileiro de Microbiologia, 2007, Brasília.

Galli, V., Simionatto, S., Hartwig, D., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Dellagostin, O.A. (2007) Seleção de Regiões Codificadoras de Proteínas Hipotéticas de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* e Clonagem em Vetores de Expressão em *Escherichia coli* In: 24º Congresso Brasileiro de Microbiologia, 2007, Brasília.

Galli, V., Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Hartwig, D., Kanno, A., Dellagostin, O.A. (2007) Clonagem, expressão e purificação de Lipoproteínas de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* em *Escherichia coli*. In: XVI Congresso de Iniciação Científica e IX Encontro de Pós-Graduação, 2007, Pelotas.

<u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Simionatto, S., Hartwig, D., Galli, V., Dellagostin, O.A. (2007) Clonagem, expressão e purificação de proteínas trasmembrana de *M. hyopneumoniae* visando o desenvolvimento de uma vacina recombinante In: 13° Congresso da ABRAVES Associação

Brasileira de Veterinários Especialistas em Suínos, 2007, Florianópolis.

Simionatto, S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Hartwig, D., Luerce, T., Galli, V., Dellagostin, O.A. (2007) Desenvolvimento e avaliação de novas estratégias para o controle da pneumonia enzoótica suína In: 13º Congresso da ABRAVES Associação Brasileira de Veterinários Especialistas em Suínos, 2007, Florianópolis.

Simionatto, S., Luerce, T., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Quevedo, M., Dossa, R.G., Ribeiro, S.G., Dellagostin, O.A. (2006) Mutagênese sítio-dirigida visando a clonagem e expressão de genes de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* em *Escherichia coli* In: 52° Congresso Brasileiro de Genética, Foz do Iguaçu - PR.

Maboni, F., Kirinus, J.K., Witt, N.M., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Rosa, G.B., Vargas, A.C. (2006). Caracterização Molecular e Perfil de Sensibilidade aos Antimicrobianos de Isolados de *Escherichia coli* Obtidas em Criatórios Suínos da Região Sul do Brasil. In: 21^a Jornada Acadêmica Integrada, 2006, Santa Maria- RS.

Simionatto, S., Hartwig, D., Luerce, T., Pohl, P.C., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Dellagostin, O.A. (2006) Clonagem, Expressão e Purificação de Antígenos Recombinantes de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* In: XV Congresso de Iniciação Científica/ VIII Encontro de Pós-Graduação, 2006, Pelotas.

Rosa, G.B., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Viana, L., Krewer, C.C., Krewer, C.C., Vargas, A.C. (2006) Produção de Proteínas Recombinantes de *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* com Potencial para Utilização em Imunodiagnóstico e Vacinação In: 21^a Jornada Acadêmica Integrada, 2006, Santa Maria - RS.

<u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Farias, L.D.A., Viana, L., Krewer, C.C., Rosa, G.B., Vargas, A.C. (2006) Reatividade antigênica dos diferentes padrões de proteínas de superfície de *Campylobacter fetus* subespécie venerealis isolados de bovinos reprodutores In: 21^a Jornada Acadêmica Integrada, 2006, Santa Maria.

<u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Gasperin, B.G., Krewer, C.C., Krewer, C.C., Vargas, A.C. (2006) Relato de Caso de Pasteurelose Pulmonar Ovina In: XVII Congresso Estadual de Medicina Veterináris, 2006, Gramado.

Guedes, D.S., Krewer, C.C., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Krewer, C.C., Segala, S.L, Vargas, A.C. (2006) Resposta a uma Vacina Autógena Contra Adenite Equina In: 21^a Jornada Acadêmica Integrada, 2006, Santa Maria.

Kirinus, J.K., Groff, A.C.M., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Arantes, L.P., Oliveira, T.G., Vargas, A.C. (2005) Padronização da Técnica de PCR para Diagnóstico da Infecção Por Campylobacter fetus em Bovinos In: XX Jornada Acadêmica Integrada/ UFSM, Santa Maria.

<u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Gasperin, B.G., Krewer, C.C., Hentscheke, L., Oliveira, J.M.G, Vargas, A.C. (2005) Relato de Caso: Pasteurelose Pulmonar Ovina In: XX Jornada Acadêmica Integrada/ UFSM, Santa Maria.

Cidade, R.B., <u>Marchioro, S.B</u>., Kirinus, J.K., Pelegrini L.F., Silva, G.F., Silva, S.F. (2004). Aspectos Microbiológicos na Sala de Desossa de um Frigorífico de Santa Maria- RS In: XIX Jornada Acadêmica Integrada/UFSM, Santa Maria.

<u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Silva, M.S., Rodrigues, D., Spricigo, D.A., Groff, A.C.M., Vargas, A.C. (2004) Clonagem e Expressão do Gene da Proteína de Superfície (SAP) do *Campylobacter*

fetus para Utilização no Diagnostico e Controle da Campilobacteriose Bovina- Dados Preliminares In: Jornada Acadêmica Integrada/UFSM, Santa Maria.

Pretto, A.N., Petrucci, H.G., Vargas, A.C., Witt, N.M., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Rodrigues, D. (2004) Comparação e Avaliação do Efeito Antimicrobiano "In Vitro" do Extrato Alcoolico de Própolis de Apis mellifera e Tetragonisca angustula In: XIX Jornada Acadêmica de Medicina Veterinária/ UFSM, Santa Maria.

Sampaio, D.G., Martins, D.B., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Vargas, A.C., Mallmann, C.A., Flores, E.F. (2004) Análise quantitativa da contaminação bacteriana no bucal de bombas de chimarrão In: XVI Congresso Estadual de Medicina Veterinaria, 2004, Passo Fundo RS.

Marchioro, S.B., Kirinus, J.K., Silva, M.S., Silva, G.F., Metz, P., Witt, N.M., Silva, S.F., Pellegrini, L.F., Vargas, A.C. (2004) Avaliação dos Aspectos Microbiológicos na Sala de Desossa de um Frígorifico de Santa Maria - RS In: XVI Congresso Estadual de Medicina Veterinária, 2004, Passo Fundo- RS.

Silva, M.S., Vargas, A.C., Costa, M.M., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Spricigo, D.A., Krewer, C.C. Clonagem e Expressão em *Escherichia coli* do Gene Vap A de *Rhodococcus equi* In: XVI Congresso Estadual de Medicina Veterinária, 2004, Passo Fundo- RS.

Kolling, L., Vargas, A.C., Costa, M.M., Almeida, E.R., Santos, L.F.B., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Kirinus, J.K., Buzato, A.M., Favero, J.G.T., Bortolotto, E.B. (2003) Enzilimp AS-500 (R). Estudo da atividade antimicrobiana e no tratamento dos dejetos suínos In: II Congresso Intercursos do Centro de Ciências Sociais Aplicadas/ V Seminário de Iniciação Científica, 2003, Xanxerê.

Groff, A.C.M., Vargas, A.C., Spricigo, D.A., Silva, M.S., <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Mattner, T.G. (2003) Perfil Eletroforético de Proteínas de Superfície em Campylobacter fetus subespécie venerealis de Bovinos no Brasil In: XVIII Jornada Acadêmica Integrada/ UFSM, Santa Maria.

Marchioro, S.B., Vargas, A.C., Spricigo, D.A., Silva, M.S. (2003) Pesquisa de Fatores de Virulência Através da PCR (Reação em Cadeia da Polimerase) em Amostras Clínicas de *Escherichia coli* Isoladas de Suínos In: XVIII Jornada Acadêmica Integrada/ UFSM, Santa Maria.

Spricigo, D.A., Vargas, A.C., Muller, A., Zeni, D., Witt, N.M., <u>Marchioro, S.B</u>. (2003) Utilização da Técnica de PCR Multiplex para Caracterização Molecular de Isolados de *Rhodococcus equi* Obtidos de Haras da Região de Bagé RS, Brasil In: XVIII Jornada Acadêmica Integrada/ UFSM, Santa Maria.

Silva, M.S. <u>Marchioro, S.B.</u>, Loguercio, A.P., Witt, N.M., Vargas, A.C. (2002) Agentes Infecciosos Mais Prevalentes em Mastite Bovina e Perfil de Sensibilidade aos Antimicrobianos Identificados pelo Laboratório de Bacteriologia da Universidade Federal de Santa Maria In: XVII Jornada Acadêmica Integrada/UFSMSanta Maria.

Acknowledgments

This PhD thesis would not have been possible without the guidance and the help of several people who in one way or another contributed and extended their valuable assistance in the preparation and completion of all this work. This space is dedicated to those who gave their contribution to this research that was performed. To all of them I leave here my sincere thanks

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisors:

Ao Prof. Odir Dellagostin, por me introduzir ao fantástico "mycoplasma world", por todo o seu suporte, confiança e oportunidades em mim depositadas e a mim apresentadas. Ao Prof. Fabrício Conceição, pelas incasáveis discussões de resultados, pelo incentivo e motivação para continuar sempre: "depois da tempestade vem a bonança", não esquecerei! E espero poder contar sempre com o apoio e a experiência de vocês ao longo de minha caminhada científica. À vocês meu muito obrigada!

It is with immense gratitude that I acknowledge the support and help of my supervisors from the Ghent University. Prof. Dominiek Maes, for giving me the opportunity to have this important experience in my professional and personal life and for guiding me at the end of my doctorate, I am very grateful. Prof. Haesebrouck for all the knowledge and experience shared, his valuable advices, constructive criticism and his extensive discussions around my work, I am really thankful for it. It also would like to thank Prof. Pasmans for his support, help, suggestions and discussions in each new experiment, thanks a lot.

My acknowledgment for the members of my guidance committee: Prof. Cox and Dr. Tom Meyns, by their contribution on the write part of this thesis. The members of the examination committee, I would like to give acknowledgment for the efforts they have made: Prof. P. Deprez, Dr. C. Miry, Dr. W. Neirinck and Prof. P. Butaye.

I would like to acknowledge the financial support from the Brazilian agencies: CAPES and CNPq, the support from "Special Research Fund" (BOF) from Ghent University and Pfizer Animal Health for helping financing the studies of this thesis.

Também gostaria de agradecer a todos os funcionários e professores do Programa de Pós-graduação em Biotecnologia, que de uma forma ou de outra colaboraram na concretização desta tese e também na minha formação.

Aos meus queridos colegas e amigos, pelas trocas de experiências, conselhos, ajudas, mas principalmente pelos "happy hours" compartilhados, certamente estes anos de trabalho

seriam muito mais duros sem eles 🝚 . Certamente não poderia deixar de agradecer aqui a Prof. Simone Simionatto, por dividir comigo seus conhecimentos e experiência desde o princípio da nossa "parceria"! Si, muito obrigada por tudo!! Aos demais colegas do grupo Mycoplasma: Andressa, Charles, Clarice, Sérgio e Vanessa, agradeço a amizade e as incassáveis ajudas prestadas e desejo sempre muito sucesso para todos vocês!!

I owe my deepest gratitude to my colleagues and friends who welcomed me in Belgium:

Katleen, thanks a lot for all your support during these two years, I hope someday receive you and your family in Brazil to return a bit of all you did for me during these period in Belgium! I wish a way full of success and happiness for you, Wesley and Billie! Keep in touch!

Rubén, muchas gracias por compartir tu experiencia clínica y también por ayudarme en todos los experimentos con los cerdos! Gracias por intentar me ensenar a tener tanto gusto de trabajar con los cochinos, pero aun prefiero las bacterias ! Muchas gracias y mucha suerte con todo: tu residencia, tu doctorado y con los últimos experimentos. Te deseo que no necesites pesar muchos cerdos más!

Annelies and Luca: a lot of success for you two, in the residency and in your PhD and thanks a lot for all your help in my trials. I hope in the future, I will be attending your defence. Annelies, thank you for your Dutch help in the translation of the summary, infinite thanks for that!

Hanne: my gratitude for all your support in the lab and thanks a lot for sharing with me all your knowledge in Mycoplasma culture and isolation.

To all my colleagues and technician from the department of Reproduction and Bacteriology thanks a lot for all the interesting discussion in the journal clubs and in the lab. A lot of success to all of you in your future research. To my office colleagues, Caroline, Chen, Ghuangzi and Jungang: good luck with the Helicobacter research and with your PhD! I will be rooting for you guys!

Alfonso and Miguel: muchas gracias por las buenas horas compartidas en el restaurante de la facultad y en las cervezas de los viernes. Alfonso, te deseo mucha suerte con tu familia y con los peques, espero que incluso de lejos pueda seguir viéndolos crecer.

Miguel, no tengo palabras para agradecerte por todas las horas buenas que compartimos en estos dos años, por todo tu apoyo, paciencia y por dejar mis días grises con

más color (especialmente los domingos)! Acuérdate que este será tu año, y no te olvides que no es a veces, es SIEMPRE!

A Juliana e a Daniel, pela amizade e desta maneira me permitir matar um pouco da saudade do Brasil! También al grupo de españoles (incluyo aquí también los que no son españoles) con los que pude desconectar del trabajo y con los que disfruté de su compañía en saraos, barbacoas y eventos varios. Gracias por esos momentos y por mantener una actitud tan positiva ante la vida.

Por fim, mas não menos importante, agradeço a minha família, meus pais, irmãos, cunhadas e meus queridos sobrinhos, que mesmo de tão longe e mesmo sem entender muito bem o porquê de tanta ausência, me deram suporte para continuar e chegar ao fim deste meu objetivo. Essa conquista também é um pouco de vocês! Muito obrigada por tudo, mas principalmente por me ensinarem a ser forte e a lutar sempre. Amo vocês!

Lastly, I offer my gratitude to all of those whose names I may have not recalled, but who have supported me in any respect during the completion of this thesis.

Muito obrigada!!

Silvana